

EVALUATION OF A CELLULAR MODEL FOR ASSESSING CYTOPROTECTION BY NATURAL CHEMICALS

Maha Jalal Hashim, BSc., MSc.

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2013

Abstract

There is considerable interest in the ability of plant-derived antioxidants to protect against oxidative damage associated with disease or exposure to toxic agents. In this study, the cytoprotection effect of the direct antioxidants quercetin (Q) and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) and the indirect antioxidants, sulforaphane (SF) and indole-3-carbinol (I3C) was assessed in a cellular protection assay. This assay involved two cytoprotection patterns: (a) 20-hour exposure to phytochemical followed by 5-hour exposure to t-BHP; (b) simultaneous exposure to phytochemicals and t-BHP for 5 hours. HepG2 cells were cultured to a confluent monolayer and exposed to phytochemical +/- t-BHP in serum-containing or serumfree medium, after which cell damage mediated by oxidant stress was assessed by neutral red uptake. Results showed that Q, EGCG and I3C were effective while SF was inactive and toxic to the cells by itself at high concentration during long incubation. On the other hand, short time of incubation with Q, EGCG and SF displayed identical results to prolonged exposure. However, I3C was devoid of protection activity. Moreover, results showed that serum has a major impact on antioxidant activity.

The toxicity effects of t-BHP on HepG2 cells in the presence and/or absence of phytochemicals was evaluated. This assay included exposure of HepG2 cells to phytochemicals for 20 hours prior exposure to different concentrations of t-BHP for 5 hours. Results indicated that full cytoprotection was provided by Q and EGCG while partial protection was displayed by I3C and SFN. On the other hand, results showed complete cell death to have occurred at 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP after 5 hours of incubation with oxidant/ in the absence of phytochemicals. Additionally, presence of serum reduces the toxic effect of t-BHP effects. The possible mechanism of the toxicity of t-BHP on HepG2 was studied to ascertain if t-BHP

ii

initiated apoptosis in HepG2 cells, through determination of activated caspase by different techniques. Basically, HepG2 cells were exposed to +/- 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for specific times. Results showed no strong evidence for apoptosis although caspase-3 activity increased significantly ($p \le 0.05$) in treated HpG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes. Similarly, significant increases in ROS and lipid peroxidation in treated HepG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP ($p \le 0.05$ and 0.01 respectively) at 150 minutes were obtained. Moreover, a (non-significant) decline in GSH amount was reported.

Treatment of the cells with Q and I3C under the conditions used in the cytoprotection study prevented the weak activation of caspase-3 identified by western blot.

The possible mechanism (s) of protective properties of the phytochemicals in induction of phase II detoxifying enzymes was studied by use of an intact-cell assay of quinone reductase based upon duroquinone-mediated reduction of ferricyanide. However, studies demonstrated that Q and EGCG themselves acted as intermediate electron donor in the assay, and so interfered with the assay; I3C and SFN did not share this property.

In conclusion, the work presented in the thesis has indicated that the four selected compounds possess cytoprotection effect against oxidative stress induced by t-BHP under particular conditions, and has provided further insights into mechanism of toxicity of t-BHP.

iii

Dedication

To my dear parents and husband

maha

Acknowledgment

With the last lines of writing, I really would like to acknowledge The University of Nottingham and School of Biomedical Sciences in the United Kingdom for all scientific support.

It is my pleasure to bow with all respect for my main supervisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jeffrey Fry for all guidance, assistance and patience during my study at The University of Nottingham, UK. I am also grateful to my co-supervisor, Dr. Margaret Pratten, The University of Nottingham, UK for her supervision. I would like to thank Mr. Garry Clarke, Mr. Liaque Latif, my colleagues in study Samia Hassan, Mouhamed Alsaqati, Hamad Aljabri, and Hani Almukhtar at School of Biomedical Sciences in the University of Nottingham/ UK for their help, technical assistance and other needed laboratory works throughout the project.

I am grateful to my merciful father, kindhearted mother who have full with hope to see me successful person, and my husband Adel for his patience and understanding my wishes to study, with apologize for leaving them alone in these hard times in Iraq.

Many thanks to all friends in Iraq and UK for supporting me during study.

Special thanks



All words in the world are not enough to thank my mother and father, the judge,Mr. Jalal Hashim Mohammed Tabana who have funded my PhD study with all living cost while I am in the United Kingdom for four years.

Thanks Mama & Baba Maha

Contents

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iv
Acknowledgment	v
Special thanks	vi
Contents	vii
List of abbreviation	xii
List of figures	xiv
List of tables	xvii
Appendix	xviii

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Cytoprotection	2
1.1.1 Antioxidants	5
1.1.1.1 Quercetin (Q)	7
1.1.1.2 Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG)	10
1.1.1.3 Indole-3-carbinol (I3C)	15
1.1.1.4 Sulforaphane (SFN)	17
1.1.2 Assays of Antioxidant Activity	20
1.2 Cytotoxicity and cell death	21
1.2.1 tert-Butyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP)	28
1.2.2 Free radical species generation	31
1.2.3 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	35
1.2.4 Lipid peroxidation	36
1.2.5 Oxidative stress	40
1.2.6 Apoptosis: programmed cell death	40
1.2.6.1 Apoptosis pathways	43
1.2.7 Endogenous antioxidant system	47

1.2.7.1 NAD(P)H:Quinone reductase 1	49
1.2.7.2 Glutathione	51
1.2.8 Aims of objective	52

Chapter 2: Phytochemical properties: Direct and indirect antioxidants

2.1 Introduction	55
2.2 Materials and methods	56
2.2.1 DPPH free radical scavenging assay	56
2.3 Results	57
2.3.1 Scavenging of 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals.	57
2.4 Discussion	59
2.5 Conclusion	60

Chapter 3: Cytoprotection activity of phytochemicals

3 Introduction	62
3.1 Materials and methods	64
3.1.1 Chemicals	64
3.1.2 HepG2 cells culture	64
3.1.3 Treatments	65
3.1.3.1 Direct cytoprotection	65
3.1.3.2 Indirect cytoprotection	65
3.1.3.3 Effect of serum	65

3.1.3.4 Neutral red assay	66
3.2 Statistical analysis	66
3.3 Results	67
3.3.1 Phytochemical mediated protection against tert-butyl	
hydroperoxide t-BHP induced cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells	67
3.3.2 Direct cytoprotection	67
3.3.3 Indirect cytoprotection	70
3.3.4 Effect of serum	72
3.3.5 Direct cytoprotection: effect of serum:	73
(a) Medium 2% serum	
(b) Serum-free medium	
3.3.6 Indirect cytoprotection: effect of serum	77
3.4 Discussion	80
3.5 Conclusion	83

Chapter 4: Mechanism of toxicity of t-BHP

4 Introduction	85
4.1 Materials and methods	87
4.1.2 Treatment of cells	87
4.1.3 Effect of phytochemicals on caspase-3 activation by t-BHP:	
western blot	88
4.1.4 Apoptosis: programmed cell death	88
4.1.4.1 Preparation of Cell lysate samples	88
4.1.4.2. Determination of protein level	89

4.1.5 in-Cell Western for Determination of Caspase-3 Activity	90
4.1.6 Immunocytochemistry	91
4.1.7 Determination of caspase activity	92
4.1.8 Determination of intracellular ROS production	93
4.1.9 Determination of cellular glutathione (GSH) content	94
4.1.10 Determination of lipid Peroxidation (LPO)	95
4.2 Results	96
4.2.1 Toxicity of tert-butyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP)	96
4.2.1.1 Incubation of HepG2 cells with phytochemicals, Q, EGCG,	
I3C, SFN using different concentration of tert-butyl hydroperoxide	
(t-BHP) in serum-free medium	96
4.2.1.2 Time dependence of t-BHP toxicity on HepG2 cells:	99
(a) In presence of 2% serum-containing medium	99
(b) In presence of serum-free medium	101
4.2.2 Detection of caspase-3 activation:	102

4.2.2 Detection of caspase-3 activation:	102
(a) With western blotting	102
(b) In-cell western	107
(c) Immunocytochemistry	110
4.2.2.1 Caspase activity	112
4.2.2.2 Effect of phytochemicals on t-BHP: western blot data:	115
(a) Direct cytoprotection	116
(b) Indirect cytoprotection	120
4.2.3 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	124
4.2.4 Glutathione (GSH)	126
4.2.5 Lipid Peroxidation (LPO)	129

4.3 Discussion	131
4.3.1 Toxicity effect of t-BHP	131
4.3.1.1 Effect of phytochemicals	131
4.3.1.2 Time dependence and effect of serum	132
4.3.2 Detection of caspase-3 activation	133
4.3.2.1 Caspase activity	134
4.3.2.2 Effect of Q and I3C on caspase-3 activation	134
4.3.3 Reactive oxygen species	136
4.3.4 Glutathione (GSH)	137
4.3.5 Lipid peroxidation	137
4.4 Conclusion	138

Chapter 5: Evaluation of a direct cellular assay for NQO1

References	161
Chapter6: General discussion	149
5.4 Conclusion	147
5.3 Discussion	146
5.2 Results	143
5.1.3 Treatment of cells	142
5.1.2 Chemicals	142
5.1 Materials and methods	142
5. Introduction	140

List of abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARE	Antioxidant response element
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl radical
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetra acetic acid
EC	Epicatechin
ECG	Epicatechin gallate
EGC	Epigallocatechin
EGCG	Epigallocatechin-3-gallate
FBS	Foetal bovine serum
50	Concentration of compound producing
EC ₅₀	50% effective effects
GPX	Glutathione peroxidase
GR	Glutathione reductase
GSH	Glutathione
GSSH	Oxidized glutathione
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogen peroxide
HepG2	Human hepatoma cell line
I3C	Indole-3-carbinol
KDa	Kilo Dalton
MEME	Minimum essential medium eagle
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase

NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide		
	(reduced)		
	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide		
NADPH	phosphate (reduced		
NQ01	Quinone reductase		
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline		
ROS	Reactive oxygen species		
SFN	Sulforaphane		
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate		
SOD	Superoxide dismutase		
TO	Toxic concentration for 50% of the		
IC ₅₀	population		
t-BHP	Tertiary-butyl hydroperoxide		
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor		
Q	Quercetin		

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Quercetin	10
Figure 1.2 Quercitrin	10
Figure 1.3 Protective effect of EGCG against UV radiation	13
Figure 1.4 Epicatechin (EC)	14
Figure 1.5 Epigallocatechin (EGC)	14
Figure 1.6 Epicatechin gallate	14
Figure 1.7 epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG)	14
Figure 1.8 indole-3-carbinol	17
Figure 1.9 Sulforaphane	19
Figure 1.10 Cell death pathways	27
Figure 1.11 Chemical structure of tert-butyl hydroperoxide	28
Figure 1.12, 1.13, and 1.14 Potential mechanism of cell death	
induced by t-BHP	29
Figure 1.15 Role of iron and antioxidant in Lipid peroxidation	
initiation and termination respectively	39
Figure 1.16 Mechanism of apoptotic Cell Removal	42
Figure 1.17 groups of caspases	44
Figure 1.18 Intrinsic and extrinsic pathways of apoptosis	46
Figure 1.19 Antioxidant defence system	49
Figure 2.1 Activities of Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN in scavenging free	
radicals	58
Figure 3.1 Direct cytoprotection	69
Figure 3.2 Indirect cytoprotection	71

Figure 3.3 Effect of serum concentration	72
Figure 3.4 Direct cytoprotection: Effect of serum (a) medium 2%	
serum	74
Figure 3.5 Direct cytoprotection: Effect of serum (a) serum-free	
Medium	76
Figure 3.6 Indirect cytoprotection: Effect of serum using serum-	
free medium	78
Figure 4.1 Effect of different concentration of t-BHP on cell	
viability in presence and/ or absence of phytochemicals	98
Figure 4.2 Effect of 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP on cell viability for	
different periods of time in medium containing 2% serum	100
Figure 4.3 Effect of 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP on cell viability for	
different periods of time in in serum-free medium	101
Figure 4.4 Effect of 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP on cell viability for 150	
minutes	103
Figure 4.5 Standard curve of protein	104
Figure 4.6 Western blot of caspase-3 activation in HepG2 cells	105
Figure 4.7 Quantitative analysis of procaspase-3 and active	
caspase-3 of untreated and treated Jurkat cells and untreated	
and treated HepG2 cells with 50 Mm of glucose for 72 hours and	
with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60, 90, and 120 minutes using	
medium 2% serum	106
Figure 4.8 in cell-western for untreated and treated HepG2 with	
0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60 and 120 minutes	108
Figure 4.9 Quantitative analysis of caspase-3 activity of untreated	
and treated HepG2 with t-BHP using in-cell western	109
Figure 4.10 immunocytochemistry for HepG2 cells	111

Figure 4.11 Standard curve of caspase activity	113
Figure 4.12 Determination of caspase activity in untreated and	
treated HepG2 cells with t-BHP	114
Figure 4.13 Effect of incubation of Q and t-BHP on viability of	
HepG2 cells for up to 150 minutes	117
Figure 4.14 Western blot of caspase-3 activation of treated	
HepG2 cells with Q and t-BHP.	118
Figure 4.15 Quantitative analysis of caspase-3 activation of	
treated HepG2 cells with Q and t-BHP	119
Figure 4.16 Effect of incubation of I3C and t-BHP on viability of	
HepG2 cells for up to 150 minutes	121
Figure 4.17 Western blot of caspase-3 activation of treated	
HepG2 cells with I3C and t-BHP	122
Figure 4.18 Quantitative analysis of caspase-3 activation of	
treated HepG2 cells with I3C and t-BHP	123
Figure 4.19 Determination of ROS in untreated and treated	
HepG2 cells with t-BHP	125
Figure 4.20 Standard curve of GSH	127
Figure 4.21 Determination of GSH in untreated and treated	
HepG2 cells with t-BHP	128
Figure 4.22 Determination of LPO in untreated and treated HepG2	
cells with t-BHP	130
Figure 5.1 Effect of NQO1 activity on ferricyanide	141
Figure 5.2 duroquinone structure	143
Figure 5.3 Effect of phytochemicals on NQO1 activity	145

List of tables

Table 3.1 EC ₅₀	79
----------------------------	----

	Table 3.2 TC ₅₀		80
--	----------------------------	--	----

Table 4.1 TC50 values for untreated and treated HepG2 cells with four	
chemicals Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN for 20 hours prior exposure to different	
concentration of t-BHP (0, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, and 0.8 mM) for 5 hours	
using serum-free medium	99

Appendix

Table conversion from μ g/ml to molarity

Q (MW= 338.26), SFN (MW=177.29), EGCG (MW=458.37), I3C (MW=147.17)

Concentration in	Molar concentration (mM)				
(µg/ml)	Q (mM)	I3C (mM)	EGCG (mM)	SFN (mM)	
2	-	-	-	0.15	
5	-	-	-	0.29	
10	-	-	-	0.57	
20	-	-	-	1.13	
25	0.075	1.7	0.5	-	
50	0.15	3.4	1.1	-	
75	0.23	5.1	1.65	-	
100	0.3	6.8	2.2	-	

Chapter 1

General introduction

Chapter 1

General introduction

The present study aimed to establish the use of a cellular protection assay in the screening of antioxidant behaviour of model phytochemicals which are known to act as direct and/or indirect antioxidants. The cellular protection assay is based on the protection of HepG2 cells against oxidative stress induced by tert-butyl hydroperoxide t-BHP (Alia et al. 2006b). These assays involved two cytoprotection patterns: (a) 20-hour exposure to phytochemical followed by 5-hour exposure to t-BHP; (b) 5-hour exposure to phytochemicals and t-BHP simultaneously. Moreover, we focused on the duration of treatment and the effect of presence or absence of serum on the antioxidant activity.

1.1 Cytoprotection

Cell metabolism constantly produces reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a natural by-product of the normal metabolism of oxygen during cellular requirements such as respiration (Wagner *et al.* 2006). This accrual is usually not a dominant phenomenon because cells are able to compensate and maintain an adequate homeostasis between ROS production and its removal via particular enzymatic pathways such as catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutases (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), and glutathione reductase (GR) or non-enzymatic endogenous antioxidant defence systems such as ascorbic acid, glutathione (GSH), and uric acid (Lawless *et al.* 2009; Lima *et al.* 2007; Mittal *et al.* 2001; Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006). On the other hand, if this balance is disturbed by an excessive accumulation of ROS (Jeong *et al.* 2005) due to environmental, life style and pathologic factors this results in a situation called oxidative stress (OS). There is increasing evidence that oxidative stress contributes to stress-related disorders and disease conditions such as cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, cardiovascular dysfunction and immunosuppression (Tiwari and Kakkar 2009). In consequence, this accumulation of ROS above the protection system of cells may damage the integrity and function of critical molecules; finally cell death can occur from this damage (Lima *et al.* 2007).

On the other hand, substances present in plants, known as phytochemicals, including polyphenols such as flavonoids and anthocyanins, provide resistance for plants against pathogens. The digestive system of humans and animals is robust enough to enable both of them over millions of years of evolution to get benefits from plants digestion (Gopalakrishnan and Tony Kong 2008). There is growing interest in identifying phytochemicals which possess chemopreventive effects. These effects include inibition of metabolic activation and DNA binding of carcinogens, stimulation of detoxification, DNA damage repair, and suppression of cell proliferation and angiogenesis (Surh 2008). In 2006, data reported 1,399,790 new cancer cases and approximately 565 Americans deaths from cancer are expected in the United States (Jemal et al. 2006). These data linked cancer and nutritional aspects, and reported that one-third of these deaths were related to poor nutrition, obesity and physical inactivity. Scientific evidence associating various cancers, such as those of breast (Stoll 1998), colon (Newmark et al. 2009) and prostate (Llaverias et al. 2010), with Western diet patterns including higher intake of fried food, red and processed meats and desserts, has increased recently. On the other hand, lower risk of cancers has been noted for a prudent dietary

pattern, including higher intake of cereals and whole grains, vegetables and fruits, which result in increased levels of minerals such as selenium, dietary fibres and antioxidants (Gopalakrishnan and Tony Kong 2008). Moreover, epidemiological studies have proposed a correlation between consumption of vegetables and fruits with lower incidence of cancer, believed to be due to presence of direct or indirect antioxidants (Lopaczynski and Zeisel 2001; Wagner et al. 2006; Wagner et al. 2010). This proposition suggests that antioxidants and other phytochemicals present in the diet may protect cells from ROS-mediated DNA damage, which otherwise can lead to mutation and subsequent carcinogenesis (Lopaczynski and Zeisel 2001), and so protect from cancer. These protections are either or both of direct (free radical scavenging) or indirect (up-regulation of cytoprotection proteins) actions. In different pathological situations, antioxidant properties from various sources of natural polyphenols proved beneficial activity through scavenging of free radical species and so preventing the occurrence of oxidative stress (Jimenez-Lopez and Cederbaum 2004). Therefore, antioxidant therapy has been introduced as a new therapeutic approach to directly scavenge the free radicals through a series of reactions or remove them indirectly in order to minimize ROS accumulation (Chang et al. 2009).

In 1970, the term "chemoprevention" was coined to describe the abilities of nontoxic chemical substances or their mixtures to reduce risk of malignancy in humans by interference with the development of neoplasia (Sporn *et al.* 1976). Tumour development includes initiation, promotion and/or progression stages. The initiation stage is classified as an irreversible process and includes several events: uptake of the carcinogenic agent such as chemical constituents of tobacco smoke (Adams *et al.* 1987), its distribution and subsequent transport to tissues or organs, where detoxification and or/metabolic activation process occurs. The latter generates reactive metabolites which react with critical cellular macromolecules (DNA) and cause genotoxic damage, so leading to genetic mutation. In promotion and progression stages, the initiated altered cell may undergo neoplastic transformation when genetic mutations are not repaired. The fundamental role of chemopreventive phytochemicals in initiation stages are blocking agents for carcinogenic chemicals and preventing them from reaching target sites and interacting with target cell DNA. On the other hand, chemopreventive phytochemicals have a different role in promotion and progression stages as agents suppressing the neoplastic transformation of altered cells (Surh 2008).

1.1.1 Antioxidants

Given the accumulating evidence for the beneficial effects of consumption of fresh vegetables and fruits, many attempts have been made to identify specific components in such foods that have ability to prevent or lower risk of cancer and other diseases. Plant-derived antioxidants appear to be major contributors as preventive agents (Agudo *et al.* 2007). Antioxidants are characterised by their ability to scavenge free radicals and other oxidative species (Wright *et al.* 2004) so they are considered as defenders to cells from ROS-mediated DNA damage, which otherwise can lead to mutation and successive carcinogenesis (Lopaczynski and Zeisel 2001). Therefore, they are recommended for cancer prevention according to the inverse dissociation of high antioxidant intake with low risk of cancer such as lung cancer (Wright *et al.* 2004).

Interestingly it has been found that nitrate, a natural compound of root and green vegetables, has no carcinogenic effects on humans but the ingested form of the nitrate can be reduced to nitrate endogenously, which can react with amines and amides in gastrointestinal tract through nitrosation and form *N*-nitroso compounds

which are considered as potent animal carcinogens (Bogovski and Bogovski 1981; Bruningfann and Kaneene 1993; Walker 1990). On the other hand, formation of Nnitroso compounds can be inhibited by antioxidant vitamins, in particular vitamin C and E (Correa 1988; Mirvish 1986) and thus the association of cancer risk with dietary nitrate intake can be prevented. Kim *et al.* (2007) have introduced the nitrate: antioxidant vitamins consumption ratio regarding to the risk of gastric cancer and reported that the intake of nitrate relative to antioxidant vitamins has more effect on gastric cancer than the absolute intake of nitrate. Moreover and according to the above, a suggestion has been made to lower the ratio of nitrate to antioxidant vitamins in order to reduce the incidence of gastric cancer instead of lowering the absolute nitrate intake or increase the intake of antioxidant vitamins which has been taken alone.

Several epidemiological studies around the world have shown a relationship between mortality and vegetables consumption (Agudo *et al.* 2007). In Greek population for example, intake of 230 g/day of vegetables and 200 g/day of fruits have been linked to lower mortality significantly by 12% and 18%, respectively (Krebs *et al.* 2004). Similarly in three communities in the United States, mortality are reduced with high consumption of vegetables and fruits in white and African American adults (Opas *et al.* 2004). In addition, mortality in British cohorts is inversely associated with significant increase of plasma ascorbic acid (Benlhabib *et al.* 2004; Palacios *et al.* 2004) in spite no differences in mortality having been reported in British populations of vegetarian and non-vegetarian people (Weidemann *et al.* 2004).

Evidence from literatures indicates that polyphenols participate as free radical scavengers (Di Meo *et al.* 2013; Visioli *et al.* 1998; Wagner *et al.* 2006) to prevent pro-oxidative states mediated by the formation of free radicals in various pathologies (Jimenez-Lopez and Cederbaum 2004), reducing agents as well as

antioxidant generators for vitamin E as an example (Wagner *et al.* 2006). Flavanols, the major poyphenolic components and considered a group of flavonoids, are widely distributed in many plant-derived foods and exist in free forms at high concentration of green tea, chocolates and other varieties of food (Lin and Harnly 2012). The consumption of food rich in these and other flavonoids compounds is thought to be effective in delaying or impeding development of neurodegenerative diseases in humans (Aruoma *et al.* 2003). Although many studies reported flavonoids as potent antioxidant, the exact mechanisms defining the protective effect are incompletely understood (Wagner *et al.* 2006). In addition, poor absorption and probable metabolism within the gastrointestinal tract for catechins keep arguments and discussion towards these compounds open (Jimenez-Lopez and Cederbaum 2004).

In this study we used four plant-derived chemicals chosen as examples of directand indirect-acting antioxidants. The four chemicals were: quercetin (Q); epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG); indol-3-carbinol (I3C); and sulforaphane (SF).

1.1.1.1 Quercetin (Q)

Epidemiological studies have shown a negative correlation between cancer occurrences and flavonoid intake (Gnoni *et al.* 2009), in particularly flavonols such as quercetin (=2-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-3,5,7-trihydroxy-4*H*-1-benzopyran-4-one) (Tan *et al.* 2009) (Fig. 1.1). Quercetin and its derivatives exhibit a wide range of biological activities (Hertog and Hollman 1996) including anti-inflammatory (Loke *et al.* 2008; Shimoda *et al.* 2008), anti-carcinogenic (Williamson *et al.* 1996) and antiviral actions (Fan *et al.* 2011). Moreover, it is regarded as one of the most abundant flavonoids and represents an integral part of human diet. High amounts

of quercetin are found in kale, onions, apples (Hertog et al. 1992) as well as in other vegetables, nuts, fruits, tea, seeds and wine (Alia et al. 2006b), with intakes of between 6 and 31 mg/day (Hertog 1995; Kim and Jang 2009). This active flavonoid compound offers a variety of potential therapeutic uses against different human pathologies, including cancer, inflammatory conditions and hypertention (Middleton et al. 2000). The protective role of quercetin may be attributed to its characterisation in possessing a dual effect as a direct and indirect antioxidant, acting through different mechanisms. The detoxification of H₂O₂ and scavenging the generated ROS are examples for mechanisms to reduce H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress. Attack of cells by hydroxyl radicals produced from reaction between ROS and transition metal ions such as copper and/or iron results in unavoidable cell damage but guercetin can stop this event by preventing the formation of ROS with those chelating transition metal ions (Kim and Jang 2009). Moreover, quercetin may act on the damaged antioxidant enzyme system of the cell and restore it, as with the endocrine disrupter Aroclor, it restored glutathione content and superoxide dismutase activity (Jeong et al. 2005). An additional mechanism and through antioxidant properties of quercetin, generated ROS can be less reactive and less cytopathogenic when it reacts with quercetin and formed oxidized quercetin which is less harmful, and the latter compound interacts With GSH to form 6glutathionylquercetin and 8-glutathionylquercetin and ultimately return the quercetin to the parent quercetin compound (Kim and Jang 2009).

Quercetin absorption in the intestine can be improved and increased from 24% to 52% when quercitrin (a rhamnose glycoside of quercetin) (Fig. 1.2) is administered. This improvement may be attributed to the physical and chemical properties of quercitrin provided by the sugar portion through binding to aglycone portion of quercetin (Wagner *et al.* 2006).

In malignant cells, chemoprevention by natural antioxidant treatment has been utilized, in particularly polyphenols such as quercetin, to induce apoptosis in cancer cells (Kaufmann and Earnshaw 2000; Ramos 2007) by direct activation of caspase cascade (mitochondrial pathway) such as caspase-3 and -9 as well as Bcl-2 family members (Granado-Serrano *et al.* 2008; Granado-Serrano *et al.* 2006). This kind of treatment has relied on the selective characterisation of an antioxidant, such that the same concentration of quercetin provoked apoptosis (Chowdhury *et al.* 2005) in leukemia (Shen *et al.* 2003), oral (Ong *et al.* 2004), breast (Singhal *et al.* 1995), colon (van Erk *et al.* 2005), lung (van Erk *et al.* 2005) and hepatoma (Chi *et al.* 2001) cancer cells but was without effect in their normal counterparts (Chowdhury *et al.* 2005).

It has recently been found that combination of quercetin with another antioxidant can be better in treatment than individual treatment by quercetin alone. For example, significant effect in all biochemical parameters has been reported when quercetin was combined with alpha-tocopherol. Together, they were able to prevent accumulation of glycoprotein and lipids in myocardial infarction in rats due to their potent anti-lipid peroxidation activities (Punithavathi and Prince 2009). Moreover, importance of co-treatment of antioxidants has also recorded for multicombinations of quercetin with green tea extract and folic acid to treat and prevent melanocyte oxidative stress related diseases such as vitiligo (Jeong *et al.* 2005).

With the increased life-span of the population, in recent years cancer has become one of the most common diseases in many countries and apoptosis is considered to be a promising strategy for treating tumour (see on later section). As a flavonoid, Q can induce apoptosis in cancer cells by down-regulation of suppressor Bcl2 of apoptosis (Tan *et al.* 2009).



Figure 1.1 Quercetin (Liu et al. 2010)



1.1.1.2 Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG)

Green tea (*Camellia sinesis*) is considered a popular drink in the world having originated from China and now spread all over the world over thousands of years. Its main constituents are vitamins, trace elements, and polyphenols, the latter are being considered to be the fundamental effective components (Guo *et al.* 1996) due to their antioxidant activities against diseases (Dufresne and Farnworth 2001; Higdon and Frei 2003; Rice-Evans 1999). EGCG can inhibit UVB-induced hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) production in human epidermal kerationcytes and attenuate the activation of MAPK signalling pathways resulting in decrease skin disorders (Fig. 1.3) (Katiyar *et al.* 2001).

Green tea polyphenols (GTP), typical flavonoids and commonly known as catechins (RiceEvans *et al.* 1996), are phenolic complex including: (-) epicatechin (EC) (Fig. 1.4), (-) epigallocatechin (EGC) (Fig. 1.5), (-) epicatechin gallate (ECG) (Fig. 1.6) and (-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) (Fig. 1.7) (Guo et al. 1996; Raza and John 2005). They are potent chemopreventive agents protecting against many types of cancer (Raza and John 2005) such as those induced by chemicals or radiation (Cao *et al.* 1996; Dreosti *et al.* 1997; Gensler *et al.* 1996), hepatic injury (Zhong *et al.* 2002), protect myocardium from injuries by ischemia-reperfusion, and protect cells from damage induced by free radicals (Guo *et al.* 1996).

Among all green tea constituents, EGCG, which accounts for about 50-60% of total catechin in green tea (Hu and Kitts 2001), is the main active ingredient due to its direct and indirect antioxidant effects in tumour growth suppression. These effects are mediated by different pathways including direct induction of apoptosis and arrest of the cell cycle (Gupta *et al.* 2003; Hastak *et al.* 2003) and indirect activation of anti-angiogenic and immune functions (Jung and Ellis 2001; Zhu *et al.* 1999). These effects are achieved in a selective manner by EGCG in cancer cells but not in normal cells (Chung *et al.* 2003; Gupta *et al.* 2004). Thus, EGCG may exert different toxic and/or beneficial effects in malignant and normal cells respectively through its modulation of signal cascades and regulation of cell cycle which may be diverse in both cell types mentioned. In addition, these differences in EGCG actions may also be attributed to the differences between antioxidant defense mechanism

in normal cells and mechanism of oxidative stress in cancer cells (Raza and John 2005). One of the suggested mechanisms for EGCG action in growth suppression in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is that of direct induction of apoptosis through activation of caspases-8,-9 and -3 by down-regulation of Bcl2-alpha through inhibition NF-Kb. Thus, EGCG treatment may be considered useful to improve the prognosis of advanced HCC (Nishikawa *et al.* 2006).

EGCG is involved in preventing the development of liver injury caused by alcohol through free radical scavenging (McDonough 2003). EGCG can be involved in protection of mitochondria against CYP2E1-dependent oxidative stress and prevent dysfunction or damage by stopping directly the effects of toxins on mitochondria membrane permeability transition (Jimenez-Lopez and Cederbaum 2004). Taken together the accessibility properties of EGCG and the direct free radicals scavenging capacity allow identifying it as a potent radical trapping agent in aqueous solution.

Consequently, chain-initiating radical propagation is reduced effectively. More findings have showed that radical scavenging activity would be more potent to scavenge 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals when EGCG combines with another antioxidant compound such as alpha-tocopherol (Hu and Kitts 2001).

The direct effect of EGCG have been observed in normal hepatic cells treated with a mixture of EGCG and ethanol where EGCG defends potentially against toxicity effect of ethanol and inhibits ethanol-induced apoptosis, oxygen radical formation, lactate dehydrogenase leakage, mitochondria dysfunction and peroxidation of lipids (Kaviarasan *et al.* 2007).



Figure 1.3 EGCG defence against UV radiation and prevent MAPK activation (adapted from (Katiyar *et al.* 2001).*Human epidermal keratinocyte



1.1.1.3 Indole-3-carbinol (I3C)

There is increasing evidence for the reverse correlation in consumption of diet rich in cruciferous vegetables such as cauliflower, broccoli and cabbage and incidence of diverse cancers such as breast, lung and colon (Bell *et al.* 2000). Decreased cancer risk during cruciferous intake is attributed in part to high content of glucosinolates which are broken down through hydrolysis catalysed by the plant enzyme myrosinase released during food preparation, producing isothiocyanates and indole products. (Verhoeven *et al.* 1997). Indole-3-carbinol (I3C) (Fig. 1.8) is a naturally occurring isothiocyanate metabolite identified in cruciferous vegetables family, in particularly *Brassica*, and released upon hydrolysis of glucobrassicin (Bradfield and Bjeldanes 1984). The first isolation from *Brassica oleracea* was in 1975 (Loub *et al.* 1975) and from that time I3C has emerged as a chemopreventive agent against a wide range of human cancers such as those of the breast, prostate, cervix and vulva (Bell *et al.* 2000).

Once I3C is exposed to acid environment of the stomach, because it is unstable in acidic medium (Kunimasa *et al.* 2010), it is converted into various derivatives of dimers, trimers, tetramers and oligomers through series of acid condensation reactions (Mcdanell *et al.* 1988) and the most famous derivatives that have been identified are 3,3'-diindolymethane (DMI) and indolo[3,2-b]carbazole (Cover *et al.* 1999). The most promising derivative that has emerged from the structural optimization of I3C recently is [1-(4-chloro-3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl)-1H-indol-3-yl]-methanol or called OSU-A9 (Weng *et al.* 2009)

OSU-A9 is considered a novel derivative because it provides considerable therapeutic advantage over the parent compound due to its greater metabolic

stability and antitumor efficacy. Although I3C is able to perturb Akt-NF-kappaB signalling mediated oncogenic signalling pathways, which is regarded as a fundamental role in pathogenesis and therapeutic resistance, its potency *in vivo* is limited and this may be attributed to different reasons, including limited bioavailability, low antitumour potency and complicated pharmacokinetic behaviours because of intrinsic metabolic instability. On the hand, it has been found that OSU-A9 is similar to I3C in blocking Akt-NF-kappaB signalling hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) but is 100 times more potent, which is expressed as enhanced ultimately as inhibition of cell cycle progression (Omar *et al.* 2009).

Although anticancer mechanisms of I3C are unclear to some extent, recent studies have suggested indirect antiangiogenic activity of I3C to prevent angiogenesis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC). I3C protection activity includes prevention of tube formation and induction of caspase-dependent apoptosis in tubeforming HUVEC through inactivation of ERK1/2 (Kunimasa et al. 2010). Moreover, it has been found that I3C can prevent or minimize the risk of carcinogenesis initiation through its involvement in modulation of drug metabolism. This participation includes inhibition of phase 1 enzyme cytochrome P450 activity (cyp1A) which is responsible for xenobiotic activation to a DNA-reactive product. Furthermore on the other side, I3C can activate phase 2 enzymes such as NAD(P)H:quinone reductase (QR) activity, which are linked to the conjugation of activated xenobiotic with endogenous ligands such as glutathione, glucuronic- or sulphuric-, to enhance their secretion as conjugated compounds and so result in damage prevention (Gerhauser et al. 2003). Additionally, I3C plays a role as therapeutic agent against lung cancer and this action relies on the effect of I3C to induce caspase-8 mediated apoptosis via the Fas death receptor and induce cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 through p-p53 activation (Choi et al. 2010).



Figure 1.8 indole-3-carbinol

1.1.1.4 Sulforaphane (SFN)

Sulforaphane (1-isothiocyanato-4-(methyl-sulfinyl)butane;CH₃-SO-(CH₂)₄-N=C=S) (Fig.9), is a naturally occurring member of the isothiocyanate family (ITC) of chemopreventive agents, has been demonstrated to possess the ability to suppress the growth of cancer cells in different tissues and to delay the appearance of tumors (Yanaka *et al.* 2005). It is derived from the corresponding glucosinolate and is available at high concentrations in many edible cruciferous vegetables including broccoli and broccoli sprouts (Choi *et al.* 2008; Fimognari and Hrelia 2007), ingestion of which are believed to reduce the risk of different kinds of malignancies and induced apoptosis in prostate cancer cells (Singh *et al.* 2005). SFN has emerged as promising chemopreventive agent in cancer treatment at low concentration \leq 50 µM (Choi *et al.* 2008) but it has induced apoptosis in normal cells when the concentration has been increased (Yeh and Yen 2005).

The molecular mechanism of SFN action on cancer cells has received particular attention due to the effect in prevention and/or delaying development of

preneoplastic cells. For example, SFN was capable of inducing apoptosis in human myeloid leukemia U937 cells through series of actions including effects on components of mitochondrial apoptotic pathway resulting in an increased level of ROS and this leading to loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. The apoptosis in human leukemic cells is initiated when apoptotic proteins such as cytochrome c are released into cytosol as a result of loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) and cause caspase cascades activation including caspase-9 and -3. The last activation for caspase-3 cause cleavage of specific substrates such as poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP), and eventually lead to apoptosis (Choi *et al.* 2008). A similar mitochondrial mechanism was reported for human prostate cancer cell treatment with SFN (Singh *et al.* 2005).

Physical exercise activities, particularly the moderate kind, are one of the essential components of lifestyle. The moderate exercises induce ROS generation in mild amounts which in turn cause an adaptation of antioxidant and repair systems and consequently decrease the incidence of ROS-associated diseases (Radak et al. 2001). On the other hand, an exhaustive and intensive exercise causes oxidative damage to muscle cells, as a sign of incomplete adaptation of antioxidant system, due to the generation of considerable amounts of ROS. Massive exercise has been demonstrated to increase thiobarbituric acid (TBARS) as oxidative stress marker, and induce oxidative protein damage, lipid peroxidation and glutathione oxidation, generation of which are attributed to high amounts of ROS (Meydani et al. 1993; Sastre et al. 1992). Acute exercise has provided an interesting oxidative stress model to study by scientists; so suggestions have been made made to prevent or minimize structural muscle damage through eliminating generation of those large amounts of ROS. It has been found that SFN plays a crucial role during exhaustive exercise protocols for rats and prevent or slow ongoing skeletal muscle damage by removing ROS amounts indirectly. The mechanism of action relies on the up-
regulation of phase II enzymes and enhancement of their activity, examples are glutathione-s-transferase (GST), glutathione reductase (GR) and NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1(NQO1) in muscle (Malaguti *et al.* 2009).

Anti-cancer agents such as TNF-alpha provide toxicity against tumors (Tomita et al. 1998; Watanabe et al. 1986) but they have side effects simultaneously. During treatment course, transcription of anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory genes can be induced by these agents in tumour cells themselves which give resistance towards therapeutic treatments (Beg and Baltimore 1996; Wang et al. 1999). Recent studies reported that apoptosis in leukemia cells that are normally resistant to TNF-alpha alone can be triggered through combination treatments with sub-toxic doses of SFN and TNF-alpha (Moon et al. 2009). For example, in prostate cancer cells (THP-1, HL60, U937 and K562) (Xu et al. 2005) apoptosis occurs through ROS-dependent caspase-3 activation and inhibition of TNF-alpha-induced NFkappaB activation through inhibition of IkBa degradation, IkBa phosphorylation and p65 nuclear translocation resulted in suppression of NF-kB-related genes including those linked to cell proliferation (cyclin D1, COX-2 and c-Myc), apoptosis (IAP-1, IAP-2, XIAP, Bcl-2 and Bcl-XI) and metastasis (VEGF and MMP-9) (Moon et al. 2009). SFN showed a potential neuroprotective role in parkinson's disease (PD) when it caused significant increases of total GSH level, NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase-1, GSH-transferase and reductase (Tarozzi et al. 2009).

Figure 1.9 Sulforaphane

1.1.2 Assays of Antioxidant Activity

Considerable attention has been paid for antioxidants in modern society due to their relevance to human health in preventing or slowing a wide variety of diseases by scavenging the free radicals that result from cell metabolism processes (Zafra-Stone et al. 2007). The name of 'free radical' was given for an atom or molecule having one or more unpaired electrons which are accountable for oxidative stress including degenerations and damages that are attributed to free radicals which might be eliminated by antioxidant supplementations (Marchioli et al. 2001). The most reliable method to assess the antioxidant activity (AA) is 2,2-diphenyl-1picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) spectrophotometric method (Sanna et al. 2012). This method is widely applied for AA assays especially for juices, vegetables, fruits and plant extracts (Magalhaes et al. 2008; Moon and Shibamoto 2009; Sanchez-Moreno 2002) and is based on the scavenging of the purple DPPH radical by the antioxidant, so converting the radical to a yellow species (Brandwilliams et al. 1995). The reaction described below involves transfer of a hydrogen (H) atom from the scavenger such as antioxidant to DPPH radical, forming DPPHH that appears as a yellow colour absorbing at 515 nm (Mishra et al. 2012)

In this work, we assessed the activity of Q, EGCG, I3C and SFN to scavenge DPPH radicals which gave further evidence to determine whether they are acting as direct antioxidants.

1.2 Cytotoxicity and cell death

In this study, one of our aims was to investigate the mechanism of cell death in HepG2 cells exposed to the oxidant tert-butyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP) under the conditions used in the cytoprotection assay, and entailed different investigations of apoptosis and its related biochemical reactions such as evaluation of glutathione content, lipid peroxidation, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and caspase-3 enzyme content and activity.

HepG2 cells are derived from a hepatocellular carcinoma, these carcinomas being the most common cancers in the world (Fukuda et al. 2002). HepG2 cells have been widely used as a model system of the human liver (Mateos et al. 2005). Although HepG2 cells are considered as cancer cells due to their ability in differentiation and dividing (Cui et al. 2007), they are valid model for application of drug testing such as the protective effects of phytochemicals against pro-oxidant effects (Jimenez-Lopez and Cederbaum 2004). This can be achieved by culturing cells in high density to allow them behave as closely as possible to those in vivo in regards to functionality, metabolism, and morphology (Provin et al. 2009). One of protective applications of phytochemicals in HepG2 cells can be observed by the protecting effect of quercetin where pre-treatment of HepG2 cells with 10 µM quercetin completely prevented the toxicity effect of t-BHP and prevented lactate dehydrogenase leakage (Alia et al. 2006b). Moreover, They are considered as a reliable model to study the mechanism of toxicity of the oxidant agents such as t-BHP (Piret et al. 2004) and proposed cell death pathways, such that HepG2 cells treated with t-BHP induced oxidative stress in HepG2 cells through induction of apoptotic cell death with reduction of glutathione content and glutathione reductase

activity (Kim et al. 1998). Moreover, the type of cell death, necrosis or apoptosis in response to hypoxia can be elucidated in HepG2 cells where calpains are involved in hypoxia-induced cell death that is likely to be necrotic (Kim *et al.* 2007).

Furthermore, HepG2 cells retain the ability to metabolise phytochemicals by similar routs as liver *in vivo* (Mateos et al. 2005; O'Leary et al. 2003; van der Woude et al. 2004), so that the exposure conditions for HepG2 cells will mimic the *in vivo* situation more closely than other cell lines which do not express xenobiotic metabolism capability. This, in turn, suggest that use of a HepG2 cell culture system for studying cytoprtection ability of phytochemicals will reflect the exposure conditions for a wide varity of cells *in vivo* which are exposed to phytochemicals in the blood following first-pass metabolism in the liver.

In our study, we cultured HepG2 cells in high density to be confluent and nondividing to allow the identification of antioxidant behaviour and establish the possible mechanism of toxicity of t-BHP.

Chemical toxic agents that cause cell death have been reported and general features of cytotoxicity have been described (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006; Zimmet *et al.* 2001). Such toxic agent range from glucose in high concentrations peroxides and heavy metals, and representative examples are described below.

In U-937 human promonocytic cells, treatment with low and high concentration of H_2O_2 caused cell death and displayed two different forms of oxidative stress, apoptosis and necrosis, through activation of caspase-9,and -3 and suppression the activation of caspases respectively (Troyano *et al.* 2003).

Damage of hepatic cell membranes induced by t-BHP is another picture of the deleterious oxidant effect where t-BHP decomposes and generates free radicals (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006) (see more on free radicals in section 1.2.2).

Scientists have classified mercury as a significant environmental toxicant and warned from the deleterious effect on human health in particular neurone systems in such that it can provoke neurotoxicity in humans and animals equally. In the mid-1950s in Japan, people died when they ate fish polluted with mercury because of river pollution as a result of industrial activities (Kondo 1996; Tsuda *et al.* 1997). Moreover, 1970s poisoning with mercury has been detected in Iraq as a result of using organomercury fungicide as insecticide in agriculture (Bakir *et al.* 1973) where Poisoning had resulted from consumption of home-baked bread prepared with flour from CH_3Hg^+ -treated seed grain (Sanfeliu *et al.* 2003).

A new toxicological phenomenon manifested in hyperglycemia and known as diabetes has become a major health issue around the world (Zimmet *et al.* 2001). Diabetes mellitus is classified as a chronic disease and is characterized by an increase in the level of glucose in blood higher than normal range due to impaired metabolism of glucose (Giugliano *et al.* 2008) leading to several abnormalities in the cellular pathways. The toxicity of glucose in human hepatoma HepG2 cells is represented by the high concentrations of glucose that induce apoptosis in liver cells through increased reactive oxygen species ROS generation which often plays a crucial role in cellular dysfunction and subsequently cell damage (Chandrasekaran *et al.* 2010).

Ozone depletion and global warming have played a crucial role in exposure to bombardment by irradiants of solar/cosmic origin such as nuclei of heavy elements and their decay products, neutrons, protons and ultraviolet radiation considerably and unfortunately 75% of that solar/cosmic irradiants can passes through the atmosphere without being absorbed or scattered and penetrate the ground and living organisms to be within of our environment (Chen *et al.* 1994; Chen *et al.* 2005; Chen and Mares 2008; Chen and Mares 2010; Chen *et al.* 2009; Ferrari and Szuszkiewicz 2009; Held 2009). Cosmic rays (CRs) are originally initiated in outer

space from supernova explosions and other stars, they are highly-energy charged partials and their damaging effect is greater than those of x-rays or gamma rays (Goldman 1982). The massive damaging effects of CRs are represented by the ability of CRs irradiants to penetrate the body and remove electrons from atoms or molecules leaving these molecules ionized (Muller 1955). human genes changings, mutation (Baumstark-Khan *et al.* 2003; Lau *et al.* 2010) and decline in immune system capacity (Todd *et al.* 1999) are considered to be the most important results of ionization effects. Additionally, serious diseases such as cancers can be initiated from harmful substances sent out by irradiated cells to the nearby nunirradiated cell and causes unavoidable cellular damage in phenomena called bystander effect of radiation (Brenner and Elliston 2001; Mothersill and Seymour 2006; Zhang *et al.* 2009a).

Smoking cigarettes has been reported as an implicated factor in cataracts by provoking oxidative stress and contributes in cell death through apoptosis and necrosis due to its association with cadmium accumulation. Cadmium induced toxicity in human lens epithelial cells (HLECs) and significantly generated ROS, increased lipid peroxidation and activated MAPK signalling cascade in HLECs cells which ultimately led to cell damage in smokers eyes (Kalariya *et al.* 2010).

It was found that all temperatures applied for heat shock (48-55°C) increase the releasing of cytochrome c from mitochondria to cytosol and causes a concomitant nuclear DNA fragmentation during the first six hours of heat shock at 50°C and 55°C.(Egorova *et al.* 2011).

Cell death can be caused by antioxidants that have been classified as antitumor drugs under certain conditions including concentration, time incubation, and cell type through exposure HepG2 cells high concentration of SFN (Yeh and Yen 2005).

Nearly all physiological cell death in both human health and disease proceed similarly through natural and active process called apoptosis (Green 1998; Huang 2002) or programmed autonomous cellular dismantling to avoid inflammation (Fink and Cookson 2005; Wyllie *et al.* 1980) where all dying cells are removed regularly without any trace (Green 1998) (Fink and Cookson 2005). (Fig. 1.10a) Moreover and because potentially deleterious cells are being eliminated, apoptosis can be then considered one of the most potent defences against diseases such as cancers (Martin 2006b). Inversely, necrosis is classified as the second type of cell death but it is passive, resulting from severe environmental damage to the cell and involving cell swelling, lysis, ATP depletion and with irregular release of intracellular contents resulting in inflammation of tissue (Fig.10b) (Fink and Cookson 2005).

The core effectors of apoptosis encompass proteolytic enzymes of the caspase family that exist as latent zymogens or precursors in cytoplasm of multicellular animals (Boatright and Salvesen 2003). During cell death, caspases are closly linked to be apoptosis through their two functional main groups (Los *et al.* 1999) that are called initiator and effector caspases (Boatright and Salvesen 2003). Activation of caspases is considered one of the major features of apoptosis where activation of initiator caspases leads to activation of the effector caspases which subsequently results in cellular substrate cleavage (Fink and Cookson 2005).

Oxidative stress, that induced by endogenous process as a results of imbalance between levels of oxidant and reductant in favour of the oxidants, can generate apoptosis (Bae et al. 2010). The induction of apoptosis has been associated with the depletion of endogenous antioxidant glutathione (O'Callaghan *et al.* 2002), the major modulator of oxidative stress (Reed 1990) which dictates the relative resistance or susceptibility of the cell to the apoptotic or cytotoxic activities of a toxicant (Gilmont *et al.* 1998; Mans *et al.* 1992; Reed 1990; Schneider *et al.* 1995). On the other hand, significant elevation of ROS that increase hydrogen peroxide (Martin 2006a) have been linked with induction of apoptosis where evidence indicates that polyunsaturated fatty acid can kill cells by apoptosis (Cai et al. 1999; Rose et al. 1995). More associations between apoptosis and highest level of caspase-3 activity have been reported as well (Nicholson and Thornberry 1997).



Figure 1.10 Cell death pathways. Viable cell initiates cell death pathways after responding to deathinducing stimuli. (a) Apoptosis pathway features include activation of initiator caspases first which in turn activate the effector caspases and that last activation contributes later on in cleaving cellular substrates. At this stage when apoptotic cell formed, condensation of nuclei and cytoplasm can be noticed beside DNA damage and formation of apoptotic bodies. In apoptosis pathway the intact plasma membrane can still be seen. (b) The second cell death pathway is necrosis where the cell is swells and the plasma membrane breaks down leading to release of inflammatory cellular contents (Fink and Cookson 2005).

1.2.1 tert-Butyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP)

Oxidative stress is a disturbance in the pro-oxidant antioxidant balance due to either too high level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that could not be removed effectively by endogenous antioxidant defence system of the cell or defects in antioxidant defences or repair systems, both causes leading eventually to potential damage (Alia *et al.* 2005; Kehrer 1993). When ROS production is enhanced by oxidants, like those derived from nitrogen and oxygen, to such an extent to overwhelm the protection system this may cause oxidative modification and contribute to abnormal pathological processes and biochemical functions (Alia *et al.* 2005; Bae *et al.* 2010; Hyslop *et al.* 1988). *Tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*-BHP) (CH₃)₃COOH (Fig. 1.11) has been reported to be implicated in overproduction of intracellular ROS resulting in oxidative stress and cell injury (Lee *et al.* 2008).



Figure 1.11 Structure of tert-butyl hydroperoxide (Sigma-Aldrich catalogue)

t-BHP is an organic short-chain analogue of hydrogen peroxide (Lee *et al.* 2008; Sohn *et al.* 2007). It has ability to produce free radicals through decomposition and participate in most oxidative stress situations such as formation of covalent bonds with cellular molecules, peroxidation of cellular lipids, and affecting cell integrity which leads to cell injury (Rush *et al.* 1985; Sohn *et al.* 2007), rapid oxidation of reduced glutathione and loss of cell viability (Rush et al. 1985). The potential cellular toxicity mechanism of t-BHP can involve three pathways:

(A) Glutathione peroxidase (GPx) rapidly metabolizes *t*-BHP to tert-butyl alcohol and forms glutathione disulphide (GSSG) which is subsequently reoxidized by glutathione reductase (GR) resulting in regeneration of GSH and oxidation of pyridine nucleotides. High level of GPx activity can lead to oxidation of pyridine nucleotides and GSH depletion which are associated with the altered Ca⁺² homeostasis which seems to be the critical event of plasma membrane blebbing, an early sign of toxicity induced by t-BHP (Fig.1.12) (Lotscher *et al.* 1979; Lotscher *et al.* 1980; Rush *et al.* 1985).



Figure 1.12 Potential mechanism of cell death induced by t-BHP (adapted from (Rush et al. 1985)

(B) Free radical intermediates can be initiated by decomposition of t-BHP, by haemoglobin (erythrocytes) or cytochrome P-450 (hepatocytes), which subsequently contributes in peroxidation of membrane lipids (fig.1.13) (Rush *et al.* 1985; Thornalley *et al.* 1983).



Figure 1.13 Potential mechanism of cell death induced by t-BHP (adapted from (Rush et al. 1985)

(C) *t*-BHP free radicals may cause cell injury through covalent bond formation with cellular molecules such as (Fig.1.14) (Orrenius *et al.* 1983; Rush *et al.* 1985).



Figure 1.14. Potential mechanism of cell death induced by t-BHP (adapted from (Rush et al. 1985)

t-BHP is a well-known inducer of oxidative stress in biological systems and therefore it has been used as a model compound to investigate the mechanism of cell injury that induced either by apoptosis including caspase activation, DNA fragmentation, and cytochrome *c* release (Piret *et al.* 2004) or necrosis including leakage of lactate dehydrogenase (Sohn *et al.* 2007).

1.2.2 Free radical species generation

Over 2.5 billion years ago, significant mutagenic toxic amounts of oxygen appeared in Earth's atmosphere which led to formation of the ozone layer as a protector from solar ultraviolet radiation, this resulted in the survival of organisms in sea (Willcox *et al.* 2004). The primitive anaerobic organisms were unable to tolerate oxygen (O_2) due to the absence of defence mechanisms. On the other hand, the multicellular organisms including eukaryotic cells such as humans and other aerobics possess an evolving electron transport chain and other enzyme systems and therefore; O2 in mitochondria can be consumed during aerobic metabolism in parallel with the evolving antioxidant defences system to protect from toxic effect of O₂ simultaneously (Willcox *et al.* 2004; Yu 1994).

Aerobic life-style offers great advantages for organisms but is fraught with dangers because it generates free radicals which consequently result in considerable formation of reactive oxygen species ROS (Yu 1994). A free radical is any chemical species with one or more unpaired electrons (single electron being alone in an atomic or molecular orbital) and it can be initiated through three different ways: Homolytic cleavage of covalent bond of a normal molecule to produce two fragments, each one possessing a single electron:

$$A: B \longrightarrow A' + B'$$

By losing single electron from a normal molecule:

A: B
$$\longrightarrow$$
 A: $^{-}$ + B⁺

The type of this reaction is hetrolytic fission where one of the fragments of the parent molecule keeps the electrons of the covalent bond resulting in ions which are charged or electrically neutral.

By adding single electron to a normal molecule:

$$A + e - \longrightarrow A^{-}$$

This reaction includes electron transfer and it is more common in biological system (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006).

Free radicals are produced in animal cells either accidently or deliberately. An accidental generation can cause significant production of accumulated reactive oxygen species (Reichard and Ehrenberg 1983) which consequently result in oxidative stress (Lima *et al.* 2007), whereas the deliberate production yields profitable entities if they are targeted correctly, such as utilizing free radicals by enzymes at their active sites during catalysis process (Reichard and Ehrenberg 1983).

The deliberate generation of free radicals includes production of superoxide radical anion O2⁻⁻ and ROS at acceptable levels which are very important because they provide defence against invading microorganisms, including inactivation and destruction of viruses (Aratani *et al.* 2002; Curnutte and Babior 1987; El-Benna *et*

al. 2005; Espinosa-Garcia and Gutierrez-Merino 2003). An example for this defences action can be seen in the immune system in phagocytic cells (neutrophils, ecosinophils, macrophages, and monocytes) (Curnutte and Babior 1987), within a microbicidal mechanism which involves the initial phagocytosis of the pathogens. During action of these cells with phagocytable particle, consumption of O₂ by both of them increases considerably, leading to a situation called 'respiratory burst' resulting in activation NAD(P)H oxidase enzymes in phagocytic cells, which catalyse the reduction of molecular oxygen to produce superoxide anion O_2^{--} , the precursor of microbicidal oxidants, and subsequent production of important level of ROS and bactericidal protein into the phagosomes (Babior 1992; Chanock *et al.* 1994; Cross and Jones 1991; Curnutte and Babior 1987).

The importance of ROS production in immune system can be observed in granulomatous disease where patients of this disease are unable to produce $O_2^{,-}$ due to a defect in NADPH oxidase enzyme which consequently leads to exacerbation of subsequent infection (Curnutte and Babior 1987; Halliwell 1994).

NADPH +
$$20_2 \longrightarrow \text{NADP}^+ + 2 O_2^- + H^+$$

The fundamental biological process that leads to O_2^{--} generation is electron transport, as 'leakage' of electrons from mitochondrial electron transport chains onto molecular oxygen (O_2) produces the superoxide anion O_2^{--} , cytochrome *b* in mitochondria being the main site for the (O_2^{--}) generation. Moreover, superoxide anion can also be generated in different sites in animal cells such as in hepatocytes during detoxification process which includes electron transport systems, endoplasmic reticulum (prostaglandin synthesis, xenobiotic metabolism), nuclear membrane, and direct reaction of O_2 with autoxidisable molecules (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006; Yu 1994). On the other hand and in particular situations O_2^{-} is considered the main source of hydrogen peroxide H_2O_2 when oxygen molecule is reduced by two electrons:

$$O_2^{-} + 2e^{-} + 2H^+ \longrightarrow H_2O_2$$

Hydrogen peroxide is not a free radical but is classed within the ROS category because the latter includes oxygen free radicals as well as non-radical oxygen derivatives which are contributed in oxygen radical production. Hydrogen peroxide can also be produced through reaction between two superoxide molecules (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006):

$$2O_2 + 2H^+ \longrightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$$

This reaction is called dismutation reaction because the free radical reactants generate non-radical products and can be catalysed by superoxide dismutase enzyme (SDO) or take place spontaneously (Mccord and Fridovic.I 1969; Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006). Moreover, H_2O_2 is an oxidizing agent but not reactive. It's main importance comes from it being the main source for hydroxyl radicals in the presence of reactive transition metal ions such as iron(Fe^{+2}):

$$H_2O_2 + Fe^{+2} \longrightarrow OH + OH^- + Fe^{+3}$$

Hydroxyl radical is an extremely reactive oxidizing radical and it is able to cause large amounts of damage when it can react with biomolecules before it diffuses any significant distance within the cell (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006).

1.2.3 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Among the metabolic processes occurring within an organism, oxidation reactions are regarded an essential part of normal metabolism. These reactions include superoxide radical production in electron flow system that produces ATP due to the transfer of an electron to the electron acceptor, oxygen molecule (Davies 1995). The energy production, ATP, and electron flow should be coupled to prevent free radical generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which emerged to cause serious health issues (Nohl *et al.* 2005). ROS are continually generated within a cell as a result of mitochondrial electron transfer (as highlighted in section 1.2.2) The amounts of ROS are checked permanently by the endogenous antioxidant defence system to prevent their accumulation in the body (Tiwari and Kakkar 2009). If this balance is disturbed because of overproduction of ROS quantities or weakness of the endogenous antioxidant system defences (Henricks and Nijkamp 2001), diseases such as malignant neoplasm (Valko *et al.* 2006), cardiac dysfunction (Keith *et al.* 1998), and Alzheimer disease (Christen 2000) may ensue.

Moreover, the most important biological processes, in particular ATP synthesis and oxidative phosphorylation, are continually achieved by mitochondria which used 90% of the consumed O_2 for this purpose. In these processes, the mitochondrial proteins are probably implicated in superoxide O_2^{-} production which consequently lead to ROS generation (fig.1.14) (Kakkar and Singh 2007). Therefore, the mitochondria are considered the intracellular sources for normal and abnormal ROS quantities generation during normal and impaired mitochondrial oxygen reduction respectively.

Beside their harmful effects, ROS are important in many physiological processes as they are involved in the removal of dead cells (Henricks and Nijkamp 2001). They are now being recognized as regulators of cell function and modulators of cell signalling pathways, as they are considered as a part of the signalling process responsible for apoptosis induction and elimination of cancer cells (Lopaczynski and Zeisel 2001). Different mechanisms and pathways have been suggested for ROS generation and their participation in dead cell elimination, in such that mitochondria pathway via Fas activation where rapid and transient ROS are generated and apoptosis is induced by the potent carcinogen such as cadmium Cd as an example (Oh and Lim 2006). Moreover, ROS achieve certain functions during apoptosis in such that, they are signal transducers of cell death as the following: first and at early stages of apoptosis, they are just signals, and, secondly, when there are impaired mitochondrial oxygen reduction this causes alterations in mitochondrial permeability leading to production of ROS. Finally, the produced ROS induce the depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane and lead to further mitochondrial dysfunction (Oh and Lim 2006; Segovia and Berges 2009).

1.2.4 Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidations (LPO) are generated in mitochondria when the free radicals attack the double bonds of carbon-carbon of unsaturated fatty acid (Devasagayam et al. 2003; Raha and Robinson 2000). During the process of lipid peroxidation, toxic by-products which are known as 'second messengers' are formed and cause damage to the functions of the cell (Raha and Robinson 2000).

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are considered as the basis on which the fluidity of phospholipids of the bilayer of biological membranes is maintained. When preoxidative attacks by free radicals on PUFAs of a biological membrane they cause extensive damages lead to loss its important function as a barrier. Therefore, large molecules such as cytosolic enzymes are able to leak out considerably (Riceevans and Burdon 1993). Moreover, LPO can cause further disorders to the membrane by cross-linking of membrane components which lead to restriction of the mobility of membrane proteins, decreasing the fluidity and electrical resistance of the membrane as well as changing the phase properties of the membranes (Devasagayam *et al.* 2003; Riceevans and Burdon 1993). So, LPO has been implicated in decrease of enzyme activities associated with membrane, such as cytochrome P450 and glucose-6-phosphatase. LPO also contributes to inactivation of membrane pumps that are responsible for cellular ion homeostasis maintenance (Raha and Robinson 2000).

LPO has been implicated in a large varty of diseases, including Alzheimer disease and type 1 diabetes, diabetes, Parkinson disease, premature birth disorders, atherosclerosis, chronic inflammatory conditions, preeclamsia and eclamsia, fibrosis and cancer (Castranova and Vallyathan 2000; Devasagayam *et al.* 2003; Yagi 1987). Oxidation of lipids has been noticed since ancient times and has been determined as a major issue in the deterioration of exposed to air. Metals such as iron participate in LPO and their products such as aldehydes initiate where this process, which can be terminated by antioxidants such as vitamin E and alphatotopherol (reaction 6 and 7, Fig. 1.15).

It has been found that iron plays an important role in LPO synthesis where it attacks LH, the unsaturated fatty acid, and generates L. radical (reaction 1, Fig. 1.15). This reaction includes generation of methylene group (-CH2) with weak double bond of unpaired electron on carbon atom which is very susceptible to any

attack. On the other hand, L. radical can be generated from another source which is lipid peroxyl radical (LOO.) (reaction 3, Fig.1.15) that formed in (reaction 2, Fig. 1.15) when oxygen molecule react with the resultant .CH radical from (reaction 1, Fig.1.15) and LP propagation. LOOH is formed during reaction 3 where hydrogen atom can be abstracted from LH by lipid peroxyl radical LOO. . In addition, LOO. radicals are unstable and can degrade into various products encompassing aldehydes such as malondialdehyde (MDA) (reaction 4, Fig. 1.15). Furthermore, through the Fenton reaction that includes oxidized ferrous Fe+2 to ferric Fe+3 also participate in LOP radicals formation by breaking down of LOOH to LO. (reaction 5, Fig. 1.15) (Devasagayam *et al.* 2003).



Figure 1.15 Role of iron and antioxidant in Lipid peroxidation initiation and termination respectively.

1.2.5 Oxidative Stress

The importance of oxygen molecule has appeared since fifteenth century due to its bilateral role in life and the famous words "the same thing that makes you live can kill you in the end" by Neil Young was a really perfect description for the multifaceted property of oxygen as a life donor and killer at the same time (Davies and Pryor 2005). It has been found recently that numerous medical illnesses are attributed primarily to the damaging effect of the generated oxygen free radicals through electron transport in mitochondria result in ROS accumulation (Tiwari and Kakkar 2009). To overcome this puzzling issue, body are regularly checked on the excess amounts of ROS and eliminate them through particular defence system called endogenous antioxidant system (Rahman *et al.* 2006). To be aware about the crucial role of the intracellular defence system in the maintenance of cellular redox balance and defence against free radical attack we should first know its mechanism of action.

1.2.6 Apoptosis: programmed cell death

Apoptosis or programmed cell death is a normal physiological mechanism used by metazoans during development, morphogenesis and homeostasis of organs and tissues; since it carves the body, shapes the organs, and sculpt the fingers and toes (Meier *et al.* 2000). Moreover, this process is essential for controlling the number of the cells (Vaux and Korsmeyer 1999), balancing between cell division and cell death

(Pedrera *et al.* 2012), regulation the immune system and elimination of pathogeninfected cells (Mccarthy *et al.* 1992; Vaux and Korsmeyer 1999).

The term "apoptosis" is Greek and means "falling of" like leaves of trees. It was firstly given in 1972 by Kerr and his colleagues to describe the distinctive phenotypic phenomenon of cellular shrinkage of cells that were eliminated during embryonic development, atrophy upon hormone withdrawal, and normal cell turnover in healthy adult tissue (Kerr *et al.* 1972). Moreover, another definition has been given for apoptosis relying on the occurrence of the events consecutively depending on the cellular metabolism that causes the specific morphology of the cell damage (Martin 2006a). By the second definition, apoptosis can be distinguished easily from the other types of cell death, necrosis, autophagy and oncosis (Lopaczynski and Zeisel 2001; Martin 2006a).

The main morphological features of apoptosis are characterized by nuclear and cytoplasm condensation, nuclear fragmentation into mono-and oligonucleosomal units, plasma membrane blebbing, and cell shrinkage before the cell breaks into small membrane-surrounded fragments called apoptotic bodies. These fragmented bodies are taken up by phagocyte cells and degraded before deletion within phagosomes without inciting inflammation (Kerr *et al.* 1972; Lauber *et al.* 2004; Rodriguez and Schaper 2005). Whereas Necrosis, the passive and accidental cell death, can be distinct from apoptosis by uncontrolled release of inflammatory cellular contents due to cellular and organelle swelling and membrane breakdown (Fink and Cookson 2005) (Fig. 1.16).

Regulation of cell death is indispensable for normal development and maintenance of tissue homeostasis in multicellular organisms (Schafer and Kornbluth 2006). Metazoans cells die through different stereotypical modes including apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy, and oncosis but apoptosis is the most notable among all. Misregulation or failure of apoptosis may result in development of cancer (Green *et* *al.* 1994) when apoptotic cells loses responsiveness to death inducing and becomes aberrant viable cell which can then switched to tumour cell characteristics (Malaguarnera 2004).



Figure 1.16 The Three Steps of Apoptotic Cell Removal (a) soluble find-me signals are released by dying cells to attract professional phagocytes. (b) During this action of encounter of phagocyte cells with its prey, phagocytable particles which display eats-me and the lack of don't-eat-me signals on its surface, phagocyte cell are able to internalize of the apoptotic cell corpse. (c) To prevent inflammation after ingestion of apoptotic remains, the phagocyte starts producing anti-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-10 and TGF- around the site of the apoptotic cell death (Lauber *et al.* 2004).

1.2.6.1 Apoptosis pathways

Apoptosis is characterized by an executioner program including a family of highly conserved proteases known as caspases which occupy a critical position in signal transduction cascades associated with immune reactions (Riedl and Shi 2004). Furthermore, they are in particular responsible for dismantling cells by cleaving cellular substrates. Aberrant caspase regulation seems unequivocally to be implicated considerably in pathogenesis of variety of diseases such as cancers and neurological disorders (Riedl and Shi 2004). All caspases exist as inactive precursor enzyme (proenzyme) (Creagh et al. 2003; Fink and Cookson 2005) and exist as latent zymogenes (procaspases); they are expressed as a single-chain composed of three domains: an N-terminal propeptide (or prodomain) followed by region of twosubunit effector domain, one small and one large subunit (Creagh et al. 2003; Walker et al. 1994; Wilson et al. 1994). Members of caspases family can be classified based on their physiological roles which are significantly different although all family members are similar in amino acid sequences, structure and substrate specificity (Creagh et al. 2003). Two main groups can be distinguished: caspases related to caspase 1 (caspase-1, -4, -5, -13, and 14 as well as caspase -11, and -12) and caspases that are implicated in apoptosis (caspase-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, -9, -10) which can be further divided into initiator and effector subgroups. The initiator caspases (caspase-2, -8, -9, and -10) are responsible for activating the effector caspases cascades (caspase-3, -6, and -7), which are involved in cellular substrate cleavages (Los et al. 1999) (Fig.1.17).



Figure 1.17 Caspases are divided into two main groups: those implicated in apoptosis (caspase-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, -9, and -10) and those related to caspase-1 (caspase-1, -4, -5, -13, and -14, as well as murine caspase-11 and -12) which their role appears to be proinflammatory and cytokine processing cell death. The caspases involved in apoptosis can be further divided into initiator and effector subgroups: Initiator caspases (caspase-2, -8, -9, and -10) which are used to activate the effector caspases (caspase-3, -6, and -7) to cleave cellular substrates DED= death effector domain, CARD= caspase recruitment domain (Fink and Cookson 2005).

Caspases are intimately involved in both the intrinsic or extrinsic pathways of apoptosis (Fig.1.18) (Schafer and Kornbluth 2006). The extrinsic pathway involves activation of initiator caspases such as pro-caspase-8 through binding of extracellular ligands such as FasL to their cognate receptors such as FAS to form cytosolic adaptor protein called FADD which then can be recruited to activate procaspase-8 and subsequently activate the effector caspases for dismantling cellular substrates (Nagata 1999). Activation of effector caspases can also be achieved during transmission of the emanating pro-apoptotic signals from internal stressors such as DNA damage via intrinsic pathway. The extrinsic and intrinsic pathways converge on mitochondria. The result of this convergence is permeablization of the outer membrane of mitochondria which subsequently leads to release of cytochrome c and other pro-apoptotic molecules into the cytosol (Green and Kroemer 2004; Olson and Kornbluth 2001). Caspase-8 can cleave and activate the proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bid (into Bax and Bak) to promote mitochondrial cytochrome c release (Danial and Korsmeyer 2004) or impede the release by Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL (Cory and Adams 2002). The released cytosolic cytochrome c is essential for caspases effectors activation because it binds with Apaf-1 protein and forms a large complex called apoptosome which activates the initiator caspases such as caspase-9 to induce apoptosis (Liu *et al.* 1996; Srinivasula *et al.* 1998; Zou *et al.* 1997).

Many disorders and diseases such as AIDS, Alzheimer's, Cancer, Parkinsons disease, infectious diseases (Thompson 1995), and autoimmunity such as Addison's disease which is endocrine disorder (Zhang *et al.* 2009b) have risen due to the physiological defects in apoptosis pathways. Some of these apoptotic defects that contribute in medical illnesses can be attributed to the deregulation in cell death processes meaning that either too much or too little cell death occurs. Such examples includes self-renewing tissues of skin where cell death occurs physiologically but when normal cells fail to undergo apoptosis for some reasons related to defect in apoptosis mechanisms results in cell accumulation and cancers can arise (Reed 2001). The key for therapeutic strategies in future includes using the components of cellular regulation of apoptosis such as Bcl-2 proteins as integral regulators of the mitochondria apoptotic pathway, death receptors that trigger apoptosis from cell surface, endogenous caspases inhibitors, and caspases as the executioner enzymes as targets to maintain the regulated apoptosis pathways which eventually prevent disease (Fischer and Schulze-Osthoff 2005).



Figure 1.18 Intrinsic and Extrinsic Pathways of Apoptosis. Extrinsic Pathway encompasses caspase activation which includes binding of extracellular ligands such as FasL to their receptors Fas to form FADD, the intracellular adaptor proteins, which its primary role is caspase- 8 activation and subsequent downstream effector caspases. Whereas intrinsic pathway involves the cytosolic cytochrome c release from mitochondria into the cytosol the subsequent steps include formation of the apoptosome, activation of caspase- 9 and then cleavage of effector caspases (Schafer and Kornbluth 2006)

1.2.7 Endogenous antioxidant system

The antioxidant defence system has evolved to protect cellular homeostasis from damaging effects of free radicals that are generated through the reduction of oxygen molecules, and result in a balance of the equation of aerobic life (Cotgreave et al. 1988; Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006). The system defence is regarded as an integrated "network" (Cotgreave et al. 1988) and includes two main categories: members of one group that are used to prevent production of free radicals and members of another group which intercept any attack from radicals (Mittal et al. 2001; Mourao et al. 2009). The members in each group are enzymes such as catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutases (SOD), GSH redox system encompassing glutathione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione reductase (GR), and in addition glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, glutaredoxins, heme oxygenase-1, peroxiredoxins, and thioredoxins (Rahman et al. 2006) and also non enzymatic entities such as ascorbic acid, glutathione, and uric acid (Mittal et al. 2001; Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006), are localized in membrane and aqueous segments of the cell (Palmieri and Sblendorio 2006). Moreover, those enzymes that are involved in ROS metabolism and detoxification of oxidative products should complement each other in the prooxidant cell states to maintain the redox balance as well as the efficient mechanism of cellular defence which eventually results in protection of the cell integrity (Halliwell et al. 1992; Sies 1993). By looking at those enzymes, a really complete coordination can be recognized to save the defence system but they should be in steady level state. Enzyme activity, in particular SOD, can be affected slowly by the accumulated amounts of hydrogen peroxide which leads to inactivate this enzyme gradually but the presence of GPx and catalase conserve SOD by reducing H₂O₂ water (Rahman et al. 2006) (Fig.1.19). Moreover, a crosstalk is

possible between the protective enzymes such as glutathione reductase GR and glutathione peroxidase GPx, such that GR reduces the oxidized form of glutathione GSSG to glutathione GSH, which is a specific substrate to GPx that is used to catalyse reduction H_2O_2 to H_2O (Alia *et al.* 2005). Thus all reactants and products preserve their steady state amounts which result in protect mechanism of defence perfectly (Rahman *et al.* 2006).

Superoxide dismutase enzymes are classified within metalloenzymes family and are localized in all cells in the body (Mourao *et al.* 2009; Simurda *et al.* 1988). They play an important role in defence against oxygen toxicity through catalysis disproportionation or dismutaion of superoxide free radical anions to a less potent hydrogen peroxide H_2O_2 (Cerutti 1985; Mccord and Fridovic.I 1969; Rahman *et al.* 2006). Moreover, they can be found in three major forms like superoxide dismutase SOD, manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), and extracellular superoxide dismutase (ECSOD) based on their inducibility, requirements for metal ions, localization in cell and structure (Rahman *et al.* 2006). Recently, changes in antioxidant enzyme activity has been regarded as a sensitive biomarker to measure the cellular response to oxidative stress (Alia *et al.* 2005). In this study we measured glutathione (GSH) depletion and considered it as a biomarker for oxidative stress induced in HepG2 cells by *tert*-butyl hydro peroxide (*t*-BHP).



Figure 1.19 Antioxidant defence system including superoxide dismutase SOD, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase GPx which are very important enzymes in scavenging the extra- and intracellular generated superoxide anion O_2 ^{•–} and convert it to hydrogen peroxide H_2O_2 and then to H_2O . Therefore, hydroxyl radical OH is intercepted from being generated, resulting in prevention of cell damage (adapted from (Rahman *et al.* 2006).

1.2.7.1 NAD(P)H:Quinone reductase 1 (NQO1)

The protection provided by phase 2 enzymes has become an effective strategy against the carcinogenicity and cytotoxicity of many compounds. NAD(P)H:Quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1; EC 1.6.99.2) is considered one of the major phase 2 hepatic detoxification enzymes (Talalay 2000).

NQO1 or DT-diaphorase is a cytosolic flavoprotein that exist as a homodimer and ubiquitous (Ross and Siegel 2004) but its main localization is in gastrointestinal tract, liver and kidney (Riley and Workman 1992). It is characterised by its ability to detoxify reactive environmental xenobiotics that possess quinone structure, catalyzing the two-electron reduction of substrate which is responsible for providing the detoxifying properties of NQO1 (Lee *et al.* 2005) to produce less reactive hydroquinone derivatives. Thus, NQO1 participates effectively in preventing the generation of ROS and toxic semiquinone radicals (Ross and Siegel 2004). Moreover, other main characteristics of NQO1 are its ability to utilize either or NADPH or NADH as reducing cofactors (Siegel *et al.* 1997), and its inhibition by the anticoagulant dicumarol which is a specific characteristic that can be used as an indicator for NQO1-mediated metabolism in biological system (SantaCruz *et al.* 2004) for example in quinone detoxification (Joseph et al. 2000; Moran *et al.* 1999).

Beside the major function of NQO1 as cancer preventive enzyme (Benson *et al.* 1980; Talalay and Benson 1982; Talalay *et al.* 1988; Talalay and Prochaska 1987), different biological functions of NQO1 have reported such as catalyzing the generation of antioxidant alpha- tocopherohydroquinone (TQH₂) from reduction of alpha-tocopherolquinone (TQ), a product of alpha-tocopherol oxidation (Siegel *et al.* 1997).

Different studies have reported the potential effects of many dietary constituent compounds such as flavonols, and quercetin (Q) in particular, on activity level of phase 2 enzyme, NQO1 (Lee *et al.* 2005). These effects included either activation (Valerio *et al.* 2001) or inhibition of enzyme activity (Wiegand *et al.* 2009).

1.2.7.2 Glutathione

Compounds that are generated by the interaction of ROS with nucleic acids, proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids are highly reactive, and antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, GPx, catalase, and thioredoxin reductase, the first line of defence, are not totally effective in counteracting oxidative attack and providing protection to these biological macromolecules (Masella et al. 2005). Therefore, the second line of defence against ROS-mediated damages is provided by enzymes such as glutathione S-transferase (GST), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), aldehyde dehydrogenase, and aldo-keto reductase (Armstrong 1997; Brigelius-Flohe 1999; Kuhn and Borchert 2002). Detoxification products that are produced by reaction of those enzymes with oxidative products are removed from cell by GSH (Akerboom and Sies 1989) which has emerged as a major modulator of oxidative stress because its content dictates the relative resistance susceptibility of a cell to toxicants (Gilmont et al. 1998; Mans et al. 1992; Reed 1990). Thus, GSH play a central role in all the lines of protection against ROS (Sies 1999). Additional functions of GSH include modulation of immune cell functions (Jeannin et al. 1995; Staal et al. 1994), and maintenance of the reduced form of protein thiols (Reed 1990).

GSH, *gamma*-glutamylcysteinylglycine, is a cysteine-containing tripeptide (Meister and Anderson 1983), synthesized in various organisms from glycine and yglutamylcysteine by GSH synthetase enzyme, the active sulfur having been provided by methionine through the cystathionine pathway (Beatty and Reed 1980). Moreover, it is present in all living cell types and exists as oxidized forms (GSSG), known as glutathione disulphide which are converted to the reduced form by glutathione reductase enzyme (GR) (Briviba *et al.* 1999; Kalyanaraman *et al.*

1996). Under normal cellular redox conditions, the bulk of cellular GSH in the endoplasmic reticulum, nucleus, and mitohondria (Pompella *et al.* 2003). GSH has numerous cellular functions as nucleophile and reductant and is involved in many biological reactions such as redox reactions to detoxify ROS and electrophilic xenobiotics, due to its functional thiol (Reiners *et al.* 2000).

1.2.8 Aims of objective

There is abundant evidence that consumption of fruits and vegetables is protective against a wide variety of chronic diseases as indication in earlier sections of this chapter. for this reason, there is intense interest in identifying and developing further the active constituents of these fruits and vegetables. The antioxidant capability of these active constituents appears to be a major contributor to their beneficial effect, and numerous researchers have applied a variety of screening approaches to identify antioxidant capacity of phytochemicals or plant extracts.

This present work aimed to gain further insight into developing a sensible strategy to identify antioxidant capacity of selected phytochemicals. The objectives of the work are set out below.

To compare the antioxidant behaviour of Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN measured in a chemical assay (DPPH screening) and in a cell-based assay (protection of HepG2 cells from oxidative stress initiated by t-BHP). This work is presented in chapter 2 and 3.

To compare two different treatment regimens to test the antioxidant capacity in the cell-based assay, one based on co-exposure with oxidative stressor, and one based

on exposure before the oxidative stress, this latter to allow for identification of 'indirect' antioxidant behaviour. This work is presented in chapter 3.

To determine the influence of presence of serum in the culture medium on the cytoprotective effects of these phytochemicals. This work is presented in chapter 3. To establish the mechanism of toxicity of t-BHP to HepG2 cells under the conditions of cytoprotection assay, this to provide indication of the possible mechanism of antioxidant activity of the phytochemicals. This work is presented in chapter 4.

To assess the possible utility of a recent published cell-based assay for induction of NQO1, this to provide further information on the ability of phytochemicals to act as 'indirect' antioxidants by virtue of induction of cytoprotective proteins. This work is presented in chapter 5.

By obtaining information from these objectives, it was hoped to shed new light on development of a cellular protection assay to identify novel plant extracts and phytochemicals which may be developed for therapeutic reasons.

Chapter 2

Phytochemical properties: Direct and indirect antioxidants
Chapter 2

Phytochemical properties: Direct and indirect antioxidants

2.1 Introduction

Increased consumption of dietary citrus fruits, dark-green vegetables and cruciferous vegetables has been inversely associated with wide a range of diseases such as cancers (Barrera *et al.* 2012; Riboli and Norat 2003), which may be attributed to the ability of antioxidants in those of foods to prevent oxidative stress (Agudo *et al.* 2007). The main characteristic of antioxidants is the capacity to scavenge free radicals produced during cell metabolism and thus they contribute to lowering the risks of many diseases such as neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases (Zafra-Stone *et al.* 2007).

Several methods have been used to assess the antioxidants behavior but the most trusted, reliable and common methods are based on the scavenging of 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals and ferric reduction activity potential (FRAP) assays which are often being used in parallel whilst measure the total phenolics content (TPC) is usually considered as marker for antioxidant capacity (Clarke *et al.* 2013).

The DPPH[·] radical is stable in solution and appears as a violet colour in methanol solution absorbing at 515 nm. The first conception of this method was illustrated by Blois in 1958 when DPPH[·] free radicals accepted H atom from cysteine molecule:

DPPH[·]+ H → DPPHH

The principle of assay is based on the fact that DPPH radical accepts hydrogen atom from the scavenger such as antioxidant to produce DPPHH that appears yellow colour absorbing at 515 nm. This assay has been adopted in different laboratories with some modification (Mishra *et al.* 2012).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the antioxidant properties of selected four compounds Quercetin (Q), Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), Indole-3-carbinol (I3C), and Sulforaphane (SFN) as determined by the DPPH assay. These data would then form the basis for subsequent cellular antioxidant assays, with a view to establishing the distinction between direct and indirect antioxidants.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 DPPH free radical scavenging assay

The power of phytochemicals to scavenge free radicals was achieved by using 1,1 diphenyl-2-pycrylhydrazl (DPPH) radical from Sigma, UK as a model of free radical, the method was based on that of (Nara *et al.* 2006) with some modifications into 96-well plate in triplicate and for the blank assay, 20 µl of DMSO (from Sigma) is

added to 180 μ I of 0.004% DPPH in methanol working solution. For sample assay 20 μ I of antioxidant solution Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN (320 μ g/ml, 160 μ g/ml, 80 μ g/ml, 40 μ g/ml, 20 μ g/ml and 10 μ g/ml) was added to 180 μ I of DPPH solution. Leaving the plate for 15 min in dark place to avoid dissociation, the absorbance was measured spectrophotometrically (MULTISKAN ASCENT, Made by Thermo ELECTRON CORPORATION) at 540 nm after shaking for one minute.

By using equation below, scavenging of DPPH radical percentage was calculated from the difference between the control run with no antioxidant addition and the absorbance in the presence of antioxidant (Nara *et al.* 2006).

% Scavenging=100 x
$$[A_0-(A_{+DPPH} - A_{-DPPH})]/A_0$$

Where A_0 is an absorbance of sample solvent (DMSO) plus DPPH, A_{-DPPH} is an absorbance of DMSO in methanol, and A_{+DPPH} is an absorbance of sample (i.e. phytochemicals) with DPPH.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Scavenging of 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals

Radical-scavenging activity of EGCG, Q, I3C and SFN were investigated. The results from this assay demonstrated that EGCG and Q possessed radical-scavenging activity and act as direct antioxidants, with 100% scavenging being achieved at a concentration of 160 μ g/ml. While SFN and I3C did not display any antioxidant activity in that both failed to scavenge DPPH radicals and remained inactive in the concentrations range 0-320 μ g/ml; therefore the intensity of the DPPH colour did not reduce (Fig 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Activities of Q (), EGCG (), I3C (), SFN () in scavenging free radicals. (n=3).

2.4 Discussion

Our results indicated that Q and EGCG are direct antioxidant while I3C and SFN are not.

The mechanism of direct trapping action of free radical is based on the structure of the antioxidant and hydroxyl groups in particular.

Q and EGCG exhibited a notable antiradical activity and this may be attributed to the hydroxyl groups present in those compounds, where Q has 5 and EGCG has 9 groups on their structure. These groups represent the possible attack sites for the free radicals resulting in radicalization of all hydroxyl groups (Chiodo *et al.* 2010; RiceEvans and Miller 1997). This reaction includes transfer of hydrogen atoms from antioxidant to the active radicals to produce oxidized antioxidant radicals which are less reactive than the active free radical attacker.

Q has showed potential antioxidant activity during inactivation of lipid peroxide radicals; (Chiodo *et al.* 2010) and (Fiorucci *et al.* 2004) have described the oxygenolysis process by Q. Moreover, (Trouillas *et al.* 2006) have confirmed that hydroxyl groups on ring B of Q are responsible for antioxidant properties of Q and when 3-OH group on ring B is blocked for example by adding sugar such as in rutin, the antioxidant activity is decreased significantly (RiceEvans *et al.* 1996).

Our results about EGCG was compatible with Salah et al. (1995) who have described the superior capacity of EGCG to scavenge free radicals and attributed this active action to the contribution of multiple number of hydroxyl groups of EGCG in this process, in particular the *ortho*-dihydroxyl groups on ring B which confers a high stability for oxidized EGCG.

59

Although I3C has one hydroxyl group on its structure, it did not show any action and this may because the insufficient hydroxyl groups which means decrease the number of attacking sites by free radicals.

As the structure of SFN has no any hydroxyl group, then any donation for hydrogen atom is missing resulting in that SFN is inactive completely and DPPH radicals are accumulated without any trapping.

2.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, this investigation indicates that Q and EGCG possess direct antioxidant properties which can be used in further cellular studies. I3C and SFN did not appear to possess any direct antioxidant behaviours during DPPH radical scavenging. Thus, any cytoprotection exerted by either I3C or SFN would be due to mechanisms other than a direct antioxidant mechanisms.

Chapter 3

Cytoprotection activity of phytochemicals

Chapter 3

Cytoprotection activity of

phytochemicals

3. Introduction

There is considerable interest in the cytoprotective effect of phytochemicals including compounds such as antioxidants, as they possess biological cytoprotection properties, and defence against toxic agents (Son *et al.* 2008). These compounds contribute to minimising the risks of tissue damage caused by ROS (Kang *et al.* 2006) where free radicals either inactivates by transfer single electron or hydrogen atom from antioxidant (Chiodo *et al.* 2010) as highlighted in section 1.2.2.

Quercetin (Chiodo *et al.* 2010) and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (Hu and Kitts 2001) are classified as direct antioxidants (chapter 2); they contribute in radical scavenging by donating hydrogen atoms to the active radical and deactivate it. Indole-3-carbinol (Gerhauser *et al.* 2003) and sulforaphane (Malaguti *et al.* 2009) are classified as indirect antioxidant. The mechanism of action is based on the inactivation of phase 1 enzymes such as cytochromes P450, which activate xenobiotics, and induce phase 2 enzymes, which deactivate the active compounds, such as NQO1 (Gerhauser *et al.* 2003).

Serum albumin is the most abundant protein in the circulatory system (Trnkova *et al.* 2011); it forms approximately 50% or more of protein interstitial fluid in human aortas (Smith and Staples 1982). It binds to a large variety of exogenous and endogenous ligands such as drugs, fatty acid, nutrients, and hormones, and transports them to their sites of action. On the other hand, the binding of xenobiotics to albumin can affect their metabolism and biological activity (Trnkova *et al.* 2011). Therefore, presence of albumin within experimental constituents such as culture medium may impact on the results obtained by assays (Alia *et al.* 2006b).

The present study aimed to establish the use of a cellular protection assay in the screening of antioxidant behaviour as a model of phytochemicals which are known to act as direct and/or indirect antioxidants. The cellular protection assay is based on the protection of HepG2 cells against oxidative stress induced by tert-butyl hydroperoxide t-BHP: these assays involved two cytoprotection patterns: (a) 5 hour exposure to phytochemicals and t-BHP simultaneously where direct cytoprotection is provided by antioxidant against oxidative stress; (b) 20 hour exposure to phytochemical followed by 5-hour exposure to t-BHP, the long incubation with antioxidant allows defence against oxidative stress induced by t-BHP indirectly by up-regulation of phase 2 enzymes. Moreover, we focused on the duration of treatment and the effect of presence or absence of serum on the antioxidant activity.

3.1 Materials and methods

3.1.1 Chemicals

Human hepatoma HepG2 cells were purchased from ECACC, Salisbury, UK. Quercetin (Q), epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), sulforaphane (SFN), indole-3carbinol (I3C), Hanks' balanced salt solution [H9394 ,without Ca+2 and Mg+2. with phenol red, sterile filtered] Trypsin-EDTA , MEM Eagle [M2279, with Earle's salts and sodium bicarbonate, without glutamine, sterile filtered], gentamicin [G1397, 50 mg/ml], glutamine [G7513, 200mM], Foetal Bovine Serum [F7524], MEM Non-essential Amino Acid solution [M7145], neutral red, ethanol solution, tertbutyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP), and glacial acetic acid were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. Ltd., Poole, Dorset. UK.

3.1.2 HepG2 cells culture

HepG2 cells were cultured in 175 cm² Nunclon culture flasks in 5% CO₂-in-air atmosphere using 50 ml of minimum Essential Eagles MEM medium supplemented with 10% (v/v) foetal calf serum, 2 μ g/ml fungizone, 0.05 mg/ml gentamicin, 1% (v/v) non-essential amino acid solution, 2 mM L-glutamine at 37°C. Culture medium was changed every 72 hours, and cells were confluent after 7 days of sub-culturing. For experiments including treatments, cells were sub-cultured at high density in wells of a 24-well plate in 1 ml medium; under these conditions confluence was achieved within 24 hours.

3.1.3 Treatments

Stocks solutions of Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN were prepared in DMSO and stored at 4 °C until use.

3.1.3.1 Direct cytoprotection

Different series of concentrations (0, 25, 50, 60, 75, and 100) μ g/ml of Q, EGCG, I3C and SFN and 0.8 mM tert-butyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP) in complete culture medium with or without FBS were added simultaneously to the cells for 5 hours (i.e., no pre-exposure to the antioxidants).

3.1.3.2 Indirect cytoprotection

HepG2 cell cultures were treated with different series of concentrations (0, 25, 50, 60, 75, and 100) μ g/ml of Q, EGCG, I3C and SFN in complete culture medium with or without FBS for 20 hours prior to exposure to 0.8 mM t-BHP for 5 hours. A solvent control (culture medium containing 0.5% DMSO) was run concurrently.

3.1.3.3 Effect of serum

The influence of serum on cell survival was assessed by culturing HepG2 cells in culture medium lacking foetal bovine serum or containing FBS in the concentration range 0.1 to 10% (v/v) for short (5 hours) and long exposure (20 hours).

3.1.3.4 Neutral red assay

Neutral red uptake assay was used to determine the viable cells after treatment and is based on the incorporation and binding of neutral red into the lysosomes of viable cells (Repetto *et al.* 2008). The antioxidant activity of compounds can be measured using this method; cells are seeded in 24-well plate and are treated with chemicals and then incubated for 1 hour with medium containing neutral red (contains 3.3 g neutral red/L of DPBS) after cells are washed subsequently by warm PBS. Cold fixative (is prepared by mixing 250 ml ethanol, 250 ml distilled water, and 5 ml glacial acetic acid) is used to display the stain and the absorbance is read using a spectrophotometer at 540 nm.

3.2. Statistical analysis

Results were entered into Graphpad Prism 4, from which mean \pm S.D. and TC₅₀ values were determined for SFN and I3C whilst EC₅₀ values were determined for Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN. Values were derived from at least 3 independent experiments. One-way ANOVA followed by selected comparisons by the Bonferroni method was used to compare the EC₅₀ values obtained under different culture conditions.

3.3 results

3.3.1 Phytochemical mediated protection against *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide t-BHP induced cytotoxicity in HepG2 cells

Cytoprotection assay is based on the protection of human hepatoblastoma HepG2 cells under oxidative stress induced by t-BHP. The prolonged exposure to the phytochemical would allow any up-regulation of cytoprotective proteins to have occurred (Alia *et al.* 2006b). For the present work, the four selected phytochemicals Q, EGCG, I3C, SFN were incubated with HepG2 cells for (a) 5 hour with t-BHP simultaneously using serum free medium and medium containing 2% or 10% serum (b) 20 hours to prior exposure to t-BHP for 5 hours using serum free medium and medium containing serum free me

3.3.2 Direct cytoprotection

Q and EGCG were selected as active direct cytoprotectants. Under conditions of direct cytoprotection scenario and using 10% serum, cell viability was not affected by the incubation with Q for 5 hours and 100% cells survived. Moreover, Q was able to protect HepG2 cells against oxidative stress induced by t-BHP directly and cell viability was reached to about 85-90% at concentration 100 μ g/ml of Q and EC₅₀ was 39±4.5 (μ g/ml) (Fig 3.1a). A notable positive relationship was reported for EGCG and cell viability for 5 hours, in that direct cytoprotection was increased when the concentration of EGCG was increased and EC₅₀ was 84.7±7.4 (μ g/ml). Furthermore, EGCG was not toxic to HepG2 cell during the period of incubation and cell viability was 100% (Fig.3.1b). In addition, Q was significantly more active than

EGCG (lower EC₅₀, p \leq 0.001) (table 3.1). Both indirect antioxidants SFN (Malaguti *et al.* 2009) and I3C (Krajka-Kuzniak *et al.* 2011) were not tested as they do not exhibit direct antioxidant behaviour (Fig. 2.1).



Figure 3.1 Effect of 5-hour exposure to (a) Q (0-100 μ g/ml) and (b) EGCG (0-100 μ g/ml) on cell viability in the absence (\blacksquare) or presence (\bullet) of t-BHP, conducted in the presence of 10% serum. EC₅₀ (μ g/ml) for Q and EGCG was 39±4.5 and 84.7±7.4 respectively and not determined for I3C and SFN. * Means values of phytochemicals with t-BHP were significantly different to values without t-BHP (p≤0.05). Statistical significance was only tested at those concentrations of polyphenol at which there was some evidence of protection emerging. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

3.3.3 Indirect cytoprotection

Results showed that Q was not toxic to the cells in the concentration range tested, in that viability was maintained when cells were incubated with Q for 20 hours. Although Q failed to provide full cytoprotection at low concentrations such as 25 μ g/ml where viability was 25%, it provided high protection and viability increased to reach 80% at 100 μ g/ml and EC₅₀ was 34±5.3 μ g/ml (Fig.3.2a).

EGCG showed no cytotoxicity at any concentration in the range tested and maintained cell viability of the cells at 100% to each concentration in the range. On the other hand, cells incubated with EGCG overnight were partially protected from t-BHP toxicity at 50 μ g/ml of EGCG to obtain approximately 50% of viability and after that viability of cells declined slowly to reach about 25% at 100 μ g/ml and EC₅₀ was more than 100 μ g/ml (Fig 3.2b).

Incubation of HepG2 cells with I3C for 20 hours to detect the toxicity effect of this compound showed an inverse relationship between cell viability and concentration of I3C. At 25μ g/ml, cell viability was recorded 100% and it gradually declined to about 60% at 100 µg/ml of I3C and TC₅₀ was 98.1±0.0. Moreover, when the cells were maintained with I3C for 20 hours and then exposed to t-BHP for 5 hours, there was evidence of cytoprotection against t-BHP and EC₅₀ could not be determined. I3C provided cytoprotection at 60 and 75 µg/ml and the highest cell viability was about 50% at 60µg/ml but when the concentration of I3C was increased, viability dropped to approximately 0% at 100µg/ml (Fig.3.2c).

SFN was toxic to the cells at concentrations higher than $1\mu g/ml$, with a marked decline in cell viability from 100% to about 0% when concentration of SFN increased from 5 to $20\mu g/ml$ where TC₅₀ was $3.9\pm0.91 \mu g/ml$. Moreover, SFN was

70

inactive and failed to give any small protection to the HepG2 cells at any concentration in the range tested and EC_{50} could not be determined (Fig.3.2d).



Figure 3.2 Effect of 20-hour exposure to (a) Q (0-100 µg/ml), (b) EGCG (0-100 µg/ml), (c) I3C (0-100 µg/ml), and (d) SFN (0-20 µg/ml) on cell viability in the absence (\blacksquare) or presence (\bullet) of t-BHP, conducted in the presence of 10% serum. EC₅₀ (µg/ml) for Q was 34±5.3, EGCG ≥100, and not determined for I3C and SFN. TC₅₀ ((µg/ml) for SFN was 3.9 ±0.91 and for I3C was 98.1±0.0. * Means values of phytochemicals with t-BHP were significantly different to values without t-BHP (p≤0.05). Statistical significance was only tested at those concentrations of polyphenol at which there was some evidence of protection emerging. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

3.3.4 Effect of serum

Serum had no effect on the viability of the cells when different serum concentrations were used for short (5 hours) and long (20 hours) exposure periods (Fig.3.3a and b). This allowed a further study of the cytoprotection provided by the chemicals, this time under both reduced serum (2% as opposed to 10%) and serum-free conditions.



Figure 3.3 Effect of (a) 5-hours and (b) 20 hours exposure to culture medium containing different serum concentration on HepG2 cell viability. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

3.3.5 Direct cytoprotection: effect of serum

(a) Medium 2% serum

As the previous results showed that serum has no effect on the viability of HepG2 cells, experiments were repeated involving 5-hour exposure to Q, EGCG, I3C and SFN with t-BHP simultaneously, this time in medium containing 2% serum.

Results displayed no loss in cell viability when HepG2 cells were incubated with different concentrations of Q (0-100 μ g/ml). On the other hand when cells were exposed to t-BHP for 5 hours in the presence of Q, cells were protected against toxicity by Q and protection was very notable when cell viability increased as concentration of Q increased to reach to about 90-95% at 100 μ g/ml of Q and EC₅₀ was recorded 16.1±2.4 μ g/ml (Fig.3.4a).

Under similar condition of incubation, viability of cells was maintained 100% during incubation with EGCG and EGCG was not toxic at any concentration used. An enhancement in protection has shown this time when HepG2 cells exposed to t-BHP in the presence of EGCG; cell viability was gradually increased to 75% at 100 μ g/ml of EGCG and EC₅₀ was 51.2±8.3 μ g/ml (Fig.3.4b).

I3C and SFN were inactive due to their inability to protect cells from oxidative stress induced by t-BHP, the viability of the cells near from 0% where EC_{50} for both was unable to determine (Fig 3.4c and 3.4d). Moreover, a decline in the viability of cells recorded when cells were exposed to SFN at concentration higher than 1µg/ml and reached 10-15% at 10 µg/ml with a TC₅₀ of 4.6±0.78 while I3C was not toxic to the cells by itself at any concentration in the range this time and cell viability remained unaffected.



Figure 3.4 Effect of 5-hour exposure to (a) Q (0-100 μ g/ml), (b) EGCG (0-100 μ g/ml), (c) I3C (0-100 μ g/ml), and (d) SFN (0-10 μ g/ml) on cell viability in the absence (\blacksquare) or presence (\bullet) of t-BHP, conducted in the presence of 2% serum. EC₅₀ (μ g/ml) for Q was 16.1±2.4, EGCG 51.2±8.3, I3C and SFN \geq 100. TC₅₀ for SFN was 4.6±0.78. * Means values of phytochemicals with t-BHP were significantly different to values without t-BHP (p<0.05). Statistical significance was only tested at those concentrations of polyphenol at which there was some evidence of protection emerging. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

(b) Serum-free medium

Under certain conditions of serum-free medium, Q and EGCG were not toxic to the cells when both of them are incubated individually with HepG2 cells (Fig.3.5a and b). When cells incubated with Q and t-BHP simultaneously for 5 hours, protection increased and cell viability reaching 80-100% at concentrations of 25-100 μ g/ml and EC₅₀ was 17.9±18 μ g/ml (Fig.3.5a). Similarly, EGCG increased the protection of the cells against oxidative stress induced by t-BHP and increased the viability of the cells to about 55-80% at concentrations of 25-100 μ g/ml and EC₅₀ was determined as 23.4 ±7.2 μ g/ml (Fig.3.5b).



Figure 3.5 Effect of 5-hour exposure to (a) Q (0-100 µg/ml) and (b) EGCG (0-100 µg/ml) on cell viability in the absence (\blacksquare) or presence (\bullet) of, using serum-free medium. EC₅₀ (µg/ml) was for Q 17.9±18, EGCG 23.4 ±7.2. × Means values of Q with t-BHP were significantly different to values without t-BHP (p≤0.05). * Means values of phytochemicals with t-BHP were significantly different to values without t-BHP (p≤0.05). Statistical significance was only tested at those concentrations of polyphenol at which there was some evidence of protection emerging. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments

3.3.6 Indirect cytoprotection: effect of serum

Under serum-free conditions, Q was not toxic to the cells at any concentration in the range and cells were still a live by 100%. Furthermore, Q produced a concentration-dependent protection against t-BHP with total protection above 50 μ g/ml and EC₅₀ was 33.8±4.0 μ g/ml (Fig.3.6a).

Similarly EGCG was not toxic to the cells at 50 μ g/ml and viability was reached about 100%, before it declined to reach about 80% at 100 μ g/ml where EC₅₀ was 27.8±9.9 μ g/ml (Fig.3.6b).

Viability of cells was markedly affected by I3C which was obviously toxic and caused a decline in viability; it decreasing from about 80 % at concentrations of 50 μ g/ml no viable cells at 100 μ g/ml of I3C and TC₅₀ was 72.13±5.9 μ g/ml. Moreover, I3C under these conditions failed to protect HepG2 cells against t-BHP toxicity where EC₅₀ was more than 100 μ g/ml (fig.3.6c). Results obtained by SFN were identical to the results from cellular assay when HepG2 cells were exposed to SFN for 20 hours using medium containing 10% serum prior to exposure to t-BHP (Fig.3.6d) and EC₅₀ was more than 100 while TC₅₀ was 5.81±0.27 μ g/ml.



Figure 3.6 Effect of prior 20-hour exposure to (a) Q (0-100 µg/ml), (b) EGCG (0-100 µg/ml), (c) I3C (0-100 µg/ml), and (d) SFN (0-10 µg/ml) on cell viability in the absence (\blacksquare) or presence (\bullet) of t-BHP, using serum-free medium. . EC₅₀ (µg/ml) was for Q 33.8±4.0, EGCG 27.8±9.9, I3C and SFN ≥100. TC₅₀ (µg/ml) for I3C was 72.13±5.9 and for SFN was 5.81±0.27. * Means values of phytochemicals with t-BHP were significantly different to values without t-BHP (p≤0.05). Statistical significance was only tested at those concentrations of polyphenol at which there was some evidence of protection emerging. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

	ЕС₅₀ (µg/ml)						
Antioxidant	20-hour	Exposure	5-hour Exposure				
	Medium Serum	Medium Serum-	Medium Serum	Medium Serum	Medium Serum-		
	10%	free	10%	2%	free		
Q	34.1±5.3 n =8	33.8±4.0 n=3	39.9±4.5 n=5	16.1±2.4* n =7	17.9±1.8* n=3		
EGCG	NE	27.8±9.9 n=3	84.7±7.4 n=4	51.2±8.3* n= 3	23.4±7.2*, ° n=3		
I3C	~60' n=2	NE	ND	NE	ND		
SFN	NE	NE	ND	NE	ND		

Table (3.1).EC₅₀ (the effective concentration of phytochemical providing 50% protection).Values are reported as mean \pm S.D; n=number of experiments, *significantly different to 5-hour (10% and 2% serum) (P<0.001). *Significantly different to 5-hour 10% serum (P<0.001), ° significantly different to 5-hour 2% serum (P<0.001). NE= no effect, ND= not determined, ' = Response varied between experiments. One-way ANOVA followed by selected comparisons by the Bonferroni method was used to compare the EC₅₀ values obtained under different culture conditions.

	TC₅₀ (μg/ml)				
Antioxidant	20-hour	5-hour Exposure			
	Medium Serum 10%	Medium Serum-free	Medium Serum 2%		
I3C	98.1±0.0	72.13±5.9	ND		
SFN	3.90 ±0.91	5.81±0.27	4.60±0.78.		

Table (3.2).TC₅₀ (the effective concentration of oxidant providing 50% toxicity).Values are reported as mean \pm S.D; n=number of experiments.

3.4 Discussion

There is considerable current interest about the involvement of natural antioxidants in cytoprotection against oxidative stress (Alia *et al.* 2006b).

Our main goal was to detect the influence of the four phytochemicals Q, EGCG, I3C and SFN on cell viability and to what extent can they provide protection against cell death stimuli such as t-BHP in the presence and/or absence of serum in culture medium. According to this, different patterns of cellular assay including direct and indirect cytoprotection were used for this purpose. Two aspects can help to explain the findings, role of albumin and structure of the antioxidant compounds.

Although albumin has antioxidant properties where it can define against toxicity effect of DHA, cis-4, 7, 10, 13, 16, 19-docosahexaenoic acid which can be found in fish-oil (Kanno *et al.* 2011), it interferes in the running of the assay and effect on results (Alia *et al.* 2006a; Gulden *et al.* 2006) through binding to antioxidant resulting in decrease antioxidant activity (Gulden *et al.* 2006).

Albumin is a highly soluble protein contains 585 amino acid and has a molecular weight of 66 kDa (Rothschild *et al.* 1988). It represents approximately 50% of total plasma protein, thus the amount of albumin is 3.5 g/100ml, and for 10% serum the albumin amount equals 0.35 g/100ml which is the amount of albumin in medium contain 10% serum which was used. This amount is not much different from the amount of albumin in interstitial fluid (IST). Thus, albumin content in (IST) from human aortas has been estimated to be 0.2 g/100ml (Smith 1982), interstitial fluid/plasma ratio for albumin 0.42 (Rutile 1977), and interstitial fluid from rat skin 2.1 g/100ml which is represent 63% of plasma albumin concentration, in that the amount of albumin in 10% is 0.21 g/100ml (Patel *et al.* 2010).

Accordingly, the use of medium containing 10% serum approximated exposure of cells to (IST) in most tissues (Rutili and Arfors 1977; Smith and Staples 1982)

We found that serum has no effect on cell viability during incubation for 5 and 20 hours (Fig 3.3a and b). This indicates that any variations in cytoprotection later on may be attributed to the presence of foreign substances such as oxidants and antioxidants.

With regards to direct cytoprotection, the mechanism is based on the principle of scavenging free radicals directly through donation of hydrogen atom from scavenger, an antioxidant, to the radical and so inactivating it (Chiodo *et al.* 2010).

Therefore, compounds that possess hydroxyl groups in their structure such as Q and EGCG are considered as main source for hydrogen atoms donation during hydroxyl sites attack by free radicals (Chiodo *et al.* 2010; Xiao and Kai 2012). Decrease the potency of Q and EGCG to scavenge free radicals during cytoprotection may be attributed to the presence of albumin where it binds to hydroxyl groups and prevent them from being free for radicals attack and hydrogen donation (Xiao and Kai 2012). This is clear when the activity of Q and EGCG was increased as the amounts of albumin decreased from 10% to 2% and serum-free medium and the hydroxyl groups were free to some extent from binding to that little amount of albumin resulting in increased the capability to scavenge radicals considerably (Gulden *et al.* 2006). On the other hand, I3C and SFN failed to scavenge free radicals, although I3C has one hydroxyl group in its structure, and this is attributed to the lack of any direct antioxidant properties.

With respect to indirect cytoprotection, the four compounds displayed different cytoprotective activities. Antioxidant activity of Q was increased and EGCG was enhanced when albumin was omitted. It is obvious that the absence of albumin was responsible for increase of antioxidant activity considerably, EGCG in particularly where Q and EGCG were being free from binding to albumin. On the other hand, I3C contributed partially in cytoprotection and this incomplete cytoprotection is mainly attributed to cytotoxicity effect of I3C at higher concentrations where it caused cell death during cellular incubation. Moreover, absence of albumin increased the toxicity effect of I3C because it holds antioxidant activity which participates in providing cellular protection (Kanno *et al.* 2011) from I3C and this was clear from decline TC₅₀ value from 98 to 72 μ g/ml.

SFN failed to provide any cytoprotection at any concentrations due to the toxicity effect of SFN which kills cell even at low concentrations. Under this condition, toxicity of SFN was proportional with albumin and TC_{50} was increased when amount

82

of albumin was decreased. This means that albumin may be participated in transporting and distributing SFN in its site of action in cell and when it is reduced or omitted from culture medium resulting in minimizing the toxicity effect of SFN.

3.5 Conclusion

The antioxidant activity of Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN was influenced by both duration of treatment and presence of serum proteins.

It is likely that the effect of duration of treatment is linked to the different actions of direct versus indirect antioxidants where the short treatment including free radical scavenging, while the long one is based on up-regulation of proteins. On the other hand, the effect of serum is likely linked to the binding of the phytochemicals to the plasma proteins.

Phytochemical treatments by using medium 10%, 2% serum, and serum-free medium were approximately expressed their effect in vivo where 10% serum represents the amount of albumin in interstitial fluid whilst serum-free medium represents the entities of proteins in brain.

Q and EGCG were not toxic in any pattern of cellular assay while toxicity effect of I3C and SFN were influenced by time of incubation and presence of albumin.

Chapter 4

Mechanism of toxicity of t-BHP

Chapter 4

Mechanism of toxicity of

t-BHP

4. Introduction

Programmed cell death or apoptosis is a second type of cell death beside necrosis. It is described as an active programmed process of autonomous cellular dismantling to remove unwanted cells (Fink and Cookson 2005) that enter the program either as part of physiological cell death because of age or in response to cellular stress or infection (Green 1998) where there is no inflammation and cellular contents are not released (Fink and Cookson 2005; Green 1998). Therefore, apoptosis is important for elimination of pathogen-infected cells in human disease and for regulation of immune system in human health (Mccarthy *et al.* 1992).

Moreover, apoptosis is used to maintain a constant number of cells through balance between the rapid proliferation of cells that are produced normally in humans every day and cell death (Huang 2002). If this balance is changed in different direction then it causes pathological consequences such as in cancers where lossing is increased (Thompson 1995).

Apoptosis occurs via two pathways, the intrinsic and the extrinsic. The extrinsic includes caspases activation after receptor involvement, while intrinsic pathway

involves release of cytochrome c from mitochondria into the cytosol. All events in both pathways subsequently lead to effector caspases cleavage and induction of apotosis (Schafer and Kornbluth 2006). Apoptosis can be induced by internal and external stimuli such as DNA damage, presence of cytokines (Fas ligand, TNFalpha), oxidative stress, viruses, etc. (Piret *et al.* 2004).

tert-butyl hydroperoxide is well known as a source of external peroxy radicals through interaction with ferrous iron in reaction similar to Fenton reaction in cytosol (Kim *et al.* 1988; Slater *et al.* 1995; Williams and Jeffrey 2000). Therefore, t-BHP contributes in intracellular ROS production and consequently is implicated in oxidative stress and cell injury (Williams and Jeffrey 2000). Moreover, t-BHP has been applied to investigate the mechanism of cell damage initiated by oxidative stress (Rush *et al.* 1985) such as in hepatocytes where the intrinsic pathway has been proposed for t-BHP to cause cell death and induce changes in mitochondrial permeability and depolarization of the mitochondrial potential (Nieminen *et al.* 1997; Nieminen et al. 1995).

The endogenous antioxidant system is responsible for eliminating ROS. However, since these defences are not totally perfect, oxidative stress can be induced and impaired normal biological function occurs when endogenous antioxidant system are overwhelmed by ROS and become imbalanced (Gulati *et al.* 2007; Sohn *et al.* 2007).

ROS can serve as a signal during early stages of apoptosis while their production at later stages because of alteration in mitochondrial permeability is associated with the final destruction of the cell (Segovia and Berges 2009). Therefore, ROS may contribute directly in mitochondrial dysfunction but their function during apoptosis remains controversial. Later investigations have demonstrated that ROS are derived from mitochondria as a result of Fas activation (Bauer *et al.* 1998; Castaneda and Kinne 2001; Denning *et al.* 2002; Jayanthi *et al.* 1999; Um *et al.* 1996). Moreover

86

it has been found that during apoptosis in intestinal epithelial cells, ROS was capable of triggering Fas- and Bax-mediated death pathway (Oh and Lim 2006).

Intracellular enzymes such as glutathione peroxidase contribute to removal of ROS by using glutathione (GSH), an antioxidant, to catalyze the elimination reaction of H_2O_2 .

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of different concentrations of t-BHP on HepG2 cells in the presence and/or absence of phytochemicals. Moreover, two selected concentrations of t-BHP that cause cell death were used to determine GSH content, lipid peroxidation, ROS generation, caspase-3 activity, and caspase-3 activation which are indicated for apoptosis induction for up to 2.5 hours.

4.1 Materials and methods

4.1.2 Treatment of cells

HepG2 cells were cultured and seeding as shown in section 3.1.2 and then treated with different phytochemicals (Q, EGCG, I3C and SFN) for 20 hours prior to incubation with different concentrations (0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4 and 0.8 mM) of t-BHP for 5 hours in serum-free medium.

In related experiments, the effect of t-BHP on the viability of HepG2 cells was studied to determine whether t-BHP can induce apoptosis in these cells or not. HepG2 cells were distributed into 24-well plate and exposed to t-BHP (0.4 or 0.8 mM) for 5 hours in serum-free medium and medium containing 2% serum.

4.1.3 Effect of phytochemicals on caspase-3 activation by t-BHP: western blot

The effect of t-BHP on treated HepG2 cells with I3C and Q was studied using western blotting and viability test.

HepG2 cells were incubated with I3C (25 μ g/ml) using medium 10% serum for 20 hours prior exposure to 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for different periods of time (0, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150 minutes) for viability test while cells were exposed for 60 and 120 minutes for western blot using medium containing 2% serum. In addition, HepG2 cells were incubated with Q (100 μ g/ml) and 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP simultaneously for different periods of time (0, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150 minutes) in medium containing 2% serum. For western blot, HepG2 cells were incubated with Q (100 μ g/ml) and 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP simultaneously for different periods of time (0, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150 minutes) in medium containing 2% serum. For western blot, HepG2 cells were incubated with Q (100 μ g/ml) and 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP simultaneously for 60 and 120 minutes using medium containing 2% serum.

4.1.4 Apoptosis: programmed cell death detection

4.1.4.1 Preparation of Cell lysate samples

After exposure of the cells to the various test incubations, the plate was placed on ice, medium removed and 150 μ l of lysis buffer pH 7.6 (was prepared from dissolving 12.1g of Tris (20 mM), 1.9g of EGTA (1 mM), 500 μ l of Triton X-100

(0.1%), 0.021g of NaF (1mM), 1.08g of *b*-glycerophosphate (10 mM) in 500 ml distilled water) was added. The pellet was re-suspended and homogenised using a pestle to make sure that all protein was released from the cell. The lysate (20 µl) was placed into one Eppendorf tube for estimation of protein by Lowry assay (see section 4.1.3.2), whilst another 100 µl was placed into another tube for western gel.

4.1.4.2. Determination of protein level

The total level of protein was determined by using Lowry method which is based on the conversion of Cu⁺² to Cu⁺ under alkaline conditions (Lowry *et al.* 1951). A stock solution of 1mg/ml of bovine serum albumin (BSA) was prepared in water. From that solution, a series of dilutions were made to produce standard curve (see table below).

		RCA	Protein
Tube number	D.H ₂ O	DSA	concentration
	(II)	(µI)	(mg/ml)
0	200	0	0
1	190	10	0.05
2	180	20	0.10
3	170	30	0.15
4	160	40	0.20
5	150	50	0.25
6	140	60	0.30
7	130	70	0.35
8	120	80	0.40
9	110	90	0.45

Lowry solution AB was prepared by mixing 20 ml of Lowry solution A (a solution prepared by dissolving 2 gm of sodium hydroxide NaOH, 1 gm of sodium dodecyl sulfate SDS, and 10 gm of sodium carbonate Na₂CO₃ in 500 ml of distilled water) with solution B (100 µl of 2% of sodium-potassium tartrate and 100 µl of 1% of copper sulphate CuSO₄), and then 1 ml of Lowry solution was added to all samples and BSA standards. All samples and BSA standard solutions were incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature and then, 100 µl of Folin reagent dilution 1:1 (1 ml of Folin reagent added to 1 ml of distilled water) was added to all samples and standards solutions. Solutions were transferred after mixing on the vortex to 96-well plate and incubated at room temperature for at least 45 min, and no more than 3 hours. The resulting absorbance was determined on spectra MAX 340pc plate reader at 750 nm.

4.1.5 in-Cell Western for Determination of Caspase-3 Activity

Following exposure of HepG2 cells to t-BHP for up to 120 minutes, the cells were washed with PBS, and then fixed by adding 150 μ l of (4% w/v) paraformaldehyde (20g paraformaldehyde solid dissolved in 500ml PBS containing 7 drops 10M NaOH) to each well and incubating for 30 minutes at room temperature. Fixative was aspirated. Cells were re-washed with PBS before 150 μ l of (0.1% v/v) Triton solution (0.1 ml Triton X-100 dissolved in 100ml PBS solution) was added to each well, and then incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature then aspirate. Cells were re-washed with PBS before 150 μ l of (5% w/v) milk, the blocking agent, (5g milk powder dissolved in 100ml PBS) was added to each well then left on plate shaker for an hour at room temperature, and then aspirate. Following this, 50 μ l of
primary antibodies, (2:1000) caspase-3 (2 μ l of caspase-3 antibody diluted in 1 ml of 5% milk) and (0.25:1000) GAPDH (0.25 μ l of GAPDH antibody diluted in 1 ml of 5% of milk), were added to each test well. The plate was incubated overnight on a plate shaker in cold room (4 - 6°C). Next day, primary antibodies solution was aspirated before each well was washed three times with PBS each 5 minutes, and then aspirated. Following aspiration of the plate, 100 μ l of secondary antibodies solution (8 μ l of goat anti rabbit IR800 and 6 μ l of goat anti mouse IR680 were diluted in 30 ml of 5% of milk) was added to each well and incubated on closed plate shaker for 60 minutes at 37 °C. The secondary antibody was light sensitive so addition to the assay plate was carried out quickly and the assay plate was covered during incubation. When incubation was finished, solutions were aspirated, and each test well was washed three times with PBS, aspirating after each wash. After aspirating the third wash, the assay plate was scanned by an Odyssey V3 software.

4.1.6 Immunocytochemistry

HepG2 cells were cultured on coverslips present in 24-well plate for 24 hours, next day cells were treated with 0.4 and 08 mM t-BHP using medium 2% serum for 0, 60, and 120 minutes. After treatment, HepG2 cells were fixed by paraformaldehyde (4%) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 30 min at room temperature, after then cells were washed by PBS and permeabilized using 0.1% Triton-X100 in PBS for 30 minutes. Non-specific biding sites were blocked by incubating cells with PBS containing 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 60 minutes at room temperature. Following this, 50 µl of primary antibodies, (1:200) caspase-3 (from Cell Signaling Technology) (2 µl of caspase-3 antibody was diluted in 200 ml of 5% milk) were

added to each well and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Next day, primary antibody was aspirated and the wells washed with PBS. After PBS washing, FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:800) (from Jackson Immuno Research) was added and the plate incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. Cell nuclei were stained with 4, 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Molecular Probes) dye (1µl:1000 µl PBS) for 5 minutes at room temperature to visualize all cells on coverslips. After extensive washing with PBS, coverslips were mounted with mounting medium without DAPI (Vectashield) and viewed through 63 x glycrine immersion lens objective with a Leica DMRA2 fluorescent microscope. Images were cropped and brightness and contrast were adjusted equally using the ImageJ Software.

Negative controls without primary antibody were included to ensure mininmal nonspecific staining.

4.1.7 Determination of caspase activity

Activation of specific proteases called caspases is considered to be one of the initial biochemical events of apoptosis (Alnemri *et al.* 1996). A Homogenous Caspases Assay kit from Roche was used for determination of caspase-3 activity.

After treatment, medium was aspirated, and then to each well of treated cells 175 μ l of working substrate was added; working substrate was immediately prepared by mixing 200 μ l of 500 μ M of DEVD-R110 stock solution in DMSO with 2.8 ml of incubation buffer (already prepared in bottle). While 87.5 μ l of working substrate was added to 87.5 μ l of working positive control which was prepared by mixing 10 μ l of stock positive control (lysate from apoptotic U937 cells treated with camptothecin) with 90 μ l of incubation buffer. For standard curve 87.5 μ l of working

substrate was added to 87.5 μ l of series of dilution 5, 2, 1, 0.5, 0.25, and 0.125 μ M that were prepared from 10 μ M of working standard solution; it was prepared by mixing 10 μ l of 1 mM of stock R110 standard with 990 μ l of media. For blank, 175 μ l of medium containing 2% serum was added.

After substrate addition, the plate was covered with a lid and incubated not less than an hour at 37 °C. Fluorescent plate reader was used to measure caspase-3 activity at excitation of 470-500 nm and emission of 499 nm.

4.1.8 Determination of intracellular ROS production

The level of intracellular ROS was measured by using the oxidation-sensitive fluorescent dye 2', 7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate DCFH-DA (Sakuma *et al.* 2009). This dye is a stable nonpolar compound and cell-permeable indicator of ROS because it can get readily into the cell as non-fluorescent compound DCFH which is oxidized by ROS to the highly fluorescent DCF (Oh and Lim 2006; Segovia and Berges 2009). DCFH-DA was dissolved in DMSO to a final concentration of 5 mM and then diluted to 10 μ M in complete PBS containing Ca⁺² and Mg⁺² before use. For ROS measurement, HepG2 cells were washed with complete PBS after pre-incubation with the probe DCFH-DA for 30 minutes. The washed cells including DCFH-DA as DCFH were then treated with t-BHP for different periods of time. Following the treatment, ROS was measured immediately in fluorescence spectrophotometry by using 485 nm and 520 nm wavelengths for excitation and emission respectively. The amount of ROS that are produced by the cells is proportional to the intensity of fluorescence generated (Oh and Lim 2006).

4.1.9 Determination of cellular glutathione (GSH) content

GSH in its reduced form (gamma-glutamylcysteinylglycine) is a major intracellular antioxidant in most eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells. It is considered as an important monitor for human diseases that are related to detoxification processes and oxidative stress (Lewicki *et al.* 2006). GSH was determined by the method of (Hissin and Hilf 1976).

Following treatment, cells were washed with PBS, and then 1 ml of 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) (10g of TCA was dissolved in 100 ml distilled water) was added to each well. The plate was covered and placed on a shaker for 30 minutes to mix and extract glutathione into TCA. The supernatant was collected in plastic tubes. Into 96 well-plates, 50 µl of cell/TCA supernatant, glutathione standard, and TCA blank was distributed before adding 200 µl of K₂HPO₄/OPT mixture; this mixture was prepared before use shortly by adding 2.5 ml of *o*-phthalaldehyde (OPT) (10 mg of OPT dissolved in 10 ml of methanol and stored in dark in fridge, this reagent was prepared weekly) to 7.5 ml of 0.4 M of K₂HPO₄ buffer (pH 8.2) (35g of K₂HPO₄ dissolved in 500 ml distilled water). The plate was left for 15 minutes to stand, and then the fluorescence was read on a fluorescent plate reader by using 360 nm and 460 nm wavelengths for excitation and emission respectively. The concentration of glutathione in samples was determined by reference to the standard solutions of GSH.

For glutathione standard curve, a series dilution of 100 μ M, 50 μ M, 25 μ M, 12.5 μ M and 6.25 μ M were freshly prepared from 1 mM of glutathione (3.07 mg of reduced form of glutathione was dissolved in 10 ml of 10% TCA) by using TCA. TCA was used as blank.

94

4.1.10 Determination of lipid Peroxidation (LPO)

After treatment, cells were collected in plastic tubes by adding 150 µl of 20% TCA (20g of TCA dissolved in 100 ml distilled water) to each well and mixing. The tubes were left to stand for 10 minutes, and then centrifuged, the precipitate being discarded. To 100 µl of supernatant (or standard), 100 µl of 0.67% TBA (2-thiobarbituric acid) (0.67g of TBA was dissolved in 100 ml distilled water) were added, and then tubes were heated at 95 °C for 20 minutes. The tubes were placed on ice to cool for 10 minutes; the pink colour appeared gradually. Finally, 1.5 ml of butanol was added to each tube and mixed before left to stand for 5 minutes. The fluorescence of the butanol layer was read on a fluorescent plate reader by using 530 nm and 590 nm wavelengths for excitation and emission respectively.

For standard curve, from 100 mM of 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (178.7 μ l was added to 10 ml of 20% TCA) a series dilution of 10, 5, 2.5, 0.625, 0.1, 0.05, 0.025, and 0.0125 mM was prepared.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Toxicity of tert-butyl hydroperoxide (t-BHP)

4.2.1.1 Incubation of HepG2 cells with phytochemicals, Q, EGCG, I3C, SFN using different concentration of *tert-butyl hydroperoxide* (t-BHP) in serum-free medium

The viability of HepG2 cells treated with or without (100 μ g/ml of Q, EGCG, and I3C and 10 μ g/ml of SFN) for 20 hours, using serum-free medium prior exposure to different concentrations (0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4 and 0.8 mM) of t-BHP for 5 hours was shown in (Fig. 4.1). This experiment was done to establish concentrations of t-BHP to use in subsequent studies.

Similar results were obtained from different sets of incubation of HepG2 cells with t-BHP in the absence of the four phytochemicals (table 4.1). Moreover, cell viability was decreased when the concentration of t-BHP was increased and reached to about 5% at 0.4 mM above in the absence of phytochemicals (Fig.4.1).

On the other hand, when HepG2 cells were incubated with phytochemicals for 20 hours prior to incubation with different concentration of t-BHP for 5 hours, different results were obtained. *T*-BHP had no effect of viability of the cells treated with Q and cells remained alive 100% during 5 hours of incubation (Fig. 4.1a) and TC50 was ≥ 0.8 mM (table 4.2). Identical results were obtained with EGCG where TC50 was ≥ 0.8 mM (table 4.2) but cell viability was slightly declined from 100% to about 90% and 85% at 0.4 and 0.8 mM respectively (Fig.4.1b). On the other hand, I3C protected HepG2 cells partially from toxicity of specific concentrations of t-BHP

where viability of cells was dropped from 100% by using 0.2 mM of t-BHP to about 60% and 10% by using 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP respectively (Fig.4.1c). Moreover, it was toxic to the cells and cause cell death at concentration lower than 0.6 mM t-BHP where TC50 was 0.54 (table 4.2). Similarly to I3C, partial protection was provided by SFN against the effect of t-BHP where viability of the treated cells with SFN was decreased to 80% by using 0.4 mM of t-BHP while it declined to about 25% by using 0.8 mM of t-BHP (Fig.4.1d), additionally, SFN cause cell death at concentration lower than 0.6 mM t-BHP where TC50 was 0.62 mM (table 4.2).



Figure 4.1 Effect of different concentrations of t-BHP (0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4 and 0.8 mM) on Viability of HepG2 cells in the presence (■) and absence (◆) of phytochemicals for up to 5 hours using serum-free medium values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

Phytochemical	Toxicity of t-BHP (expressed as TC_{50} , mM)	
µg/ml	Absence of Phytochemical	Presence of phytochemical
Q	0.29 ± 0.05	≥ 0.8
EGCG	0.27 ± 0.07	≥ 0.8
I3C	0.21 ± 0.08	0.54 ± 0.098
SFN	0.17 ± 0.07	0.62 ± 0.063

Table 4.1 TC₅₀ values for untreated and treated HepG2 cells with four chemicals Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN for 20 hours prior exposure to different concentration of t-BHP (0, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, and 0.8 mM) for 5 hours using serum-free medium. Values are Mean \pm SEM of 3 independent experiments.

4.2.1.2 Time dependence of t-BHP toxicity on HepG2 cells

Although 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP elicited similar level of toxicity (see Fig.4.1), it was apparent that I3C and SFN provided good cytoprotection only at the 0.4 mM concentration of *t*-BHP. Accordingly, 0.4 and 0.8 concentration of *t*-BHP were employed in further studies into the possible mechanism (s) underlying the toxicity of *t*-BHP to HepG2 cells and protection gained by the phytochemicals.

(a) In presence of 2% serum-containing medium

When serum concentration in culture medium was set at 2%, results showed that HepG2 cells retained their viability during an incubation time of 5 hours in the absence of t-BHP. On the other hand, viability of cells was affected by the presence of 0.4 mM of t-BHP when they were incubated for similar periods of time. It is

notable that with this concentration of t-BHP, cell viability dropped gradually from 100% at zero time to reach about 10% after 5 hour of incubation. It is seems that about 20% of cells dead after one hour of incubation. Similarly HepG2 cells recorded decline in their viability when 0.8 mM of t-BHP was used. A cell death was notable with higher concentration of t-BHP and about 90 % of cells were dead after two hours (cell viability reached till about 10% after two hours incubation) (Fig.4.2)



Figure 4.2 Viability of HepG2 cells incubated in the absence (\blacksquare) and presence of t-BHP at 0.4 mM (\blacklozenge) or 0.8 mM (\bigcirc) for up to 5 hours in medium containing 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

(b) In presence of serum-free medium

Results displayed that HepG2 cells were still alive during incubation with serum free medium for different periods of time (0-5 hours) and the omission of serum from culture medium for this had no effect on the viability of cells. Number of dead cells started to increase when cells incubated with 0.4 mM *t*-BHP after one hour and complete cell death occurred after four hours of incubation where non-viable cells was 100%. Similarly, extreme cell death was notable with 0.8 mM *t*-BHP during incubation time course where more than 50% of cells were dead after two hours of incubation and all cells were dead after three hours when cell viability recorded to be 0% (Fig.4.3).



Figure 4.3 Viability of HepG2 cells incubated in the absence (\blacksquare) and presence of *t*-BHP at 0.4 mM (\blacklozenge) or 0.8 mM (\bigcirc) for different periods of time in serum-free medium. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

4.2.2 Detection of caspase-3 activation

(a) With western blotting

Viability of untreated HepG2 cells was unaffected and cells retained 100% viability during incubation up to 150 minutes. A notable decline in viability of HepG2 cells was recorded after 60 minutes of incubation with 0.4 and 0.8 mM and cell death was increased as the incubation time increased to reach the maximum at 150 minutes of incubation where viability of treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 mM was dropped to about 60% whilst it dropped to about 25% with 0.8 mM (Fig 4.4). Therefore, HepG2 cells were incubated with t-BHP using 0.4 and 0.8 mM for specific time of incubation (60, 90, and 120 minutes) in 2% serum medium to detect caspase-3 activation under these conditions.

Equivalent amounts of protein from all HepG2 cell studies were loaded onto the electrophoresis gel after determination of protein content by Lowry assay by interpretation from a linear standard curve (Fig 4.5).

The positive control of Jurkat cells and the positive control of HepG2 cells treated with 50 mM of glucose for 72 hours were showed strong bands of procaspase-3 and active caspase-3 at 35 and 17 KDa respectively. Moreover, the procaspase-3 band of negative control of Jurkat cells at 35 KDa was also marked while no activation for caspase-3 could be seen at 17 KDa (Fig 4.6). These evidences show that caspase cleavage can be detected in HepG2 cells undergoing apoptosis. Procaspase-3 for untreated and treated HepG2 cells with t-BHP at 60, 90 and 120 min has been shown with strong bands at 35 KDa except samples treated with 0.8 mM of t-BHP at 90 and 120 minutes where bands were lighter than others. On the other hand, no strong evidence for caspase activation could be reported where all samples

102

displayed faint bands of active caspase-3 at 17 Kda but the less faint bands from all of them were the untreated HepG2 cells at 60 and the treated cells with 0.8 mM of t-BHP at 90 and 120 minutes (Fig 4.6) and (Fig 4.7 a and b).



Figure 4.4 Viability of HepG2 cells incubated in the absence (■) and presence of t-BHP at 0.4 mM (◆) or 0.8 mM (●) for different periods of time (0, 30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 minutes) in medium containing 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.5 Standard curve for protein.



Figure 4.6 Western blot of caspase-3 activation in HepG2 cells. blot showed the bands of procaspase-3 and its cleavage product at 35 and 17 KDa respectively for untreated and treated Jurkat cells and HepG2 cells treated with 50 mM of glucose for 72 hours and untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4, 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60, 90, 120 minutes using medium 2% serum.



Figure 4.7 Quantitative procaspase-3 (a) and active caspase-3 (b) of untreated and treated Jurkat cells and untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 50 Mm of glucose for 72 hours and with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60, 90, and 120 minutes using medium 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

(b) In-cell western

Results showed that there was no noticeable variation between untreated and treated HepG2 with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for 60 and 120 minutes (Fig 4.8). For 60 minutes incubation, no differences between incubated cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP and control. Similarly for 120 minutes incubation, no variations between untreated HepG2 cells treated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM. Results showed that there was no evidence for activation of caspase-3 (Fig 4.9a and b).



Figure 4.8 in cell-western for untreated and treated HepG2 with 0.4, 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60 and 120 minutes. (a) GAPDH mg/ml (B) caspase-3 (c) caspase-3/GAPDH). Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments



Figure 4.9 caspase-3 activity production (a) untreated and treated HepG2 with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60 (b) untreated and treated HepG2 with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 120 minutes. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

(c) Immunocytochemistry

Although the number of dead cells increased with the increase of incubation time of HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP using medium 2% serum (Fig 4.4), the immunocytochemistry results showed that incubation of HepG2 cells in the absence or presence of 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP at zero, 60, and 120 minutes had small effect on the activation of caspase-3 where a little variation can be seen during incubation with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP at 60 and 120 minutes (Fig 4.10).



Fig.4.10 immunocytochemistry for HepG2 cells (a) Incubation of untreated HepG2 cells for zero minutes (b) Incubation of untreated HepG2 cells for 60 minutes (c) Incubation of untreated HepG2 cells for 120 minutes (d) Incubation of treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 mM of t-BHP for 60 minutes (e) Incubation of treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 mM t-BHP for 120 (f) Incubation of treated HepG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP for 60 minutes (g) Incubation of treated HepG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP for 120 minutes (h) Incubation of HepG2 cells with medium containing 2% for 120 minutes(negative control). The red arrow points to the green spots of caspase-3. This is single experiment.

4.2.2.1 Caspase activity

The standard curve for caspase-3 activity was displayed a linear response (Fig 4.11). Cell viability was recorded that untreated HepG2 cells remained alive through incubation time for up to 150 minutes but it was not the same for treated cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP where it was declined from 90% to about 60% and 30% respectively (Fig 4.12a).

Results of caspase enzyme activity showed that the activity of enzyme in untreated HepG2 cells was unchanged during the incubation time up to 150 minutes. Cells treated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP displayed similar behaviours as their caspase enzyme activity declined after 30 minutes of incubation from 400 to reach about 300 and 200 for cells treated with 0.4 and 0.8 Mm t-BHP respectively (Fig 4.12b).

When caspase activity was adjusted for viability there was some variations observed at 150 minutes for HepG2 cells treated with 0.8 mM t-BHP. Results obtained from Friedman test for untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes showed significance and p value was 0.0278 ($P \le 0.05$) and results obtained by Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test indicated a significant increase in caspase activity at 0.8 mM t-BHP but not at 0.4 mM t-BHP (Fig 4.12c and d).



Figure 4.11 Standard curve of caspase activity



Figure 4.12 Caspase activity of HepG2 cells (a) Viability of untreated \blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\blacklozenge) and 0.8 mM of t-BHP 0.8 mM (\spadesuit) for different periods of time (b) caspase-3 activity production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\spadesuit) for 30, 90, and 150 minutes (C) caspase-3 activity production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\blacklozenge) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\spadesuit) for 30, 90, and 150 minutes (C) caspase-3 activity production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\spadesuit) and adjusted for viability (d) caspase-3 activity production by untreated (green bar) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (blue bar) and 0.8 (red bar) mM t-BHP at 150 minutes. * Significant where P≤ 0.05 and equal 0.0278 according to Friedman test and Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

In summary, results of western bolt, in-cell western, and immunocytochemistry, indicate that there was no much evidences for apoptosis when HepG2 cells incubated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM for 60, 90, and 120 minutes using medium containing 2% serum but there was significance increased in caspase-3 activity at 0.8 mM t-BHP. On the other hand, cell death was increased under the same applied conditions.

4.2.2.2 Effect of phytochemicals on t-BHP: western blot data

Although there was only modest indication for apoptosis in western blot, in-cell western and immunocytochemistry during incubation of HepG2 cells with t-BHP for up to 2 hours, there was obvious evidence for cell death and decline in viability of cells under these conditions. Therefore, the purpose of this experiment was to show the cytoprotective effect of direct and indirect antioxidants against the toxicity effect of t-BHP to induce apoptosis even the induction was slightly.

We chose 60 and 120 minutes specifically because at these times caspase-3 was activated slightly and faint bands appeared at 17 KDa (Fig 4.6). Moreover, Q was selected as example of direct antioxidant and I3C as example of indirect antioxidant to attain the cytoprotection effect against t-BHP.

To achieve the best cytoprotection by antioxidant, we relied on specific conditions from previous cytoprotection experiments including nontoxic concentration of antioxidant, cytoprotection pattern, and serum concentration.

(a) Direct cytoprotection

The best cytoprotection by Q against t-BHP effect was displayed by using direct cytoprotection pattern where HepG2 cells were incubated with Q (100 μ g/ml) and 0.8 mM of t-BHP simultaneously for 5 hours using medium containing 2% serum (Fig 3.4a) in chapter 3.

Therefore, incubation of treated HepG2 cells with Q (100 µg/ml) and 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP simultaneously for up to 150 minutes using medium containing 2% serum was studied. Under these conditions, cell viability was unaffected throughout the incubation with Q which means that Q was not toxic to the cells at that selected concentration and cell viability was retained 100%. Moreover, Q protected cells from the toxic effect of t-BHP and no decline in viability of cells was recorded at any time of incubation (Fig 4.13). Furthermore, caspase-3 for all the treated samples at 60, 90 and 120 min has been shown at 37 KDa with no evidence for caspase-3 cleavage at 17 KDa being identified at any time during the incubation (fig.4.14 and 4.15).



Figure 4.13 Viability of HepG2 cells incubated in the absence (\blacksquare) and presence of Q (*) and (Q +0.4) (\blacklozenge) or (Q + 0.8) mM of t-BHP \bigcirc) simultaneously for up to 150 minutes in medium containing 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.14 Western blot of caspase-3 in HepG2 cells. Blot showed the bands of procaspase-3 at 35 KDa for untreated and treated Jurkat cells and untreated and treated HepG2 cells with Q, and (Q+0.4 and Q+ 0.8) mM t-BHP for 60, 120 minutes using medium 2% serum. This blot was also showing caspase-3 activation of treated Jurkat cells and its cleavage at 17 KDa.



Figure 4.15 Quantitative analysis of active caspase-3 of treated Jurkat cells and the procaspase-3 of untreated and treated Jurkat cells and untreated and treated HepG2 cells with Q , (Q+ 0.4) and) Q+0.8) mM t-BHP for 60, and 120 minutes using medium 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

(b) Indirect cytoprotection

The best cytoprotection by I3C against the toxicity effect of t-BHP was shown by using indirect cytoprotection pattern where HepG2 cells were incubated with I3C (25µg/ml) for 20 hours in medium containing 10% serum prior exposed to 0.8 mM t-BHP for 5 hours using medium containing 2% serum (Fig 3.2c) in chapter 3.

Incubation of treated HepG2 cell with I3C (25 µg/ml) using 10% serum for 20 hours prior exposure to 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for up to 150 minutes displayed good results. Under these conditions, results of cell viability indicated that I3C was not toxic to the cells at that selected concentration and cells remained alive by 100% during all the time. Moreover, it was capable of protecting cells from the toxic effect of t-BHP till 90 min and recorded 100% cell viability but after that time a decline in viability was recorded at 120 and 150 min which was decreased to 75 and 50 % respectively (Fig 4.16). Moreover, caspase-3 for all the treated samples at 60, 90 and 120 min was visible at 37 KDa whereas the cleaved caspase-3 was not apparent at 17 KDa min comparing with the positive control (Fig.4.17 and 4.18).



Figure 4.16 Viability of untreated HepG2 cells (\blacksquare) and incubated cells with I3C for 20 hours (*) using medium containing 10% serum prior exposure to 0.4 mM (\blacklozenge) or 0.8 mM (\blacklozenge) t-BHP for up to 150 mintes in medium containing 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 4.17 Western blot of caspase-3 in HepG2 cells. Blot showed the bands of procaspase-3 at 35 KDa for untreated and treated Jurkat cells and untreated and treated HepG2 cells with I3C for 20 hours using medium containing 10% serum before exposure to medium containing 2% serum for 60 and 120 minutes, and with I3C for 20 hours using medium containing 10% serum before exposure to 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for 60, 120 minutes using medium 2% serum. This blot was also showing caspase-3 activation of treated Jurkat cells and its cleavage at 17 KDa.



Figure 4.18 Quantitative analysis of active caspase-3 of treated Jurkat cells and the procaspase-3 of untreated and treated Jurkat cells and untreated and treated HepG2 cells with I3C for 20 hours using medium containing 10% serum before exposure to medium containing 2% serum for 60 and 120 minutes, and with I3C for 20 hours using medium containing 10% serum before exposure to 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 60, 120 minutes using medium 2% serum. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

4.2.3 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Results showed that cell viability of untreated HepG2 cells were not affected during all incubation time and viability of cells was 100% during the incubation while viability of the treated cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP decreased from 80% to about 60% and from % 75 to 25% after 2.5 hour of incubation with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP respectively (Fig 4.19a).

ROS production increased gradually with incubation time of HepG2 cells with or without t-BHP, using medium 2% serum. HepG2 produced ROS during incubation with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for up to 150 minutes (Fig 4.19b). No significant variation could be detected between untreated HepG2 and HepG2 cells treated with 0.4 mM of t-BHP.

When ROS production by HepG2 cells was adjusted for viability of HepG2 cells incubated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for up to 150 minutes, results showed that no differences between untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP during incubations for up to 120 minutes but statistical differences was observed between untreated and treated cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes (Fig 4.19c). statistical analysis results from Friedman test followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test showed significance between control and treated cell with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes and P value equals 0.0278 ($p \le 0.05$).



Figure 4.19 ROS production by HepG2 cells (a) Viability of untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\blacklozenge) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\bigcirc) for different periods of time (b) ROS production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\bigcirc) for different periods of time (15, 30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 minutes) (C) ROS production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and adjusted for viability. (d) ROS production by untreated (green bar) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (blue bar) and 0.8 (red bar) mM t-BHP at 150 minutes. *Significant value could be obtained where P≤ 0.05 and equal 0.0278 according Friedman test and Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

4.2.4 Glutathione (GSH)

Results of standard curve for GSH demonstrated linear response (Fig 4.20). Viability of untreated HepG2 cells remained unaffected during incubation for different periods of time (0, 30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 minutes) whereas number of dead cells treated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP was increased when incubation time increased and viability of cells was declined after 2.5 hours of incubation from 80% to about 60% and to 25% for cells treated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP respectively (Fig 4.21a).

Glutathione (GSH) content for untreated HepG2 cells remained approximately constant when cells incubated for up to 150 minutes in the absence of t-BHP while the amount of GSH for treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP was decreased after 2.5 hours of incubation from 70 fluorescence units to reach about 25-30 fluorescence units for both treatments (Fig 4.21b).

When GSH production by HepG2 cells was adjusted for viability of HepG2 cells that incubated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 minutes, results showed that no differences between untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP during incubations for up to 150 minutes (Fig 4.21c). Results from Friedman test and Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test showed that no significance at 150 minutes where P value equals 0.0608 ($p \ge 0.05$).


Figure 4.20 Standard curve of GSH.



Figure 4.21 GSH production by HepG2 cells (a) Viability of untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\blacklozenge) and 0.8 mM of t-BHP (\bigcirc) for different periods of time (15, 30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 minutes) (b) GSH production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\bigcirc) for up to 150 minutes (C) GSH production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\bigcirc) and adjusted for viability (d) GSH production by untreated (green bar) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 mM t-BHP (\bigcirc) and adjusted for viability (d) GSH production by untreated (green bar) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (blue bar) and 0.8 (red bar) mM t-BHP at 150 minutes where no significance results could be obtained according to Friedman test where p equals 0.0608 (p≥0.05) and Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

4.2.5 Lipid peroxidation (LPO)

Results of viability of untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP for different periods of time 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, and150 minutes showed that the untreated cells were alive during all the incubation time whereas viability of both treated cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP were declined after 2.5 hours of incubation from 80% to about 60% and 30% for 0.4 and 0.8 mM of t-BHP respectively (Fig.4.22a).

Lipid peroxidation (LPO) increased gradually for untreated HepG2 cells and HepG2 cells and HepG2 cells treated with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for up to 150 minutes. LPO produced by untreated cells increased from 150 fluorescence units to about 180 fluorescence units while LPO that produced by HepG2 cells treated with 0.4 mM of t-BHP was increased from 200 fluorescence units to about 220 fluorescence units at 120 and declined to 210 fluorescence units again. Similarly with 0.8 mM of t-BHP treated cells, produced LPO which was increased from 220 fluorescence units to about 250 fluorescence units at 120 minutes and declined again to about 250 fluorescence units at 150 minutes and (Fig. 4.22b).

When LPO production was adjusted for viability it displayed different results. Results showed that no differences between all untreated and treated cells during incubation time from 15 to 90 minutes and a very little variation could be noticed between them at 120 minutes of incubation but a big difference and significant variation was observed at 150 minutes of incubation between untreated and treated cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP where p equals 0.0046 ($p \le 0.05$) (Fig 4.22c and d).



Figure 4.22 Production of LPO by HepG2 cells (a) Production of LPO by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\blacklozenge) and 0.8 ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) mM t-BHP for different periods of time (15, 30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 minutes) (b) viability of untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) mM t-BHP for up to 150 minutes (c) LPO production by untreated (\blacksquare) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (\diamondsuit) and 0.8 ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) mM t-BHP and adjusted for viability (d) LPO production by untreated (green bar) and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 (blue bar) and 0.8 (red bar) mM t-BHP at 150 minutes. **Indicates control significantly different to treated HepG2 with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes where p=0.0046 according to Friedman test and Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test. Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

4.3 Discussion

4.3.1. Toxicity effect of t-BHP

The choice of t-BHP was based on the fact that it is one of the most common prooxidant agents used in cell lines such as HepG2 cells as a model to study the effect of oxidative stress in cell systems and cell death pathways (Alia et al. 2006b; Sardao et al. 2007). It can decompose to free radicals, (Flora *et al.* 1998) increase of which might be a primary factors for hepatotoxicity (Sohn *et al.* 2007).

In the present study, t-BHP elicited cell death at concentrations of t-BHP greater than 0.2 mM, with distinctly different time course of toxicity and effectiveness of phytochemicals at concentrations of 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP, even though the overall cytotoxic effect of the two concentrations of t-BHP was similar after 5 hours exposure. These findings led us to explore the mechanism (s) of toxicity of t-BHP at these two concentrations, preliminary ideas postulating that 0.4 mM might elicit more of an apoptosis mechanism of damage inspired to a more necrotic mechanism at 0.8 mM, as similar concentrations-dependent shifts in mechanism of toxicity have been proposed for other chemicals (Piret *et al.* 2004; Sardao *et al.* 2007).

4.3.1.1 Effect of phytochemicals

Under same conditions, Q and EGCG significantly protected HepG2 cells against oxidative damage at any concentration of t-BHP and this may be attributed to the up-regulation of proteins by those antioxidants which increased protections and prevented damages. Although I3C and SFN prevented cells damages at concentrations lower than 0.2 mM t-BHP through up regulation of proteins, the full protective effect of I3C and also SFN could not be recognized at concentrations higher than 0.2 mM t-BHP where the treated cells with I3C were partially protected at 0.4 mM t-BHP and avoidable high cell damage were visualized at 0.8 mM t-BHP. The reason for this can be supportive by what found previously where the up-regulated proteins of treated HepG2 cells with I3C and SFN are considerably overwhelmed by free radicals of high concentrations of t-BHP, 0.8 mM t-BHP in particular. Moreover, the toxicity concentrations of I3C and SFN that were used may significantly interact with t-BHP in cell death in the absence of serum. The omission of albumin represents the absence of its antioxidant properties (Kanno *et al.* 2011) which probably increased oxidative damages induced by t-BHP, high concentration of I3C and SFN.

4.3.1.2 Time dependence and effect of serum

With regards to the time of incubation with t-BHP, oxidative cell damage caused by 0.8 mM t-BHP were higher than 0.4 mM at the extended time of incubation either in the presence or absence of serum. The generated amounts of free radicals by t-BHP are increased as the concentration of the t-BHP increased such that the amounts of free radicals produced by 0.8 mM are higher than the amounts in 0.4 mM. Therefore, cells were considerably damaged when they were exposed to 0.8 mM t-BHP comparing with 0.4 mM and these damages were significantly proportional with the time of incubation. Moreover, the effect of serum to reduce the number of dead cells either in 0.4 or 0.8 mM with the time was obvious where it decrease cell death according to its antioxidant protective effects (Kanno *et al.* 2011).

4.3.2 Detection of caspase-3 activation

When cells undergo apoptosis, proteases (caspases) are cleaved (Nagata 2000). Participation of this caspase family, in particular caspase-3, in signalling and apoptosis represents the crucial importance of these enzymes in this form of cell death (Thornberry 1999). This study analysed caspase-3 cleavage by western blotting and detected its activity to ascertain if t-BHP initiated apoptosis in HepG2 cells.

Approximately 40 to 70% cell death occurred after 150 minutes of incubation with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP respectively (Fig 4.1). 60, 90 and 120 minutes of incubation time were selected to analyse caspase-3 and determine apoptosis of untreated and treated HepG2 cells with t-BHP. The reason for this was because apoptosis and activation of caspase-3 is expected during the early stages of the cell death cascade. Caspase-3 are activated and apoptosis could be confirmed in treated HepG2 cells with glucose and in treated Jurkat cells but not in HepG2 cells treated with t-BHP for selected times. This may be because that HepG2 cells were exposed to high concentrations of glucose for long times which allowed activating caspases-3 and consequently apoptosis was induced. We cannot rely on the same explanation for treated HepG2 cells with t-BHP because we have cell death without apoptosis where bands of activated caspase-3 were not markedly elevated or remained low as compared with positive and/or negative control. Moreover, in cellwestern and immunocytochemistry results we could not find strong visual evidence in caspase-3 activation either in untreated or treated HepG2 cells with t-BHP for 60 and 120 minutes. It is possible that calpains may play a role in down-regulation of caspase-3 activation during cell death pathway due to chronic mitochondrial defects (Bizat et al. 2003b).

The intervention studies have suggested inactivation of caspase-3 by calpain. Although predominance of calpain over caspase-3 in spite of a transient activation of caspase-9 has remained speculative assumptions (Bizat *et al.* 2003a), a cross-talk between caspases and calpains has been discovered (Blomgren *et al.* 2001; Chua *et al.* 2000; Lankiewicz *et al.* 2000; Wolf *et al.* 1999). The mechanism of this cross-talk includes abnormal activation of calpain due to increase in the intracellular Ca⁺², the caspase-9/-3 apoptotic pathway then may be partially blocked by calpain which leads to the cell death as well as inactivation of caspase-3 (Bizat *et al.* 2003b).

4.3.2.1 Caspase activity

Although little evidences of caspase-3 activation with western blotting, in-cell western, and immunocytochemistry were obtained, caspase-3 activity increased significantly in treated HepG2 cells with 0.8 mM at 150 minutes which may suggest that there was activation for caspase-3 and apoptosis induction. The reason for the little bands in western blotting may due to the role of calpain which may prevent apoptosis due to direct or partial blocked for caspase-3 activation (Bizat *et al.* 2003b).

4.3.2.2 Effect of Q and I3C on caspase-3 activation

Cytoprotection results of Q (Fig 3.4a) and I3C (Fig 3.2c) against toxicity effect of t-BHP encouraged us to test them in western blotting and confirmed their potency in preventing the slight partial activation of caspase-3 induced by t-BHP. We chose the optimum cytoprotection conditions of Q and I3C from concentration, cytoprotection pattern, and effect of serum according to previous results that showed their antioxidant activity in order to achieve high protection.

Q directly contributed in defence of HepG2 cells against t-BHP where cells retained 100% viable during all the time. The protection was provided by hydroxyl groups that belong to Q through attacking free radicals that produced by t-BHP and inactivated them. Western blot results of Q were identical to viability where no evidence for presence of bands of cleaved caspase-3 in untreated cell with and without Q and t-BHP could be formed. This confirmed that concentration of Q was not toxic to the cell at those selected time due to no evidence for caspase-3 activation and it was capable to prevent the partial activation of caspase-3 which was slightly seen previously in treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 mM t-BHP at 60, 90, and 120 minutes and 0.8 mM t-BHP at 60 minutes.

We chose 25 µg/ml of I3C to study the cytoprotection effect of this compound in HepG2 cells treated with t-BHP because it was not toxic to the cell during incubation. Moreover, since I3C displayed indirect antioxidant activity when it was incubated with cells for 20 hours in medium 2% serum, HepG2 cells were incubated with I3C and t-BHP using these conditions.

I3C was capable of providing full cytoprotection against 0.4 mM t-BHP during 150 minutes of incubation and cells were remained alive 100%. The reason for this changing in cytoprotection behaviour against 0.4 mM t-BHP this time because low concentration of I3C was being used which in turn prevented cell death by I3C. Western blot results were identical with viability where no evidence for activated caspase-3 bands which means that I3C was not toxic at that concentration and it even protected cells from 0.4 mM t-BHP probably by up-regulating proteins, prevented caspases activation and stopped apoptosis induction. On the other hand and although I3C was partially protected treated HepG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 120 and 150 minutes there was no evidence for apoptosis in western blot accompanying cell death. The reason for this, the low of concentration of I3C was

unable to protect cells against 0.8 mM t-BHP for long time which caused low activation of caspase-3. This imperceptible activation did not display as bands in blot may be because the role of calpain which blocked even that slightly activation and stopped apoptosis.

4.3.3 Reactive oxygen species

Although ROS generated in small amounts in untreated and treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP for up to 120 minutes, increased the apparent cell death was observed at 150 minutes in HepG2 cells treated with 0.8 mM t-BHP where ROS amounts increased significantly. ROS initiate in early stages of apoptosis and before the completely death of cells they are just signals, and, secondly, when there are impaired mitochondrial oxygen reduction this causes alterations in mitochondrial permeability leading to production of ROS. Finally, the produced ROS induce the depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane and lead to further mitochondrial dysfunction (Oh and Lim 2006; Segovia and Berges 2009). Moreover and because the complete cell death occurred after 2.5 hours, ROS may be generated after 90 minutes of incubation which then impaired and consequently being low or observed later than the exact time, this impairing may be attributed to NAC, the scavenger of ROS which may abolish the increased amounts of ROS (l'Hoste *et al.* 2010).

4.3.4 Glutathione (GSH)

GSH plays a fundamental role in protecting cells from oxidative stress by scavenging ROS (Reed 1990) and therefore, GSH decreases when ROS increases (I'Hoste *et al.* 2010). Our findings indicated no significant decrease in GSH content, this imperceptible decreased in GSH was accompanying with increased cell death which may be explained by either no ROS generated or the amount of ROS are not much to cause depletion of GSH content. Our previous finding represented that t-BHP induced apoptosis because caspase-3 activity and ROS were increased significantly in treated HepG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes. Moreover and relying on our suggestion about ROS, the remaining of ROS after NAC involvement were not too much to consume large amount of GSH which consequently led to decrease GSH slightly.

4.3.5 Lipid peroxidation

Great attention has been paid to free radicals and peroxidation of lipids-containing lipoprotein system of cells due to their implication in oxidative stress and damaging cell components (Wallin *et al.* 1993).

Increased lipid peroxidation (LPO) level and cell death in treated HepG2 cells with 0.4 and 0.8 mM t-BHP comparing with control indicated that t-BHP can provoke cell death in HepG2 cells due to lipid peroxidation. According to this beside statistical

results of LPO, ROS and caspase-3 activity we can suggest that apoptosis can be induced in HepG2 cells due to lipid peroxidation initiation.

4.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, apoptosis can be induced in treated HepG2 cells treated with t-BHP but the exact time for induction could not be determined successfully because much of confusing factors may contribute in apoptosis signalling disorder such as calpain in caspase-3 activation and NAC in ROS which led to induce apoptosis late.

Phytochemicals completely or partially reduced the cytotoxicity effect of t-BHP and may be involved in cytoprotection for future studies.

Chapter 5

Evaluation of direct cellular assay for NQO1

Chapter 5

Evaluation of a direct cellular assay for NQO1

5 Introduction

Experimental studies in cell culture and animal models have pointed that cancer may be prevented by the protective effects of natural agents in food (Shokouhi et al. 2008). Recently, evidences of the protective effects of phytochemicals such as SFN have increased due to awareness of induction of phase II detoxifying enzymes, NQO1 in particular (Tarozzi *et al.* 2009). On the other hand, it has been found that diet enriched with catechins may affect the ability of the organism to detoxify free radicals and environmental xenobiotics through a significant decrease in NQO1 activity due to an unclear reason. Therefore further studies are needed to established cell-based assays for NQO1 as part of screening programmes for modulation of NQO1 activity (Wiegand *et al.* 2009).

A recent cell-based assay for NQO1 was described by Bongard *et al.* (2011), based on modulation of duroquinone. NQO1 is a phase II enzyme that catalyses the linked intracellular conversion of NADPH₂ to NADP and duroquinone (DQ) (Fig 5.2) to hydroduroquinone (DQH₂) in cell. The DQH₂ product leaves the cell and is converted to DQ, during which ferricyanide [Fe (CN6)⁻³] is reduced to ferrocyanide [Fe (CN6)⁻ ⁴]. This enzymatic reaction can be prevented by dicumoral, the inhibitor of NQO1 (Fig 5.1).



Figure 5.1 reduction of Ferricyanide to Ferrocyanide according to NQO1 activity in the cell.

Different methods have been used to determine NQO1 activity. The classic NQO1 enzyme assay is the usual method for measuring NQO1 activity in cell lysates whereas the intact-cell activity has largely been inferred from functional results such as antioxidant activity or toxicity of NQO1-catalyzed activation of the compound under study (Lee *et al.* 2005). Therefore, we chose to determine the intact-cell activity in order to investigate the effect of Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN in stimulating NQO1 activity. In brief, DQ-mediated reduction of the cell-membraneimpermeative secondary electron acceptor, ferricyanide, was used to quantify intact-cell NQO1 activity. This approach involves adding quinone duroquinone to the cells and then measuring the appearance rate of the two-electron reduction product, durohydroquinone by its reduction of ferricyanide (Bongard *et al.* 2011).

5.1 Materials and methods

5.1.2 Chemicals

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, Pool, and Dorset, U.K.

5.1.3 Treatment of cells

HepG2 cells were cultured in 24-well plates for 24 hours and then incubated with phytochemicals (100 µg/ml of Q, 100 µg/ml of EGCG, 25 µg/ml of I3C, and 1 µg/ml of SFN) for 20 hours in complete culture medium prior to incubation with 1 ml HBSS/Hepes solution per well by itself or containing 600 μ M ferricyanide or 600 μ M ferricyanide + 50 μ M DQ, these concentraions being those employed in the original paper by Bongard et al. (2011). HBSS/Hepes solution contained Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution with 10 mM HEPES buffer pH 7.4 and 5.5 mM glucose. Incubation at 37°C was for up to 60 minutes. Culture wells were washed extensively three times with PBS after incubation with phytochemicals in order to prevent the interference between these compounds and ferricyanide. In a related experiment, HepG2 cells were incubated as described above with no prior treatment with phytochemicals. The absorbance ferricyanide of in the medium was measured spectrophotometrically at 412 nm using spectrophotometer: Multiskan Ascent manufactured by Thermo Electron Corporation.



Figure 5.2 duroquinone = (2, 3, 5, 6-Teramethyl-1,4-benzoquinone, Tetramethyl-p-benzoquinone $C_{10}H_{12}O_2$)

5.2 Results

Results demonstrated that ferricyanide was not reduced on incubation with HepG2 cells alone (Fig 5.3, green square) but was efficiently reduced in the presence of duroquinone (Fig. 5.3, red circle), absorbance falling from about 0.14 to about 0.02 after incubation for one hour ((Fig. 5.3).

In, cells pre-treated with Q for 20 hours, ferricyanide was reduced to ferrocyanide in the absence of duroquinone (Fig. 5.3a), the extent of which was greater in the presence of duroquinone (Fig. 5.3a).

Similar results were obtained with cells pre-incubated with EGCG, although the rate of ferricyanide reduction in the absence of duroquinone was rather less than observed in cell pre-treated with Q (Fig 5.3b).

On the other hand, no direct (i.e in the absence of duroquinone) reduction of ferricyanide was observed in cells pre-treated with either I3C or SFN (Fig. 5.3c and d) respectively, and the reduction of ferricyanide in the presence of duroquinone in cells pre-treated with I3C or SFN was no greater than that in cells not treated with these compounds.

Taken together, these results suggested that the rate of duroquinone-mediated reduction of ferricyanide in HepG2 cells was not enhanced after treatment with any one of four phytochemicals known to induce NQO1 activity. The results also indicated that the two direct antioxidants of the four phytochemicals tested (i.e. Q and EGCG) interfered in the assay in that they mediated ferricyanide reduction in the absence of duroquinone.



Figure 5.3 NQO1 activity expressed by Ferricyanide $2K_3Fe$ (CN) $_6$ reduction and achieved by incubation of HepG2 cells with Fe+3 (600 μ M) (), Fe+3 (600 μ M) +DQ (50 μ M) () in (a), (b), (c), (d), and with:

(a) Fe^{+3} (600 μ M) +Q (100 μ g/ml) (\checkmark), and Fe^{+3} (600 μ M) + DQ (50 μ M) + Q (100 μ g/ml) (\blacklozenge).

(b) Fe^{+3} (600 µM) +EGCG (100 µg/ml) (), and Fe^{+3} (600 µM) + DQ (50 µM) +EGCG (100µg/ml) ((c) Fe^{+3} (600 µM) +I3C (25 µg/ml) (), and Fe^{+3} (600 µM) + DQ (50 µM) +I3C (25 µg/ml) (). (d) Fe^{+3} (600 µM) +SFN (1 µg/ml) (), and Fe^{+3} (600 µM) + DQ (50 µM) +SFN (1 µg/ml) (). Values are Mean±SEM of 3 independent experiments.

5.3 Discussion

In the present study, we aimed to use the four compounds as antioxidants against oxidative stress for further studies into stimulation of NQO1 enzyme mechanism, as measured by the DQ-mediated reduction of ferricyanide as described by Bongard *et al*, 2011.

It was very important to determine that Fe⁺³ was reduced according to the NQO1 activity with no external interference with the enzymatic reaction, therefore we incubated HepG2 cells with ferricyanide alone (i.e in the absence of phytochemicals).

Neither I3C nor SFN had any effect on Fe^{+3} reduction which means that any reduction to Fe^{+2} may be attributed to the activity of NQO1 which catalyses the conversion of duroquinone to hydroduroquinone, with linked conversion of ferricyanide reduced to ferrocyanide. On the other hand, ferric ion was reduced to ferrous ion in both cells treated with Q and EGCG, thus the reduction reaction may due to the effect of these two compounds and not to NQO1 activity.

The possible mechanism for Q and EGCG action can be suggested as being linked to their direct antioxidant activity; accordingly, ferric ion can be reduced to ferrous ion by Q and EGCG (not duroquinone) through accepting electron from them and by thus Q and EGCG interfered with enzymatic reaction. Additionally, Q and EGCG possess quinone structure which is missing in SFN as well as in I3C and this similarity in structure with duroquinone allowed them to be reduced by NQO1 due to two-electron transfer instead of duroquinone which consequently led to interference NQO1 action. Moreover, the long incubation time of HepG2 cells with Q and EGCG (20 hours) allowed them to penetrate the cell and remain inside and act

as substrate of NQO1 and involved reduction reaction even through the treated cells were extensively washed by PBS.

On the other hand, it seems possible that the cell-based assay can be used to study modulation of NQO1 activity by compounds such as I3C and SFN which act by indirect antioxidant mechanisms.

5.3 Conclusion

NQO1 activity assessed by DQ-mediated reduction of ferricyanide cannot be measured in intact cells following treatment with Q or EGCG because they interfere in the enzymatic reaction. This suggests a major limitation to use of this assay to screen for induction of NQO1 activity by plant-derived chemicals and extracts.

Chapter 6

General discussion

Chapter 6

General discussion

6 General discussion

The daily consumption of vegetables and fruits rich with antioxidants such as onion, garlic, cruciferous vegetables, citrus fruits, and green tea has a clear impact in improving the health of the individual and disease resistance (Riboli and Norat 2003). Recently, scientists have interested to study the effects of plant-derived extracts containing compounds that possesses antioxidant properties (Stanner *et al.* 2004). Polyphenols are considered one class of these compounds and most of their components have been proved effective in treating diseases, especially the intractable ones such as cancers (D'Archivio *et al.* 2007). However, their bioavailability are affecting by several factors such as plasma protein where hydroxyl group in the B-ring of flavonoids enhanced the binding affinities to proteins (Xiao and Kai 2012) which may cause metabolism delay.

Therefore we are interested in these compounds and believed that they or at least most of them may be effective, and open in the future the prospects of medical and to answer on how to treat medical conditions that have to date proven resistant to therapeutic solutions.

We selected two polyphenol compounds, Q from flavonol and EGCG from flavanol (catechins), and two isothiocyanate compounds, I3C and SFN, to test their effect on

the HepG2 cells. In this regard, liver was chosen as a model for toxicity because it is particularly susceptible to toxins as well as oxidative insults and the portal vein brings blood to this organ after intestinal absorption (Martin et al. 2008). Although HepG2 cells are classified as cancer cells we used these cells as a model to identify the protective effect of phytochemicals against oxidative stress induced by t-BHP by culturing cells in high density to be confluent and non-dividing. Our aim was to identify these compounds and their chemical properties to employ them later on for further cellular protection against oxidative stress induced by t-BHP. The antioxidant properties of the four selected compound were tested by using free radical scavenging assay or known as DPPH assay which is considered one of the trusted, common, and reliable methods (Clarke et al. 2013), especially for vegetables and fruits to assess the antioxidant potency to scavenge free radicals (Magalhaes et al. 2008; Moon and Shibamoto 2009; Sanchez-Moreno 2002). The mechanism of free radical scavenging is based on the direct attacking and radicalization of free radicals by the hydroxyl groups on the antioxidant compounds, flavonoids in particular due to multiple numbers of hydroxyl groups (Ben Sghaier et al. 2011; Xiao and Kai 2012) on their structure. For this reason, EGCG (Masamune et al. 2005) and Q (Chiodo et al. 2010) are considered as direct antioxidants and that was compatible with their potent activity in the DPPH assay, EGCG was more active than Q due to high numbers of hydroxyl group on its structure where it possesses 9 hydroxyl groups while Q was less active than EGCG because it has only 5 hydroxyl groups in structure. Moreover it has been suggested that once the EGCG molecule has trapped the free radicals it becomes stable due to *ortho*-di-hydroxyl groups positioned on the B-ring of EGCG which confers a high stability to the trapped EGCG (Bors et al. 1990; Salah et al. 1995). In relation to Q, we believed in action that this molecule can employ hydroxyl groups on its structure and directly metabolize O_2 through oxygenlysis process (Fiorucci *et al.* 2004) where hydroxyl group on B-ring plays a distinctive role in radical scavenging action (Trouillas et al. 2006). On the other hand and according to the inactive behaviours of I3C and SFN

in free radical scavenging, we considered that they are not direct antioxidants. However I3C possesses one hydroxyl group but it may be not enough to inactivate the free radicals. So any defensive activity of I3C and SFN against oxidants may be attributed to a mechanism other than the direct one.

The main characteristic of antioxidant studies is the possibility of employing them for cellular protection against oxidative stress; therefore we derived our work in this direction in the intertie of providing new information on the time dependence of cytoprotection and the influence of serum in the culture medium. With regard to serum albumin, we used medium containing 10% serum in direct and indirect cytoprotection to reach the approximated exposure of cells to interstitial fluid (IST) in most tissues. Medium made up with 10% (v/v) serum contains approximately 0.35 g/100ml of albumin where human plasma at normal concentrations between 35 and 50 g/L (Rothschild et al. 1988), a value that is not far away to that found in interstitial fluid (IST); various authors provided values for IST albumin level to be between 0.15 and 0.21 g/100ml (for references see chapter 3). Moreover, since serum had no effect on cell viability in the absence of phytochemicals and t-BHP during short or long incubation time, we suggested that any variations in cytoprotection may due to the presence of phytochemical and oxidant due to binding of these compounds to serum albumin. Earlier studies have shown that binding of substances such as sulfadiazine, salicylate or phenylbutazone to human plasma and human serum albumin is inversely related to protein concentration (Boobis and Chignell 1979) and D'Archivio et al. (2007) have mentioned that the activity of flavonoids may decreased because of binding to serum albumin. Therefore and in order to avoid the interference of serum with chemicals which may affect results (Alia et al. 2006b), we decreased the amount of albumin to 2% and free-serum medium later on.

With respect to direct cytoprotection, structure of antioxidant and serum albumin played an essential role in evaluation of antioxidant activity. Although EGCG (Masamune et al. 2005) and Q (Chiodo et al. 2010) are potent direct antioxidants due to multiple number of hydroxyl groups on its structure that participate in free radical scavenging (Ben Sghaier et al. 2011; Xiao and Kai 2012), their activities during cellular protection were low. The reason for this decline in antioxidant activity may be attributed to the effect of albumin because activity of EGCG and Q increased when serum decreased or omitted. We suggested that albumin may bind to hydroxyl groups on phytochemicals and prevent them from being free for radicals attack and hydrogen donation which consequently lead to a decrease in the antioxidant activity. Similar suggestion has been made by Otagiri (2005) and Zsila and Iwao (2007) who have studied binding of serum to different components of polyphenols and reported that the bioactivities of polyphenol were often executed in complex biological system such as blood where various interactions take place. Moreover Xiao et al. showed in 2009 that increasing the hydroxyl groups on ring B of EGCG increases the affinity to serum while Rohn et al. (2004) reported that the total antioxidant activity of Q decreased by interaction between quercetin-BSA in comparison to an equivalent amount of free quercetin. Although we generally excluded I3C and SFN from direct cytoprotection experiments because of lack of any direct antioxidant properties, we did use them in one experiment including medium 2% serum and they were inactive.

Similarly, serum albumin had a crucial effect on the results of indirect cytoprotection pattern where the activity of Q and EGCG increased when serum decreased or omitted. This probably because serum binds to Q and EGCG which lowered the activity of these compounds (Rohn *et al.* 2004; Xiao *et al.* 2009). On the other hand, partial protection provided by I3C against the toxicity effect of t-BHP during 20 hours exposure to HepG2 cells in medium 10% serum may attributed to the up-regulating proteins. According to the literature, I3C and its acid condensation products (I3C-A) have been classified as indirect antioxidants where upregulation of QR has been attributed to the synergistic co-activation of the ARE

152

and the XRE by I3C-A and crambene, another phytochemical (Nho and Jeffery 2004). On the other hand and during indirect cytoprotection in lack of serum, the cell death caused by higher concentrations of I3C suggested that this compound is totoxic but its totoxic effect was much reduced in the presence of serum. Although we did not know what is the non-toxic concentration of I3C used in literature under our conditions that were used but it was obvious that serum has cytoprotective effects. Serum albumin possesses antioxidant properties and the cytotoxicity effect of DHA on HCC cell line can be modulated by serum albumin (Kanno et al. 2011). With regards to SFN, it is known to act as indirect antioxidant (Malaguti et al. 2009) but we could not prove this because SFN was cytotoxic and caused cell death may be due to high concentrations that were used. It has been strongly recommended that this compound should be used in low concentration otherwise the significant inhibitory effect would occurr (Yeh and Yen 2005). Moreover, a relevance between cytotoxicity of SFN and omission of albumin suggested that serum albumin may play an essential role in binding with SFN and transporting it inside cell and causing cell death. It is well known that the transportation, metabolisim, deposition, and efficacy of drugs are strongly affected by their binding to serum albumin (Trnkova et al. 2011).

With regard to cytotoxicity, we utilized t-BHP as a model of an oxidant compound in cellular reaction to induce oxidative stress in cell system by producing free radicals, which might be the main factor for hepatotoxicity and caused cell death. t-BHP is an organic hydroperoxide, which can decompose to free radicals (Rush *et al.* 1985). Once inside cells, the free radicals generated from t-BHP induce several physiological alterations alongside loss of cell viability via necrosis or apoptosis (Sardao *et al.* 2007). Our finding represented that complete cell death occurred by two different concentrations of t-BHP and initial proposition was made to hypothesis that 0.4 mM t-BHP might elicit more of an apoptosis as opposed to more necrosis at 0.8 mM. Reports have suggested that high concentration of t-BHP may induce

necrosis. Additionally, the type of cell death may be varied according to the conditions of cellular treatment including type of cell line, concentration of t-BHP and time exposure to cell. For example, oxidative stress induced in H9c2 myoblasts after one hour treatment with 50 μ M t-BHP whereas after 6 hours treatment with 50 and 100 μ M t-BHP detachment and cell death occurred (Sardao *et al.* 2007). Moreover, studies have demonstrated that treatment of cardiomyocytes with 1 mM t-BHP induced loss of cell shape, depletion of ATP, and formation of adenosine (Andersson *et al.* 1996) while others reported that this concentration caused significant increase intracellular calcium concentration in cardiomyocytes isolated from rat (Daly *et al.* 1991).

Apoptosis, a form of programmed cell death, is considered one of the most potent defence processes against diseases such as cancer where potentially deleterious mutated cells are eliminated (Martin 2006a). Moreover, activation of caspases is considered one of the major features of apoptosis and can be used to distinguish it from other types of cell death (Fink and Cookson 2005). Although our findings presented a significant increase in caspase-3 activity in treated HpG2 cells with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes, little visual evidence for apoptosis by western blotting, in-cell western, or immunocytochemistry due to slightly indications for activated caspase-3 was observed and this may because that caspase-3 confused and delayed by calpains. It is possible that calpains may play a role in down-regulation of caspase- 3 activation during cell death pathway due to chronic mitochondrial defects (Bizat et al. 2003b). Suggestions have been made by scientists about inactivation of caspase-3 by calpain. Although predominance of calpain over caspase-3 in spite of a transient activation of caspase-9 has remained speculative assumptions (Bizat et al. 2003a), a cross-talk between caspases and calpains has been discovered (Blomgren et al. 2001; Chua et al. 2000; Lankiewicz et al. 2000; Wolf et al. 1999). The mechanism of this cross-talk includes abnormal activation of calpain due to increase in the intracellular Ca⁺², the caspase-9/-3 apoptotic pathway then may be partially blocked by calpain which leads to the cell death as well as inactivation of caspase-3 (Bizat et al. 2003b). Our hypothesis to induce apoptosis was confirmed by other parameters in such that significant increase in ROS level at late time of incubation 150 minutes by 0.8 mM t-BHP. We expected that the significant increase in ROS level would occur before that time because generation of ROS is initiated at the early stages of apoptosis and before death of cells, as demonstrated in the literatures (Shih et al. 2004). We can assume that amounts of generated ROS may be removed guickly by NAC, scavengers of ROS, which they abolish the increased amount of ROS (I'Hoste et al. 2010). With regards to GSH, it plays a fundamental role in protecting cells from oxidative stress by scavenging ROS (Reed 1990) and therefore, GSH decreases when ROS increases (I'Hoste et al. 2010). Our concerning findings about ROS indicated that they increased significantly in HepG2 cells treated with 0.8 mM t-BHP at 150 minutes therefore; we tend to suggest that the generated amounts of ROS may be removed by NAC, the scavenger of ROS, resulting in consumed small amounts of GSH which consequently led to decrease GSH slightly. Studies have reported that depletion of GSH may be involved in apoptosis induction in HepG2 cells treated with T.arjuna (Sivalokanathan et al. 2006). The last parameter assessed was LPO, is a form of cellular damage beside nucleic acid and protein breakdown induced by ROS (Esterbauer and Cheeseman 1990). During LPO formation, a large number of toxic by-products (Devasagayam et al. 2003) are produced, derived from the breakdown of polyunsaturated fatty acids; and these include malonaldehyde (MDA) and 4hydroxy-2(E)-nonenal (4- HNE) (Esterbauer and Cheeseman 1990). These products behave as a toxic 'second messenger' because they affect at sites distance from the place of their generation which subsequently cause highly functional cellular damage (Raha and Robinson 2000). In our results, the significant increased level of LPO accompanying with increased cell death at later time of treatment was reported and this suggest that apoptosis is occurred. A rising level of malondialdehyde

following oxidative stress induced by iron ions in corneal endothelial cells and increased apoptosis was observed (Serbecic *et al.* 2005).

After identifying the mechanism of toxicity induced by t-BHP, the next step was the utilizing of phytochemicals to stop apoptosis induction through inactivation of caspase-3. We selected Q and I3C which are differed in their antioxidant properties to provide protection under the optimum cellular conditions from, concentration, cytoprotection pattern, and presence of serum. Inactivation of caspase-3 by Q suggested that this compound is an effective cytoprotectant, and it can downregulate caspase activation and prevent apoptosis. The proposed mechanism based on the pattern of cytoprotection where Q scavenged free radicals initiated from decomposition of t-BHP immediately. Earlier studies have shown that Q exhibited inhibitory effect on caspase-3 activation and prevent apoptosis in rat glioma C6 (Chen et al. 2006). Moreover, the slight bands of activated caspase-3 were disappeared from blot when HepG2 cells treated with I3C which suggested that I3C stopped apoptosis induction. To the best to our knowledge no publications about the cytoprotective effect of I3C in HepG2 cells under the cellular conditions used to inactivate caspase-3 and stop apoptosis induction have been reported. Numerous reports have pointed the role of I3C to induce apoptosis in many type of cancer cells and angiogenesis (Kunimasa et al. 2010) and (Choi et al. 2010). We suggested the mechanism of I3C action in such that, I3C is a good cytoprotctant under condition that we used and it may activate the suppressors of apoptosis such as Bcl2, Bcl-XL, and Mcl-1 or down-regulate the activator of apoptosis such as Bax, Bok, and Hrk which subsequently resulting in stop apoptosis induction (Tan et al. 2009).

In related study of phytochemicals with NOQ1 , the induction of phase II enzyme, in particular NQO1 prevents the generation of ROS and toxic semiquinone radicals by reducing compounds with a quinone structure due to two-electron transfer (Wiegand *et al.* 2009). We attempted to assess NQO1 activity in intact cells in the

156

absence and/ or presence of phytochemicals by determining the reduction of ferric ion. As the principle of this assay is based on the ability of NQO1 to catalyse the conversion of duroquinone to hydroduroquinone where this enzymatic reaction is linked with reducing of ferricyanide to ferrocyanide (Bongard *et al.* 2011) therefore, lower the reduction reaction rate of iron is considered important sign of NQO1 activity. In the absence of duroquinone, evaluation of Q and EGCG in inducing NQO1 in intact HepG2 cells seemed to be impossible because each of them interfere with the reduction reaction resulting in effect on NQO1 assessment whilst I3C and SFN are not. The overlapping caused by Q and EGCG in enzymatic reaction may be attributed to the fact that each of them possesses quinone structure where I3C and SFN are missing that. Therefore, the long incubation for Q and EGCG with cells may allow them to penetrate inside the cells and being reduced by NQO1 as quinone compounds which subsequently leading to reduced ferric to ferrous.

In this study, our aim was to develop a cellular protection assay for identification of antioxidant activity in plant extracts which may be used for further therapeutic reasons. We used four compounds Q, EGCG, I3C, and SFN classified within polyphenols groups; including flavonols, flavones, flavanones, catechins (flavanols), anthocyanidins, isoflavones, dihydroflavonols and chalcones (Iwashina 2000), which are considered to be the most abundant antioxidants in human diet (D'Archivio *et al.* 2007). We examined the activity of these compounds *in vitro* and found that duration of incubation time and presence of serum has impact on their activity. From all compounds, Q was the active compound under any cellular conditions. However we do not know what is the effect of Q and/or other compounds *in vivo*. Intervention studies have shown that polyphenols are absorbed after consumption of food rich with polyphenols where an increase in polyphenol plasma concentration are recorded (Cao et al. 2010) such that significant increase Q plasma concentration has observed after Q consumption and the Q plasma concentration has increased from 332 $\pm 21 \mu g/L$ to 516 $\pm 30.8 \mu g/L$ when the amount of Q

administrated increased from 500 mg/day to 1000 mg/day respectively (Jin et al. 2010). From this, it seems that increased consumption of Q may lead to increase Q plasma concentration; however Jin et al (2010) did not investigate the toxicity of Q when the large amount of Q are consumed, although the lack of any report of toxicity could indicate a lack of obvious toxicity. These amounts of Q plasma concentration in μ g/ml equal 0.3 and 0.5 respectively which are less than by 10 times of the lower concentration that we were used in cytoprotection studies 6 μ q/ml. The big difference in concentrations that we were used and Q plasma concentration can be explained by fact that the experimental studies are demonstrating the protective effect of phytochemicals against high concentrations of the pro-oxidant such as t-BHP for short time; therefore high concentrations of polyphenols are required to display the protective effects of these compounds. Whereas in vivo the damages that caused by different factors such as smoking, drinking alcohol, or fat foods are slow and may take years to be observed. In addition, to reach the concentration of phytochemicals, Q in particular or their metabolites in plasma we can suggest for further cytoprotection studies to decrease the concentration of t-BHP in order to mimic the oxidative stress which may display the protective effect of Q in low concentrations. With regard to our result, I3C and SFN produced concentration-dependent cell death while Q and EGCG were not toxic under cellular conditions used. Accordingly, and depends on the intervention studies which elucidated an increase in polyphenol plasma concentration after administration (Cao et al, 2010; Jin et al, 2010), we may assume the possibility of using high doses of Q and EGCG to achieve high Q and EGCG-plasma concentration $(100 \ \mu g/ml)$ as they did not appear toxic, although more caution is urged for I3C and SFN in *in vivo* studies in light of their cytotoxicity.

The *in vivo* intervention studies have shown that the bioavailability of polyphenols may be affected by several factors after administration of diet rich with flavonoids, such as binding to plasma protein where hydroxyl groups in the B-ring enhanced

158

the binding affinities to proteins and these bindings may have consequence for the delivery of free polyphenols and/or their derivatives to tissues and cells (Xiao and Kai 2012). Therefore, in future *in vivo* studies with Q and EGCG we may expect that free Q and EGCG plasma concentration will be lower than expected because of this plasma protein binding issue.

The inverse association between the incidence of various diseases and the intake of foods rich in polyphenols (D'Archivio *et al.* 2007) strongly suggests the desirability of following a polyphenol-rich diet. Clearly, the fate of such ingested polyphenols needs to be considered. Glucuronidation, methylation, and sulphation reactions are important metabolic processes that occur to diet polyphenol constituents after administration (Xiao and Kai 2012). These processes are considered the common detoxification pathways that lead to an increased solubility and a higher molecular weight and addition of either glucuronic acid, methyl or sulfate group respectively to the xenobiotic substrate (Day *et al.* 2000).

Epidemiological studies have shown the metabolism of polyphenols and formation of their derivatives, such that about 66% of ingested olive oil phenols were observed in the small intestine and their methylated and metabolites glucuronidated have been identified (Vissers *et al.* 2002). Moreover, Vad der Woude *et al.* (2004) have confirmed the metabolism of Q in the small intestine and human liver hepatocytes by methylation, Glucuronidation, and sulphation reactions. Q is also metabolised in HepG2 cells by similar metabolic routs although the exact site of conjugation differ from those in normal human hepatocytes. Overall, these observations suggest that Q and other polyphenols exist as both the parent compound and metabolites under *in vivo* conditions and during circulation with HepG2 cells.

On the other hand, strong arguments have risen about the duel effect of polyphenol consumption, for example green tea consumption is associated with a reduced risk of liver cancer incidence (Ui *et al.* 2009) whereas no inverse association existed

159

with risk of pancreatic cancer in humans (Lin *et al.* 2008) or risk of stomach cancer death (Hoshiyama *et al.* 2002).

From all of the above, it is apparent that the antioxidant activity, both direct and indirect, of phytochemicals can be determined by their ability to protect HepG2 cells from oxidative stress elicited by t-BHP, with due allowance for the role of binding to serum albumin and the concentration of t-BHP. Moreover, additional mechanistic insights into the mode of toxicity of t-BHP to HepG2 cells have been gained and fundamental problems in use of a cell-based assay to detect direct antioxidant inducers of NQO1 revealed.

References

- Adams JD, Omaraadams KJ, Hoffmann D (1987) Toxic and Carcinogenic Agents in Undiluted Mainstream Smoke and Sidestream Smoke of Different Types of Cigarettes. Carcinogenesis 8(5):729-731 doi:DOI 10.1093/carcin/8.5.729
- Agudo A, Cabrera L, Amiano P, et al. (2007) Fruit and vegetable intakes, dietary antioxidant nutrients, and total mortality in Spanish adults: findings from the Spanish cohort of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC-Spain). American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 85(6):1634-1642
- Akerboom TPM, Sies H (1989) Transport of Glutathione, Glutathione Disulfide, and Glutathione Conjugates across the Hepatocyte Plasma-Membrane. Methods in Enzymology 173:523-534
- Alia M, Mateos R, Ramos S, Lecumberri E, Bravo L, Goya L (2006a) Influence of quercetin and rutin on growth and antioxidant defense system of a human hepatoma cell line (HepG2). European Journal of Nutrition 45(1):19-28 doi:DOI 10.1007/s00394-005-0558-7
- Alia M, Ramos S, Mateos R, Bravo L, Goya L (2005) Response of the antioxidant defense system to tert-butyl hydroperoxide and hydrogen peroxide in a human hepatoma cell line (HepG2). J Biochem Mol Toxicol 19(2):119-28 doi:10.1002/jbt.20061
- Alia M, Ramos S, Mateos R, Granado-Serrano AB, Bravo L, Goya L (2006b) Quercetin protects human hepatoma HepG2 against oxidative stress induced by tert-butyl hydroperoxide. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 212(2):110-8 doi:10.1016/j.taap.2005.07.014
- Alnemri ES, Livingston DJ, Nicholson DW, et al. (1996) Human ICE/CED-3 protease nomenclature. Cell 87(2):171-171 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81334-3

- Andersson BS, Vidal RF, Sundberg M, Rajs J, Sotonyi P (1996) Hydroperoxideinduced nucleotide degradation and adenosine formation in isolated rat cardiomyocytes. Toxicology 106(1-3):39-48 doi:Doi 10.1016/0300-483x(95)03158-C
- Aratani Y, Kura F, Watanabe H, et al. (2002) Relative contributions of myeloperoxidase and NADPH-oxidase to the early host defense against pulmonary infections with Candida albicans and Aspergillus fumigatus. Medical Mycology 40(6):557-563 doi:Doi 10.1080/714031156
- Armstrong RN (1997) Structure, catalytic mechanism, and evolution of the glutathione transferases. Chemical Research in Toxicology 10(1):2-18 doi:Doi 10.1021/Tx960072x
- Aruoma OI, Bahorun T, Jen LS (2003) Neuroprotection by bioactive components in medicinal and food plant extracts. Mutation Research-Reviews in Mutation Research 544(2-3):203-215 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.mrrev.2003.06.017
- Babior BM (1992) The Respiratory Burst Oxidase. Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology 65:49-95
- Bae SJ, Lee JS, Lee EK, et al. (2010) The anti-apoptotic action of 5-hydroxyindole: protection of mitochondrial integrity. Biol Pharm Bull 33(4):550-5
- Bakir F, Damluji SF, Aminzaki L, et al. (1973) Methylmercury Poisoning in Iraq -Interuniversity Report. Science 181(4096):230-241 doi:DOI 10.1126/science.181.4096.230
- Barrera LN, Cassidy A, Johnson IT, Bao YP, Belshaw NJ (2012) Epigenetic and antioxidant effects of dietary isothiocyanates and selenium: potential implications for cancer chemoprevention. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 71(2):237-245 doi:Doi 10.1017/S002966511200016x
- Bauer MKA, Vogt M, Los M, Siegel J, Wessellborg S, Schulze-Osthoff K (1998) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in activation-induced CD95 (APO-1/Fas) ligand expression. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273(14):8048-8055 doi:DOI 10.1074/jbc.273.14.8048

162
- Baumstark-Khan C, Heilmann J, Rink H (2003) Induction and repair of DNA strand breaks in bovine lens epithelial cells after high LET irradiation. Space Life Sciences: Biodosimetry, Biomarkers and Late Stochastic Effects of Space Radiation 31(6):1583-1591 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0273-1177(03)00095-4
- Beatty PW, Reed DJ (1980) Involvement of the cystathionine pathway in the biosynthesis of glutathione by isolated rat hepatocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys 204(1):80-7
- Beg AA, Baltimore D (1996) An essential role for NF-kappa B in preventing TNFalpha-induced cell death. Science 274(5288):782-784
- Bell MC, Crowley-Nowick P, Bradlow HL, et al. (2000) Placebo-controlled trial of indole-3-carbinol in the treatment of CIN. Gynecologic Oncology 78(2):123-129 doi:DOI 10.1006/gyno.2000.5847
- Ben Sghaier M, Skandrani I, Nasr N, Franca MGD, Chekir-Ghedira L, Ghedira K (2011) Flavonoids and sesquiterpenes from Tecurium ramosissimum promote antiproliferation of human cancer cells and enhance antioxidant activity: A structure-activity relationship study. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 32(3):336-348 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.etap.2011.07.003
- Benlhabib E, Baker JI, Keyler DE, Singh AK (2004) Quantitative analysis of phytoestrogens in kudzu-root, soy and spiked serum samples by highpressure liquid chromatography. Biomedical Chromatography 18(6):367-380 doi:Doi 10.1002/Bmc.326
- Benson AM, Hunkeler MJ, Talalay P (1980) Increase of Nad(P)H-Quinone Reductase
 by Dietary Antioxidants Possible Role in Protection against Carcinogenesis
 and Toxicity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United
 States of America-Biological Sciences 77(9):5216-5220 doi:DOI
 10.1073/pnas.77.9.5216
- Bizat N, Hermel JM, Boyer F, et al. (2003a) Calpain is a major cell death effector in selective striatal degeneration induced in vivo by 3-nitropropionate:

Implications for Huntington's disease. Journal of Neuroscience 23(12):5020-5030

- Bizat N, Hermel JM, Humbert S, et al. (2003b) In vivo calpain/caspase cross-talk during 3-nitropropionic acid-induced striatal degeneration: implication of a calpain-mediated cleavage of active caspase-3. J Biol Chem 278(44):43245-53 doi:10.1074/jbc.M305057200
- Blomgren K, Zhu CL, Wang XY, et al. (2001) Synergistic activation of caspase-3 by m-calpain after neonatal hypoxia-ischemia - A mechanism of "pathological apoptosis"? Journal of Biological Chemistry 276(13):10191-10198 doi:DOI 10.1074/jbc.M007807200
- Boatright KM, Salvesen GS (2003) Mechanisms of caspase activation. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 15(6):725-731 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.ceb.2003.10.009
- Bogovski P, Bogovski S (1981) Animal Species in Which N-Nitroso Compounds Induce Cancer. International Journal of Cancer 27(4):471-474 doi:DOI 10.1002/ijc.2910270408
- Bongard RD, Krenz GS, Gastonguay AJ, Williams CL, Lindemer BJ, Merker MP Characterization of the threshold for (2011) NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase activity in intact sulforaphane-treated pulmonary arterial endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 50(8):953-62 doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.01.009
- Boobis SW, Chignell CF (1979) Effect of Protein-Concentration on the Binding of Drugs to Human-Serum Albumin .1. Sulfadiazine, Salicylate and Phenylbutazone. Biochemical Pharmacology 28(6):751-756 doi:Doi 10.1016/0006-2952(79)90354-X
- Bors W, Heller W, Michel C, Saran M (1990) Flavonoids as Antioxidants -Determination of Radical-Scavenging Efficiencies. Methods in Enzymology 186:343-355
- Bradfield CA, Bjeldanes LF (1984) Effect of Dietary Indole-3-Carbinol on Intestinal and Hepatic Monooxygenase, Glutathione S-Transferase and Epoxide

Hydrolase Activities in the Rat. Food and Chemical Toxicology 22(12):977-982

- Brandwilliams W, Cuvelier ME, Berset C (1995) Use of a Free-Radical Method to Evaluate Antioxidant Activity. Food Science and Technology-Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft & Technologie 28(1):25-30
- Brenner DJ, Elliston CD (2001) The potential impact of bystander effects on radiation risks in a Mars mission. Radiation Research 156(5):612-617 doi:Doi 10.1667/0033-7587(2001)156[0612:Tpiobe]2.0.Co;2
- Brigelius-Flohe R (1999) Tissue-specific functions of individual glutathione peroxidases. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 27(9-10):951-965 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0891-5849(99)00173-2
- Briviba K, Klotz LO, Sies H (1999) Defenses against peroxynitrite. Nitric Oxide, Pt C 301:301-311
- Bruningfann CS, Kaneene JB (1993) The Effects of Nitrate, Nitrite and N-Nitroso Compounds on Human Health - a Review. Veterinary and Human Toxicology 35(6):521-538
- Cai J, Jiang WG, Mansel RE (1999) Inhibition of angiogenic factor- and tumourinduced angiogenesis by gamma linolenic acid. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids 60(1):21-29 doi:DOI 10.1054/plef.1998.0004
- Cao J, Xu Y, Chen JS, Klaunig JE (1996) Chemopreventive effects of green and black tea on pulmonary and hepatic carcinogenesis. Fundamental and Applied Toxicology 29(2):244-250
- Cao J, Zhang Y, Chen W, Zhao XJ (2010) The relationship between fasting plasma concentrations of selected flavonoids and their ordinary dietary intake. British Journal of Nutrition 103(2):249-255 doi:Doi 10.1017/S000711450999170x
- Castaneda F, Kinne RKH (2001) Apoptosis induced in HepG2 cells by short exposure to millimolar concentrations of ethanol involves the Fas-receptor pathway.

Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology 127(7):418-424 doi:DOI 10.1007/s004320000227

- Castranova V, Vallyathan V (2000) Silicosis and coal workers' pneumoconiosis. Environmental Health Perspectives 108:675-684 doi:Doi 10.2307/3454404
- Cerutti PA (1985) Prooxidant States and Tumor Promotion. Science 227(4685):375-381 doi:DOI 10.1126/science.2981433
- Chandrasekaran K, Swaminathan K, Chatterjee S, Dey A (2010) Apoptosis in HepG2 cells exposed to high glucose. Toxicol In Vitro 24(2):387-96 doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2009.10.020
- Chang TN, Huang GJ, Ho YL, Huang SS, Chang HY, Chang YS (2009) Antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of Crossostephium chinensis (L.) Makino. Am J Chin Med 37(4):797-814
- Chanock SJ, Elbenna J, Smith RM, Babior BM (1994) The Respiratory Burst Oxidase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269(40):24519-24522
- Chen J, Chenette D, Clark R, et al. (1994) A Model of Galactic Cosmic-Rays for Use in Calculating Linear-Energy-Transfer Spectra. Life Sciences and Space Research Xxv(2) 14(10):765-769 doi:Doi 10.1016/0273-1177(94)90539-8
- Chen J, Lewis BJ, Bennett LGI, Green AR, Tracy BL (2005) Estimated neutron dose to embryo and foetus during commercial flight. Radiation Protection Dosimetry 114(4):475-480 doi:Doi 10.1093/Rpd/Nch493
- Chen J, Mares V (2008) Estimate of doses to the fetus during commercial flights. Health Physics 95(4):407-412 doi:Doi 10.1097/01.Hp.0000318888.79738.23
- Chen J, Mares V (2010) Significant Impact on Effective Doses Received during Commercial Flights Calculated Using the New Icrp Radiation Weighting Factors. Health Physics 98(1):74-76 doi:Doi 10.1097/Hp.0b013e3181bada5a
- Chen J, Timmins R, Verdecchia K, Sato T (2009) An estimation of Canadian population exposure to cosmic rays. Radiation and Environmental Biophysics 48(3):317-322 doi:DOI 10.1007/s00411-009-0226-z

- Chen TJ, Jeng JY, Lin CW, Wu CY, Chen YC (2006) Quercetin inhibition of ROSdependent and -independent apoptosis in rat glioma C6 cells. Toxicology 223(1-2):113-126 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.tox.2006.03.007
- Chi YS, Jong HG, Son KH, Chang HW, Kang SS, Kim HP (2001) Effects of naturally occurring prenylated flavonoids on enzymes metabolizing arachidonic acid: Cyclooxygenases and lipoxygenases. Biochemical Pharmacology 62(9):1185-1191
- Chiodo SG, Leopoldini M, Russo N, Toscano M (2010) The inactivation of lipid peroxide radical by quercetin. A theoretical insight. Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics 12(27):7662-7670 doi:Doi 10.1039/B924521a
- Choi HS, Cho MC, Lee HG, Yoon DY (2010) Indole-3-carbinol induces apoptosis through p53 and activation of caspase-8 pathway in lung cancer A549 cells. Food Chem Toxicol 48(3):883-90 doi:10.1016/j.fct.2009.12.028
- Choi WY, Choi BT, Lee WH, Choi YH (2008) Sulforaphane generates reactive oxygen species leading to mitochondrial perturbation for apoptosis in human leukemia U937 cells. Biomed Pharmacother 62(9):637-44 doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2008.01.001
- Chowdhury SA, Kishino K, Satoh R, et al. (2005) Tumor-specificity and apoptosisinducing activity of stilbenes and flavonoids. Anticancer Research 25(3B):2055-2063
- Christen Y (2000) Oxidative stress and Alzheimer disease. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 71(2):621s-629s
- Chua BT, Guo K, Li P (2000) Direct cleavage by the calcium-activated protease calpain can lead to inactivation of caspases. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275(7):5131-5135 doi:DOI 10.1074/jbc.275.7.5131
- Chung JH, Han JH, Hwang EJ, et al. (2003) Dual mechanisms of green tea extractinduced cell survival in human epidermal keratinocytes. Faseb Journal 17(11):1913-+ doi:DOI 10.1096/fj.02-0914fje

- Correa P (1988) A Human-Model of Gastric Carcinogenesis. Cancer Research 48(13):3554-3560
- Cory S, Adams JM (2002) The BCL2 family: Regulators of the cellular life-or-death switch. Nature Reviews Cancer 2(9):647-656 doi:Doi 10.1038/Nrc883
- Cotgreave IA, Moldeus P, Orrenius S (1988) Host Biochemical Defense-Mechanisms against Prooxidants. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology 28:189-212 doi:DOI 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.28.1.189
- Cover CM, Hsieh SJ, Cram EJ, et al. (1999) Indole-3-carbinol and tamoxifen cooperate to arrest the cell cycle of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Cancer Research 59(6):1244-1251
- Creagh EM, Conroy H, Martin SJ (2003) Caspase-activation pathways in apoptosis and immunity. Immunological Reviews 193(1):10-21 doi:DOI 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2003.00048.x
- Cross AR, Jones OTG (1991) Enzymatic Mechanisms of Superoxide Production. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta 1057(3):281-298 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0005-2728(05)80140-9
- Cui J, Nan KJ, Tian T, Guo YH, Zhao N, Wang L (2007) Chinese medicinal compound delisheng has satisfactory anti-tumor activity, and is associated with upregulation of endostatin in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2 in three-dimensional culture. World Journal of Gastroenterology 13(41):5432-5439
- Curnutte JT, Babior BM (1987) Chronic Granulomatous-Disease. Advances in Human Genetics 16:229-297
- D'Archivio M, Filesi C, Di Benedetto R, Gargiulo R, Giovannini C, Masella R (2007) Polyphenols, dietary sources and bioavailability. Ann Ist Super Sanita 43(4):348-61
- Daly MJ, Young RJ, Britnell SL, Nayler WG (1991) The Role of Calcium in the Toxic Effects of Tert-Butyl Hydroperoxide on Adult-Rat Cardiac Myocytes. Journal

of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 23(11):1303-1312 doi:Doi 10.1016/0022-2828(91)90087-3

- Danial NN, Korsmeyer SJ (2004) Cell death: Critical control points. Cell 116(2):205-219 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00046-7
- Davies KJA (1995) Oxidative stress: The paradox of aerobic life. Free Radicals and Oxidative Stress: Environment, Drugs and Food Additives(61):1-31
- Davies KJA, Pryor WA (2005) The evolution of Free radical biology & medicine: A 20-year history. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 39(10):1263-1264 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.freeadbiomed.2005.09.001
- Day AJ, Bao YP, Morgan MRA, Williamson G (2000) Conjugation position of quercetin glucuronides and effect on biological activity. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 29(12):1234-1243 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0891-5849(00)00416-0
- Denning TL, Takaishi H, Crowe SE, Boldogh I, Jevnikar A, Ernst PB (2002) Oxidative stress induces the expression of Fas and Fas ligand and apoptosis in murine intestinal epithelial cells. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 33(12):1641-1650 doi:Pii S0891-5849(02)01141-3

Doi 10.1016/S0891-5849(02)01141-3

- Devasagayam TPA, Boloor KK, Ramasarma T (2003) Methods for estimating lipid peroxidation: An analysis of merits and demerits. Indian Journal of Biochemistry & Biophysics 40(5):300-308
- Di Meo F, Lemaur V, Cornil J, et al. (2013) Free Radical Scavenging by Natural Polyphenols: Atom versus Electron Transfer. Journal of Physical Chemistry A 117(10):2082-2092 doi:Doi 10.1021/Jp3116319
- Dreosti IE, Wargovich MJ, Yang CS (1997) Inhibition of carcinogenesis by tea: The evidence from experimental studies. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 37(8):761-770

- Dufresne CJ, Farnworth ER (2001) A review of latest research findings on the health promotion properties of tea. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry 12(7):404-421
- Egorova VP, Lo YS, Dai H (2011) Programmed cell death induced by heat shock in mung bean seedlings. Botanical Studies 52(1):73-78
- El-Benna J, Dang PMC, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, Elbim C (2005) Phagocyte NADPH oxidase: a multicomponent enzyme essential for host defenses. Archivum Immunologiae Et Therapiae Experimentalis 53(3):199-206
- Espinosa-Garcia J, Gutierrez-Merino C (2003) The trapping of the OH radical by coenzyme Q. A theoretical and experimental study. Journal of Physical Chemistry A 107(45):9712-9723 doi:Doi 10.1021/Jp035927a
- Esterbauer H, Cheeseman KH (1990) Determination of Aldehydic Lipid-Peroxidation Products - Malonaldehyde and 4-Hydroxynonenal. Methods in Enzymology 186:407-421
- Fan DS, Zhou X, Zhao C, Chen HG, Zhao Y, Gong XJ (2011) Anti-inflammatory, antiviral and quantitative study of quercetin-3-O-beta-D-glucuronide in Polygonum perfoliatum L. Fitoterapia 82(6):805-810 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.fitote.2011.04.007
- Ferrari F, Szuszkiewicz E (2009) Cosmic Rays: A Review for Astrobiologists. Astrobiology 9(4):413-436 doi:DOI 10.1089/ast.2007.0205
- Fimognari C, Hrelia P (2007) Sulforaphane as a promising molecule for fighting cancer. Mutat Res 635(2-3):90-104 doi:10.1016/j.mrrev.2006.10.004
- Fink SL, Cookson BT (2005) Apoptosis, pyroptosis, and necrosis: mechanistic description of dead and dying eukaryotic cells. Infect Immun 73(4):1907-16 doi:10.1128/IAI.73.4.1907-1916.2005
- Fiorucci S, Golebiowski J, Cabrol-Bass D, Antonczak S (2004) Oxygenolysis of flavonoid compounds: DFT description of the mechanism for quercetin. Chemphyschem 5(11):1726-1733 doi:DOI 10.1002/cphc.2004004186

- Fischer U, Schulze-Osthoff K (2005) Apoptosis-based therapies and drug targets. Cell Death and Differentiation 12:942-961 doi:DOI 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401556
- Flora K, Hahn M, Rosen H, Benner K (1998) Milk thistle (Silybum marianum) for the therapy of liver disease. American Journal of Gastroenterology 93(2):139-143 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0002-9270(97)00082-8
- Fukuda H, Ebara M, Okuyama M, et al. (2002) Increased metabolizing activities of the tricarboxylic acid cycle and decreased drug metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma. Carcinogenesis 23(12):2019-2023 doi:DOI 10.1093/carcin/23.12.2019
- Gensler HL, Timmermann BN, Valcic S, et al. (1996) Prevention of photocarcinogenesis by topical administration of pure epigallocatechin gallate isolated from green tea. Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal 26(3):325-335
- Gerhauser C, Klimo K, Heiss E, et al. (2003) Mechanism-based in vitro screening of potential cancer chemopreventive agents. Mutat Res 523-524:163-72
- Gilmont RR, Dardano A, Young M, et al. (1998) Effects of glutathione depletion on oxidant-induced endothelial cell injury. Journal of Surgical Research 80(1):62-68 doi:DOI 10.1006/jsre.1998.5328
- Giugliano D, Ceriello A, Esposito K (2008) Glucose metabolism and hyperglycemia. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 87(1):217s-222s
- Gnoni GV, Paglialonga G, Siculella L (2009) Quercetin inhibits fatty acid and triacylglycerol synthesis in rat-liver cells. Eur J Clin Invest 39(9):761-8 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2362.2009.02167.x
- Goldman M (1982) Ionizing-Radiation and Its Risks. Western Journal of Medicine 137(6):540-547
- Gopalakrishnan A, Tony Kong AN (2008) Anticarcinogenesis by dietary phytochemicals: cytoprotection by Nrf2 in normal cells and cytotoxicity by modulation of transcription factors NF-kappa B and AP-1 in abnormal cancer cells. Food Chem Toxicol 46(4):1257-70 doi:10.1016/j.fct.2007.09.082

- Granado-Serrano AB, Angeles Martin M, Bravo L, Goya L, Ramos S (2008) Timecourse regulation of quercetin on cell survival/proliferation pathways in human hepatoma cells. Mol Nutr Food Res 52(4):457-64 doi:10.1002/mnfr.200700203
- Granado-Serrano AB, Martin MA, Bravo L, Goya L, Ramos S (2006) Quercetin induces apoptosis via caspase activation, regulation of Bcl-2, and inhibition of PI-3-kinase/Akt and ERK pathways in a human hepatoma cell line (HepG2). J Nutr 136(11):2715-21
- Green DR (1998) Apoptotic pathways: the roads to ruin. Cell 94(6):695-8
- Green DR, Bissonnette RP, Cotter TG (1994) Apoptosis and cancer. Important Adv Oncol:37-52
- Green DR, Kroemer G (2004) The pathophysiology of mitochondrial cell death. Science 305(5684):626-629 doi:DOI 10.1126/science.1099320
- Gulati K, Chakraborti A, Ray A (2007) Modulation of stress-induced neurobehavioral changes and brain oxidative injury by nitric oxide (NO) mimetics in rats. Behavioural Brain Research 183(2):226-230 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.bbr.2007.06.018
- Gulden M, Dierickx P, Seibert H (2006) Validation of a prediction model for estimating serum concentrations of chemicals which are equivalent to toxic concentrations in vitro. Toxicology in Vitro 20(7):1114-1124 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.tiv.2006.02.002
- Guo QN, Zhao BL, Li MF, Shen SR, Xin WJ (1996) Studies on protective mechanisms of four components of green tea polyphenols against lipid peroxidation in synaptosomes. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism 1304(3):210-222
- Gupta S, Hastak K, Afaq F, Ahmad N, Mukhtar H (2004) Essential role of caspases in epigallocatechin-3-gallate-mediated inhibition of nuclear factor kappaB and induction of apoptosis. Oncogene 23(14):2507-2522 doi:DOI 10.1038/sj.onc.1207353

- Gupta S, Hussain T, Mukhtar H (2003) Molecular pathway for (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate-induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of human prostate carcinoma cells. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 410(1):177-185
- Halliwell B (1994) Free-Radicals and Antioxidants a Personal View. Nutrition Reviews 52(8):253-265
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC, Cross CE (1992) Free-Radicals, Antioxidants, and Human-Disease - Where Are We Now. Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine 119(6):598-620
- Hastak K, Gupta S, Ahmad N, Agarwal MK, Agarwal ML, Mukhtar H (2003) Role of p53 and NF-kappa B in epigallocatechin-3-gallate-induced apoptosis of LNCaP cells. Oncogene 22(31):4851-4859 doi:DOI 10.1038/sj.onc.1206708
- Held KD (2009) Effects of low fluences of radiations found in space on cellular systems. International Journal of Radiation Biology 85(5):379-390 doi:Doi 10.1080/09553000902838558
- Henricks PAJ, Nijkamp FP (2001) Reactive oxygen species as mediators in asthma. Pulmonary Pharmacology & Therapeutics 14(6):409-421 doi:DOI 10.1006/pupt.2001.0319
- Hertog MGL (1995) Flavonoid Intake and Long-Term Risk of Coronary Heart-Disease and Cancer in the 7 Countries Study (Vol 155, Pg 381, 1995). Archives of Internal Medicine 155(11):1184-1184
- Hertog MGL, Hollman PCH (1996) Potential health effects of the dietary flavonol quercetin. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 50(2):63-71
- Hertog MGL, Hollman PCH, Katan MB (1992) Content of Potentially Anticarcinogenic Flavonoids of 28 Vegetables and 9 Fruits Commonly Consumed in the Netherlands. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 40(12):2379-2383
- Higdon JV, Frei B (2003) Tea catechins and polyphenols: Health effects, metabolism, and antioxidant functions. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 43(1):89-143

- Hissin PJ, Hilf R (1976) Fluorometric Method for Determination of Oxidized and Reduced Glutathione in Tissues. Analytical Biochemistry 74(1):214-226 doi:Doi 10.1016/0003-2697(76)90326-2
- Hoshiyama Y, Kawaguchi T, Miura Y, et al. (2002) A prospective study of stomach cancer death in relation to green tea consumption in Japan. Br J Cancer 87(3):309-13 doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6600487
- Hu C, Kitts DD (2001) Evaluation of antioxidant activity of epigallocatechin gallate in biphasic model systems in vitro. Mol Cell Biochem 218(1-2):147-55
- Huang Z (2002) The chemical biology of apoptosis. Exploring protein-protein interactions and the life and death of cells with small molecules. Chem Biol 9(10):1059-72
- Hyslop PA, Hinshaw DB, Halsey WA, et al. (1988) Mechanisms of Oxidant-Mediated Cell Injury - the Glycolytic and Mitochondrial Pathways of Adp Phosphorylation Are Major Intracellular Targets Inactivated by Hydrogen-Peroxide. Journal of Biological Chemistry 263(4):1665-1675
- Iwashina T (2000) The structure and distribution of the flavonoids in plants. Journal of Plant Research 113(1111):287-299 doi:Doi 10.1007/Pl00013940
- Jayanthi S, Ordonez S, McCoy MT, Cadet JL (1999) Dual mechanism of Fas-induced cell death in neuroglioma cells: a role for reactive oxygen species. Molecular Brain Research 72(2):158-165 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0169-328x(99)00216-8
- Jeannin P, Delneste Y, Lecoanethenchoz S, et al. (1995) Thiols Decrease Human Interleukin (II)4 Production and II-4-Induced Immunoglobulin-Synthesis. Journal of Experimental Medicine 182(6):1785-1792 doi:DOI 10.1084/jem.182.6.1785
- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, et al. (2006) Cancer statistics, 2006. CA Cancer J Clin 56(2):106-30
- Jeong YM, Choi YG, Kim DS, et al. (2005) Cytoprotective effect of green tea extract and quercetin against hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress. Arch Pharm Res 28(11):1251-6

- Jimenez-Lopez JM, Cederbaum AI (2004) Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3gallate protects HepG2 cells against CYP2E1-dependent toxicity. Free Radic Biol Med 36(3):359-70 doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003.11.016
- Jin F, Nieman DC, Shanely RA, Knab AM, Austin MD, Sha W (2010) The variable plasma quercetin response to 12-week quercetin supplementation in humans. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 64(7):692-697 doi:Doi 10.1038/Ejcn.2010.91
- Joseph P, Long DJ, Klein-Szanto AJP, Jaiswal AK (2000) Role of NAD(P)H : quinone oxidoreductase 1 (DT diaphorase) in protection against quinone toxicity. Biochemical Pharmacology 60(2):207-214 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0006-2952(00)00321-X
- Jung YD, Ellis LM (2001) Inhibition of tumour invasion and angiogenesis by epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), a major component of green tea. International Journal of Experimental Pathology 82(6):309-316
- Kakkar P, Singh BK (2007) Mitochondria: a hub of redox activities and cellular distress control. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 305(1-2):235-253 doi:DOI 10.1007/s11010-007-9520-8
- Kalariya NM, Nair B, Kalariya DK, Wills NK, van Kuijk FJGM (2010) Cadmiuminduced induction of cell death in human lens epithelial cells: Implications to smoking associated cataractogenesis. Toxicology Letters 198(1):56-62 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.04.021
- Kalyanaraman B, Karoui H, Singh RJ, Felix CC (1996) Detection of thiyl radical adducts formed during hydroxyl radical- and peroxynitrite-mediated oxidation of thiols A high resolution ESR spin-trapping study at Q-band (35 GHz). Analytical Biochemistry 241(1):75-81 doi:DOI 10.1006/abio.1996.0380
- Kang KA, Lee KH, Chae S, et al. (2006) Cytoprotective effect of phloroglucinol on oxidative stress induced cell damage via catalase activation. J Cell Biochem 97(3):609-20 doi:10.1002/jcb.20668

- Kanno S, Kurauchi K, Tomizawa A, Yomogida S, Ishikawa M (2011) Albumin modulates docosahexaenoic acid-induced cytotoxicity in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines. Toxicology Letters 200(3):154-161 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.11.009
- Katiyar SK, Afaq F, Azizuddin K, Mukhtar H (2001) Inhibition of UVB-induced oxidative stress-mediated phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways in cultured human epidermal keratinocytes by green tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 176(2):110-117 doi:DOI 10.1006/taap.2001.9276
- Kaufmann SH, Earnshaw WC (2000) Induction of apoptosis by cancer chemotherapy. Experimental Cell Research 256(1):42-49
- Kaviarasan S, Ramamurthy N, Gunasekaran P, Varalakshmi E, Anuradha CV (2007) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate(-)protects Chang liver cells against ethanolinduced cytotoxicity and apoptosis. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 100(3):151-6 doi:10.1111/j.1742-7843.2006.00036.x
- Kehrer JP (1993) Free-Radicals as Mediators of Tissue-Injury and Disease. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 23(1):21-48 doi:Doi 10.3109/10408449309104073
- Keith M, Geranmayegan A, Sole MJ, et al. (1998) Increased oxidative stress in patients with congestive heart failure. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 31(6):1352-1356 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0735-1097(98)00101-6
- Kerr JFR, Wyllie AH, Currie AR (1972) Apoptosis Basic Biological Phenomenon with Wide-Ranging Implications in Tissue Kinetics. British Journal of Cancer 26(4):239-& doi:Doi 10.1038/Bjc.1972.33
- Kim CH, Yasumoto K, Suzuki T, Yoshida M (1988) Tert-Butyl Hydroperoxide-Induced Hemolysis of Alpha-Tocopherol-Decreased Erythrocytes from Selenium-Deficient and Selenium-Adequate Rats. Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology 34(5):481-490

- Kim GN, Jang HD (2009) Protective mechanism of quercetin and rutin using glutathione metabolism on HO-induced oxidative stress in HepG2 cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1171:530-7 doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04690.x
- Kim JA, Kang YS, Kim YO, Lee SH, Lee YS (1998) Role of Ca2+ influx in the tertbutyl hydroperoxide-induced apoptosis of HepG2 human hepatoblastoma cells. Exp Mol Med 30(3):137-44
- Kim MJ, Oh SJ, Park SH, et al. (2007) Hypoxia-induced cell death of HepG2 cells involves a necrotic cell death mediated by calpain. Apoptosis 12(4):707-18 doi:10.1007/s10495-006-0002-3
- Kondo K (1996) [Incidence of Minamata disease in communities along the Agano river, Niigata, Japan--patterns of the exposure and official diagnosis of patients]. Nihon Eiseigaku Zasshi 51(2):599-611
- Krajka-Kuzniak V, Szaefer H, Bartoszek A, Baer-Dubowska W (2011) Modulation of rat hepatic and kidney phase II enzymes by cabbage juices: comparison with the effects of indole-3-carbinol and phenethyl isothiocyanate. British Journal of Nutrition 105(6):816-826 doi:Doi 10.1017/S0007114510004526
- Krebs EE, Ensrud KE, MacDonald R, Wilt TJ (2004) Phytoestrogens for treatment of menopausal symptoms: A systematic review. Obstetrics and Gynecology 104(4):824-836 doi:Doi 10.1097/01.Aog.0000140688.71638.D3
- Kuhn H, Borchert A (2002) Regulation of enzymatic lipid peroxidation: The interplay of peroxidizing and peroxide reducing enzymes. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 33(2):154-172 doi:Pii S0891-5849(02)00855-9

Doi 10.1016/S0891-5849(02)00855-9

- Kunimasa K, Kobayashi T, Kaji K, Ohta T (2010) Antiangiogenic effects of indole-3carbinol and 3,3'-diindolylmethane are associated with their differential regulation of ERK1/2 and Akt in tube-forming HUVEC. J Nutr 140(1):1-6 doi:10.3945/jn.109.112359
- l Biophysics 49(2):271-280 doi:DOI 10.1007/s00411-010-0272-6

- Lauber K, Blumenthal SG, Waibel M, Wesselborg S (2004) Clearance of apoptotic cells: Getting rid of the corpses. Molecular Cell 14(3):277-287 doi:Doi 10.1016/S1097-2765(04)00237-0
- Lawless MW, O'Byrne KJ, Gray SG (2009) Oxidative stress induced lung cancer and COPD: opportunities for epigenetic therapy. J Cell Mol Med 13(9A):2800-21 doi:10.1111/j.1582-49l'Hoste S, Chargui A, Belfodil R, et al. (2010) CFTR mediates apoptotic volume decrease and cell death by controlling glutathione efflux and ROS production in cultured mice proximal tubules. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 298(2):F435-F453 doi:DOI 10.1152/ajprenal.00286.2009
- Lankiewicz S, Luetjens CM, Bui NT, et al. (2000) Activation of calpain I converts excitotoxic neuron death into a caspase-independent cell death. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275(22):17064-17071 doi:DOI 10.1074/jbc.275.22.17064
- Lau P, Baumstark-Khan C, Hellweg CE, Reitz G (2010) X-irradiation-induced cell cycle delay and DNA double-strand breaks in the murine osteoblastic cell line OCT-1. Radiation and Environmenta34.2009.00845.x
- Lee KJ, Choi JH, Hwang YP, Chung YC, Jeong HG (2008) Protective effect of caffeic acid phenethyl ester on tert-butyl hydroperoxide-induced oxidative hepatotoxicity and DNA damage. Food Chem Toxicol 46(7):2445-50 doi:10.1016/j.fct.2008.03.032
- Lee YY, Westphal AH, de Haan LH, Aarts JM, Rietjens IM, van Berkel WJ (2005) Human NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase inhibition by flavonoids in living cells. Free Radic Biol Med 39(2):257-65 doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.03.013
- Lewicki K, Marchand S, Matoub L, Lulek J, Coulon J, Leroy P (2006) Development of a fluorescence-based microtiter plate method for the measurement of glutathione in yeast. Talanta 70(4):876-882 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.talanta.2006.02.009

- Lima CF, Valentao PC, Andrade PB, Seabra RM, Fernandes-Ferreira M, Pereira-Wilson C (2007) Water and methanolic extracts of Salvia officinalis protect HepG2 cells from t-BHP induced oxidative damage. Chem Biol Interact 167(2):107-15 doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2007.01.020
- Lin LZ, Harnly JM (2012) Quantitation of Flavanols, Proanthocyanidins, Isoflavones, Flavanones, Dihydrochalcones, Stilbenes, Benzoic Acid Derivatives Using Ultraviolet Absorbance after Identification by Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 60(23):5832-5840 doi:Doi 10.1021/Jf3006905
- Lin Y, Kikuchi S, Tamakoshi A, et al. (2008) Green tea consumption and the risk of pancreatic cancer in Japanese adults. Pancreas 37(1):25-30 doi:10.1097/MPA.0b013e318160a5e2
- Liu X, Chen XQ, Xiao JB, Zhao JY, Jiao FP, Jiang XY (2010) Effect of Hydrogenation on Ring C of Flavonols on Their Affinity for Bovine Serum Albumin. Journal of Solution Chemistry 39(4):533-542 doi:DOI 10.1007/s10953-010-9520-2
- Liu XS, Kim CN, Yang J, Jemmerson R, Wang XD (1996) Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: Requirement for dATP and cytochrome c. Cell 86(1):147-157 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80085-9
- Llaverias G, Danilo C, Wang Y, et al. (2010) A Western-Type Diet Accelerates Tumor Progression in an Autochthonous Mouse Model of Prostate Cancer. American Journal of Pathology 177(6):3180-3191 doi:DOI 10.2353/ajpath.2010.100568
- Loke WM, Proudfoot JM, Stewart S, et al. (2008) Metabolic transformation has a profound effect on anti-inflammatory activity of flavonoids such as quercetin: Lack of association between antioxidant and lipoxygenase inhibitory activity. Biochemical Pharmacology 75(5):1045-1053 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.bcp.2007.11.002

- Lopaczynski W, Zeisel SH (2001) Antioxidants, programmed cell death, and cancer. Nutrition Research 21(1-2):295-307 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0271-5317(00)00288-8
- Los M, Wesselborg S, Schulze-Osthoff K (1999) The role of caspases in development, immunity, and apoptotic signal transduction: Lessons from knockout mice. Immunity 10(6):629-639 doi:Doi 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80062-X
- Lotscher HR, Winterhalter KH, Carafoli E, Richter C (1979) Hydroperoxides Can Modulate the Redox State of Pyridine-Nucleotides and the Calcium Balance in Rat-Liver Mitochondria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 76(9):4340-4344 doi:DOI 10.1073/pnas.76.9.4340
- Lotscher HR, Winterhalter KH, Carafoli E, Richter C (1980) Hydroperoxide-Induced Loss of Pyridine-Nucleotides and Release of Calcium from Rat-Liver Mitochondria. Journal of Biological Chemistry 255(19):9325-9330
- Loub WD, Wattenberg LW, Davis DW (1975) Aryl-Hydrocarbon Hydroxylase Induction in Rat Tissues by Naturally Occurring Indoles of Cruciferous Plants. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 54(4):985-988
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein Measurement with the Folin Phenol Reagent. Journal of Biological Chemistry 193(1):265-275
- Magalhaes LM, Segundo MA, Reis S, Lima JLFC (2008) Methodological aspects about in vitro evaluation of antioxidant properties. Analytica Chimica Acta 613(1):1-19 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.aca.2008.02.047
- Malaguarnera L (2004) Implications of apoptosis regulators in tumorigenesis. Cancer and Metastasis Reviews 23(3-4):367-387 doi:Doi 10.1023/B:Canc.0000031774.32572.Df
- Malaguti M, Angeloni C, Garatachea N, et al. (2009) Sulforaphane treatment protects skeletal muscle against damage induced by exhaustive exercise in rats. J Appl Physiol 107(4):1028-36 doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00293.2009

- Mans DRA, Schuurhuis GJ, Treskes M, et al. (1992) Modulation by D,L-Buthionine-S,R-Sulfoximine of Etoposide Cytotoxicity on Human Non-Small-Cell Lung, Ovarian and Breast-Carcinoma Cell-Lines. European Journal of Cancer 28A(8-9):1447-1452 doi:Doi 10.1016/0959-8049(92)90541-9
- Marchioli R, Schweiger C, Levantesi G, Tavazzi L, Valagussa F (2001) Antioxidant vitamins and prevention of cardiovascular disease: Epidemiological and clinical trial data. Lipids 36:S53-S63 doi:DOI 10.1007/s11745-001-0683-y
- Martin KR (2006a) Targeting apoptosis with dietary biloactive agents. Experimental Biology and Medicine 231(2):117-129
- Martin KR (2006b) Targeting apoptosis with dietary bioactive agents. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 231(2):117-29
- Martin MA, Ramos S, Mateos R, et al. (2008) Protection of human HepG2 cells against oxidative stress by cocoa phenolic extract. J Agric Food Chem 56(17):7765-72 doi:10.1021/jf801744r
- Masamune A, Kikuta K, Satoh M, Suzuki N, Shimosegawa T (2005) Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3-gallate blocks PDGF-induced proliferation and migration of rat pancreatic stellate cells. World J Gastroenterol 11(22):3368-74
- Masella R, Di Benedetto R, Vari R, Filesi C, Giovannini C (2005) Novel mechanisms of natural antioxidant compounds in biological systems: involvement of glutathione and glutathione-related enzymes. J Nutr Biochem 16(10):577-86 doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2005.05.013
- Mateos R, Goya L, Bravo L (2005) Metabolism of the olive oil phenols hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and hydroxytyrosyl acetate by human hepatoma HepG2 cells. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53(26):9897-9905 doi:Doi 10.1021/Jf051721q
- Mccarthy NJ, Smith CA, Williams GT (1992) Apoptosis in the Development of the Immune-System - Growth-Factors, Clonal Selection and Bcl-2. Cancer and Metastasis Reviews 11(2):157-178 doi:Doi 10.1007/Bf00048062

- Mccord JM, Fridovic.I (1969) Superoxide Dismutase an Enzymic Function for Erythrocuprein (Hemocuprein). Journal of Biological Chemistry 244(22):6049-&
- Mcdanell R, Mclean AEM, Hanley AB, Heaney RK, Fenwick GR (1988) Chemical and Biological Properties of Indole Glucosinolates (Glucobrassicins) - a Review. Food and Chemical Toxicology 26(1):59-70
- McDonough KH (2003) Antioxidant nutrients and alcohol. Toxicology 189(1-2):89-97 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0300-483x(03)00155-0
- Meier P, Finch A, Evan G (2000) Apoptosis in development. Nature 407(6805):796-801 doi:Doi 10.1038/35037734
- Meister A, Anderson ME (1983) Glutathione. Annual Review of Biochemistry 52:711-760 doi:DOI 10.1146/annurev.bi.52.070183.003431
- Meydani M, Evans WJ, Handelman G, et al. (1993) Protective Effect of Vitamin-E on Exercise-Induced Oxidative Damage in Young and Older Adults. American Journal of Physiology 264(5):R992-R998
- Middleton E, Kandaswami C, Theoharides TC (2000) The effects of plant flavonoids on mammalian cells: Implications for inflammation, heart disease, and cancer. Pharmacological Reviews 52(4):673-751
- Mirvish SS (1986) Effects of Vitamin-C and Vitamin-E on N-Nitroso Compound Formation, Carcinogenesis, and Cancer. Cancer 58(8):1842-1850 doi:Doi 10.1002/1097-0142(19861015)58:8+<1842::Aid-

Cncr2820581410>3.0.Co;2-#

- Mishra K, Ojha H, Chaudhury NK (2012) Estimation of antiradical properties of antioxidants using DPPH center dot assay: A critical review and results. Food Chemistry 130(4):1036-1043 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.07.127
- Mittal A, Pathania V, Agrawala PK, Prasad J, Singh S, Goel HC (2001) Influence of Podophyllum hexandrum on endogenous antioxidant defence system in mice: possible role in radioprotection. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 76(3):253-262 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0378-8741(01)00243-4

- Moon DO, Kim MO, Kang SH, Choi YH, Kim GY (2009) Sulforaphane suppresses TNF-alpha-mediated activation of NF-kappaB and induces apoptosis through activation of reactive oxygen species-dependent caspase-3. Cancer Lett 274(1):132-42 doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2008.09.013
- Moon JK, Shibamoto T (2009) Antioxidant Assays for Plant and Food Components. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 57(5):1655-1666 doi:Doi 10.1021/Jf803537k
- Moran JL, Siegel D, Ross D (1999) A potential mechanism underlying the increased susceptibility of individuals with a polymorphism in NAD(P)H : quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) to benzene toxicity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96(14):8150-8155 doi:DOI 10.1073/pnas.96.14.8150
- Mothersill C, Seymour C (2006) Radiation-induced bystander and other nontargeted effects: Novel intervention points in cancer therapy? Current Cancer Drug Targets 6(5):447-454 doi:Doi 10.2174/156800906777723976
- Mourao MD, Dinguirard N, Franco GR, Yoshino TP (2009) Role of the Endogenous Antioxidant System in the Protection of Schistosoma mansoni Primary Sporocysts against Exogenous Oxidative Stress. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases 3(11) doi:ARTN e550
- DOI 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000550
- Muller HJ (1955) Genetic Damage Produced by Radiation. Science 121(3155):837-840 doi:DOI 10.1126/science.121.3155.837
- Nagata S (1999) Fas ligand-induced apoptosis. Annual Review of Genetics 33:29-55 doi:DOI 10.1146/annurev.genet.33.1.29
- Nagata S (2000) Apoptotic DNA fragmentation. Experimental Cell Research 256(1):12-18 doi:DOI 10.1006/excr.2000.4834

- Nara K, Miyoshi T, Honma T, Koga H (2006) Antioxidative activity of bound-form phenolics in potato peel. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry 70(6):1489-1491 doi:Doi 10.1271/Bbb.50552
- Newmark HL, Yang K, Kurihara N, Fan KH, Augenlicht LH, Lipkin M (2009) Westernstyle diet-induced colonic tumors and their modulation by calcium and vitamin D in C57Bl/6 mice: a preclinical model for human sporadic colon cancer. Carcinogenesis 30(1):88-92 doi:DOI 10.1093/carcin/bgn229
- Nho CW, Jeffery E (2004) Crambene, a bioactive nitrile derived from glucosinolate hydrolysis, acts via the antioxidant response element to upregulate quinone reductase alone or synergistically with indole-3-carbinol. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 198(1):40-8 doi:10.1016/j.taap.2004.02.012
- Nicholson DW, Thornberry NA (1997) Caspases: killer proteases. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 22(8):299-306 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0968-0004(97)01085-2
- Nieminen AL, Byrne AM, Herman B, Lemasters JJ (1997) Mitochondrial permeability transition in hepatocytes induced by t-BuOOH: NAD(P)H and reactive oxygen species. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology 272(4):C1286-C1294
- Nieminen AL, Saylor AK, Tesfai SA, Herman B, Lemasters JJ (1995) Contribution of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition to Lethal Injury after Exposure of Hepatocytes to T-Butylhydroperoxide. Biochemical Journal 307:99-106
- Nishikawa T, Nakajima T, Moriguchi M, et al. (2006) A green tea polyphenol, epigalocatechin-3-gallate, induces apoptosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma, possibly through inhibition of Bcl-2 family proteins. J Hepatol 44(6):1074-82 doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2005.11.045
- Nohl H, Gille L, Staniek K (2005) Intracellular generation of reactive oxygen species by mitochondria. Biochemical Pharmacology 69(5):719-723 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.bcp.2004.12.002

- O'Callaghan YC, Woods JA, O'Brien NM (2002) Characteristics of 7 betahydroxycholesterol-induced cell death in a human monocytic blood cell line, U937, and a human hepatoma cell line, HepG2. Toxicol In Vitro 16(3):245-51
- O'Leary KA, Day AJ, Needs PW, Mellon FA, O'Brien NM, Williamson G (2003) Metabolism of quercetin-7-and quercetin-3-glucuronides by an in vitro hepatic model: the role of human beta-glucuronidase, sulfotransferase, catechol-O-methyltransferase and multi-resistant protein 2 (MRP2) in flavonoid metabolism. Biochemical Pharmacology 65(3):479-491 doi:Pii S0006-2952(02)01510-1

Doi 10.1016/S0006-2952(02)01510-1

- Oh SH, Lim SC (2006) A rapid and transient ROS generation by cadmium triggers apoptosis via caspase-dependent pathway in HepG2 cells and this is inhibited through N-acetylcysteine-mediated catalase upregulation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 212(3):212-23 doi:10.1016/j.taap.2005.07.018
- Olson M, Kornbluth S (2001) Mitochondria in apoptosis and human disease. Curr Mol Med 1(1):91-122
- Omar HA, Sargeant AM, Weng JR, et al. (2009) Targeting of the Akt-nuclear factorkappa B signaling network by [1-(4-chloro-3-nitrobenzenesulfonyl)-1Hindol-3-yl]-methanol (OSU-A9), a novel indole-3-carbinol derivative, in a mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Pharmacol 76(5):957-68 doi:10.1124/mol.109.058180
- Ong CS, Tran E, Nguyen TTT, et al. (2004) Quercetin-induced growth inhibition and cell death in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells are associated with increase in Bad and hypophosphorylated retinoblastoma expressions. Oncology Reports 11(3):727-733

- Opas EE, Rutledge SJ, Vogel RL, Rodan GA, Schmidt A (2004) Rat tail skin temperature regulation by estrogen, phytoestrogens and tamoxifen. Maturitas 48(4):463-471 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.maturitas.2003.11.001
- Orrenius S, Ormstad K, Thor H, Jewell SA (1983) Turnover and Functions of Glutathione Studied with Isolated Hepatic and Renal-Cells. Federation Proceedings 42(15):3177-3188
- Palacios VG, Robinson LJ, Borysenko CW, Kalla SE, Blair HC (2004) Estrogen and phytoestrogens inhibit osteoclast formation by distinct mechanisms. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 19:S410-S410
- Palmieri B, Sblendorio V (2006) Oxidative stress detection: what for? Part I. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 10(6):291-317
- Patel BP, Safdar A, Raha S, Tarnopolsky MA, Hamadeh MJ (2010) Caloric Restriction Shortens Lifespan through an Increase in Lipid Peroxidation, Inflammation and Apoptosis in the G93A Mouse, an Animal Model of ALS. PLoS ONE 5(2) doi:Artn E9386
- Doi 10.1371/Journal.Pone.0009386
- Pedrera M, Gomez-Villamandos JC, Risalde MA, Molina V, Sanchez-Cordon PJ (2012) Characterization of Apoptosis Pathways (Intrinsic and Extrinsic) in Lymphoid Tissues of Calves Inoculated with Non-cytopathic Bovine Viral Diarrhoea Virus Genotype-1. Journal of Comparative Pathology 146(1):30-39 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.jcpa.2011.03.015
- Piret JP, Arnould T, Fuks B, Chatelain P, Remacle J, Michiels C (2004) Mitochondria permeability transition-dependent tert-butyl hydroperoxide-induced apoptosis in hepatoma HepG2 cells. Biochem Pharmacol 67(4):611-20
- Pompella A, Visvikis A, Paolicchi A, De Tata V, Casini AF (2003) The changing faces of glutathione, a cellular protagonist. Biochemical Pharmacology 66(8):1499-1503 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0006-2952(03)00504-5

- Provin C, Takano K, Yoshida T, Sakai Y, Fujii T, Shirakashi R (2009) Low O-2 metabolism of HepG2 cells cultured at high density in a 3D microstructured scaffold. Biomedical Microdevices 11(2):485-494 doi:DOI 10.1007/s10544-008-9254-8
- Punithavathi VR, Prince PS (2009) Combined effects of quercetin and alphatocopherol on lipids and glycoprotein components in isoproterenol induced myocardial infarcted Wistar rats. Chem Biol Interact 181(3):322-7 doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2009.07.002
- Radak Z, Taylor AW, Ohno H, Goto S (2001) Adaptation to exercise-induced oxidative stress: From muscle to brain. Exercise Immunology Review 7:90-107
- Raha S, Robinson BH (2000) Mitochondria, oxygen free radicals, disease and ageing. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 25(10):502-508 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0968-0004(00)01674-1
- Rahman I, Biswas SK, Kode A (2006) Oxidant and antioxidant balance in the airways and airway diseases. European Journal of Pharmacology 533(1-3):222-239 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.12.087
- Ramos S (2007) Effects of dietary flavonoids on apoptotic pathways related to cancer chemoprevention. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry 18(7):427-442 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2006.11.004
- Raza H, John A (2005) Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3-gallate differentially modulates oxidative stress in PC12 cell compartments. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 207(3):212-220 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.taap.2005.01.004
- Reed DJ (1990) Glutathione Toxicological Implications. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology 30:603-631 doi:DOI 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.30.1.603
- Reed JC (2001) Apoptosis-regulating proteins as targets for drug discovery. Trends in Molecular Medicine 7(7):314-319 doi:Doi 10.1016/S1471-4914(01)02026-3

- Reichard P, Ehrenberg A (1983) Ribonucleotide Reductase a Radical Enzyme. Science 221(4610):514-519 doi:DOI 10.1126/science.6306767
- Reiners JJ, Jr., Mathieu P, Okafor C, Putt DA, Lash LH (2000) Depletion of cellular glutathione by conditions used for the passaging of adherent cultured cells. Toxicol Lett 115(2):153-63
- Repetto G, del Peso A, Zurita JL (2008) Neutral red uptake assay for the estimation of cell viability/cytotoxicity. Nature Protocols 3(7):1125-1131 doi:DOI 10.1038/nprot.2008.75
- Riboli E, Norat T (2003) Epidemiologic evidence of the protective effect of fruit and vegetables on cancer risk. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 78(3):559s-569s
- Rice-Evans C (1999) Implications of the mechanisms of action of tea polyphenols as antioxidants in vitro for chemoprevention in humans. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 220(4):262-266
- Riceevans C, Burdon R (1993) Free-Radical Lipid Interactions and Their Pathological Consequences. Progress in Lipid Research 32(1):71-110 doi:Doi 10.1016/0163-7827(93)90006-I
- RiceEvans C, Miller N (1997) Measurement of the antioxidant status of dietary constituents, low density lipoproteins and plasma. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids 57(4-5):499-505 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0952-3278(97)90435-X
- RiceEvans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G (1996) Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 20(7):933-956
- Riedl SJ, Shi YG (2004) Molecular mechanisms of caspase regulation during apoptosis. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 5(11):897-907 doi:Doi 10.1038/Nrm1496
- Riley RJ, Workman P (1992) Dt-Diaphorase and Cancer-Chemotherapy. Biochemical Pharmacology 43(8):1657-1669 doi:Doi 10.1016/0006-2952(92)90694-E

- Rodriguez M, Schaper J (2005) Apoptosis: measurement and technical issues. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 38(1):15-20 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2004.11.002
- Rohn S, Rawel HM, Kroll J (2004) Antioxidant activity of protein-bound quercetin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 52(15):4725-4729 doi:Doi 10.1021/Jf0496797
- Rose DP, Connolly JM, Liu XH (1995) Effects of Linoleic-Acid and Gamma-Linolenic Acid on the Growth and Metastasis of a Human Breast-Cancer Cell-Line in Nude-Mice and on Its Growth and Invasive Capacity in-Vitro. Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal 24(1):33-45
- Ross D, Siegel D (2004) NAD(P)H : Quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1, DTdiaphorase), functions and pharmacogenctics. Quinones and Quinone Enzymes, Pt B 382:115-144
- Rothschild MA, Oratz M, Schreiber SS (1988) Serum-Albumin. Hepatology 8(2):385-401 doi:DOI 10.1002/hep.1840080234
- Rush GF, Gorski JR, Ripple MG, Sowinski J, Bugelski P, Hewitt WR (1985) Organic Hydroperoxide-Induced Lipid-Peroxidation and Cell-Death in Isolated Hepatocytes. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 78(3):473-483 doi:Doi 10.1016/0041-008x(85)90255-8
- Rutili G, Arfors KE (1977) Protein Concentration in Interstitial and Lymphatic Fluids from Subcutaneous Tissue. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 99(1):1-8 doi:DOI 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1977.tb10345.x
- Sakuma S, Miyoshi E, Sadatoku N, et al. (2009) Monochloramine produces reactive oxygen species in liver by converting xanthine dehydrogenase into xanthine oxidase. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 239(3):268-72 doi:10.1016/j.taap.2009.06.006
- Salah N, Miller NJ, Paganga G, Tijburg L, Bolwell GP, Riceevans C (1995) Polyphenolic Flavanols as Scavengers of Aqueous-Phase Radicals and as

Chain-Breaking Antioxidants. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 322(2):339-346 doi:DOI 10.1006/abbi.1995.1473

- Sanchez-Moreno C (2002) Review: Methods used to evaluate the free radical scavenging activity in foods and biological systems. Food Science and Technology International 8(3):121-137 doi:Doi 10.1106/108201302026770
- Sanfeliu C, Sebastia J, Cristofol R, Rodriguez-Farre E (2003) Neurotoxicity of organomercurial compounds. Neurotoxicity Research 5(4):283-+
- Sanna D, Delogu G, Mulas M, Schirra M, Fadda A (2012) Determination of Free Radical Scavenging Activity of Plant Extracts Through DPPH Assay: An EPR and UV-Vis Study. Food Analytical Methods 5(4):759-766 doi:DOI 10.1007/s12161-011-9306-1
- SantaCruz KS, Yazlovitskaya E, Collins J, Johnson J, DeCarli C (2004) Regional NAD(P)H : quinone oxidoreductase activity in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of Aging 25(1):63-69 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0197-4580(03)00117-9
- Sardao VA, Oliveira PJ, Holy J, Oliveira CR, Wallace KB (2007) Vital imaging of H9c2 myoblasts exposed to tert-butylhydroperoxide--characterization of morphological features of cell death. BMC Cell Biol 8:11 doi:10.1186/1471-2121-8-11
- Sastre J, Asensi M, Gasco E, et al. (1992) Exhaustive Physical Exercise Causes Oxidation of Glutathione Status in Blood - Prevention by Antioxidant Administration. American Journal of Physiology 263(5):R992-R995
- Schafer ZT, Kornbluth S (2006) The apoptosome: Physiological, developmental, and pathological modes of regulation. Developmental Cell 10(5):549-561 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.devcel.2006.04.008
- Schneider E, Yamazaki H, Sinha BK, Cowan KH (1995) Buthionine Sulfoximine-Mediated Sensitization of Etoposide-Resistant Human Breast-Cancer Mcf7 Cells Overexpressing the Multidrug Resistance-Associated Protein Involves

Increased Drug Accumulation. British Journal of Cancer 71(4):738-743 doi:Doi 10.1038/Bjc.1995.144

- Segovia M, Berges JA (2009) Inhibition of Caspase-Like Activities Prevents the Appearance of Reactive Oxygen Species and Dark-Induced Apoptosis in the Unicellular Chlorophyte Dunaliella Tertiolecta. Journal of Phycology 45(5):1116-1126 doi:DOI 10.1111/j.1529-8817.2009.00733.x
- Serbecic N, Ehmann AK, Beutelspacher SC (2005) Reduction of lipid peroxidation and apoptosis in corneal endothelial cells by vitamin A. Ophthalmologe 102(6):607-613 doi:DOI 10.1007/s00347-004-1143-9
- Shen SC, Chen YC, Hsu FL, Lee WR (2003) Differential apoptosis-inducing effect of quercetin and its glycosides in human promyeloleukemic HL-60 cells by alternative activation of the caspase 3 cascade. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 89(5):1044-1055 doi:Doi 10.1002/Jch.10559
- Shih CM, Ko WC, Wu JS, et al. (2004) Mediating of caspase-independent apoptosis by cadmium through the mitochondria-ROS pathway in MRC-5 fibroblasts. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 91(2):384-397 doi:Doi 10.1002/Jcb.10761
- Shimoda K, Kobayashi T, Akagi M, Hamada H, Hamada H (2008) Synthesis of oligosaccharides of genistein and quercetin as potential anti-inflammatory agents. Chemistry Letters 37(8):876-877 doi:Doi 10.1246/Cl.2008.876
- Shokouhi G, Tubbs RS, Shoja MM, et al. (2008) The effects of aerobic exercise training on the age-related lipid peroxidation, Schwann cell apoptosis and ultrastructural changes in the sciatic nerve of rats. Life Sciences 82(15-16):840-846 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.lfs.2008.01.018
- Siegel D, Bolton EM, Burr JA, Liebler DC, Ross D (1997) The reduction of alphatocopherolquinone by human NAD(P)H: Quinone oxidoreductase: The role of alpha-tocopherolhydroquinone as a cellular antioxidant. Molecular Pharmacology 52(2):300-305
- Sies H (1993) Strategies of Antioxidant Defense. European Journal of Biochemistry 215(2):213-219 doi:DOI 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1993.tb18025.x

- Sies H (1999) Glutathione and its role in cellular functions. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 27(9-10):916-921 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0891-5849(99)00177-X
- Simurda MC, van Keulen H, Rekosh DM, LoVerde PT (1988) Schistosoma mansoni: identification and analysis of an mRNA and a gene encoding superoxide dismutase (Cu/Zn). Exp Parasitol 67(1):73-84
- Singh SV, Srivastava SK, Choi S, et al. (2005) Sulforaphane-induced cell death in human prostate cancer cells is initiated by reactive oxygen species. Journal of Biological Chemistry 280(20):19911-19924 doi:DOI 10.1074/jbc.M412443200
- Singhal RL, Yeh YA, Prajda N, Olah E, Sledge GW, Weber G (1995) Quercetin down-Regulates Signal Breast-Carcinoma Transduction in Human-Cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 208(1):425-431
- Sivalokanathan S, Vijayababu MR, Balasubramanian MP (2006) Effects of Terminalia arjuna bark extract on apoptosis of human hepatoma cell line HepG2. World J Gastroenterol 12(7):1018-24
- Slater AFG, Nobel CSI, Orrenius S (1995) The Role of Intracellular Oxidants in Apoptosis. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Molecular Basis of Disease 1271(1):59-62 doi:Doi 10.1016/0925-4439(95)00010-2
- Smith EB, Staples EM (1982) Plasma-Protein Concentrations in Interstitial Fluid from Human Aortas. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 217(1206):59-75 doi:DOI 10.1098/rspb.1982.0094
- Sohn JH, Han KL, Choo JH, Hwang JK (2007) Macelignan protects HepG2 cells against tert-butylhydroperoxide-induced oxidative damage. Biofactors 29(1):1-10
- Son TG, Camandola S, Mattson MP (2008) Hormetic dietary phytochemicals. Neuromolecular Med 10(4):236-46 doi:10.1007/s12017-008-8037-y
- Sporn MB, Dunlop NM, Newton DL, Smith JM (1976) Prevention of Chemical Carcinogenesis by Vitamin-a and Its Synthetic Analogs (Retinoids). Federation Proceedings 35(6):1332-1338

- Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Alnemri ES (1998) Autoactivation of procaspase-9 by Apaf-1-mediated oligomerization. Molecular Cell 1(7):949-957 doi:Doi 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80095-7
- Staal FJT, Anderson MT, Staal GEJ, Herzenberg LA, Gitler C, Herzenberg LA (1994)
 Redox Regulation of Signal-Transduction Tyrosine Phosphorylation and
 Calcium Influx. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the
 United States of America 91(9):3619-3622 doi:DOI 10.1073/pnas.91.9.3619
- Stanner SA, Hughes J, Kelly CNM, Buttriss J (2004) A review of the epidemiological evidence for the 'antioxidant hypothesis'. Public Health Nutrition 7(3):407-422 doi:Doi 10.1079/Phn2003543
- Stoll BA (1998) Breast cancer and the Western diet: Role of fatty acids and antioxidant vitamins. European Journal of Cancer 34(12):1852-1856 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0959-8049(98)00204-4
- Surh YJ (2008) NF-kappa B and Nrf2 as potential chemopreventive targets of some anti-inflammatory and antioxidative phytonutrients with anti-inflammatory and antioxidative activities. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 17 Suppl 1:269-72
- Talalay P (2000) Chemoprotection against cancer by induction of Phase 2 enzymes. Biofactors 12(1-4):5-11
- Talalay P, Benson AM (1982) Elevation of Quinone Reductase-Activity by Anti-Carcinogenic Antioxidants. Advances in Enzyme Regulation 20:287-300 doi:Doi 10.1016/0065-2571(82)90021-8
- Talalay P, Delong MJ, Prochaska HJ (1988) Identification of a Common Chemical Signal Regulating the Induction of Enzymes That Protect against Chemical Carcinogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 85(21):8261-8265 doi:DOI 10.1073/pnas.85.21.8261
- Talalay P, Prochaska HJ (1987) Mechanisms of Induction of Nad(P)H Quinone Reductase. Chemica Scripta 27A:61-66

- Tan J, Wang B, Zhu L (2009) Regulation of survivin and Bcl-2 in HepG2 cell apoptosis induced by quercetin. Chem Biodivers 6(7):1101-10 doi:10.1002/cbdv.200800141
- Tarozzi A, Morroni F, Merlicco A, et al. (2009) Sulforaphane as an inducer of glutathione prevents oxidative stress-induced cell death in a dopaminergiclike neuroblastoma cell line. J Neurochem 111(5):1161-71 doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06394.x
- Thompson CB (1995) Apoptosis in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Disease. Science 267(5203):1456-1462 doi:DOI 10.1126/science.7878464
- Thornalley PJ, Trotta RJ, Stern A (1983) Free-Radical Involvement in the Oxidative Phenomena Induced by Tert-Butyl Hydroperoxide in Erythrocytes. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta 759(1-2):16-22 doi:Doi 10.1016/0304-4165(83)90183-6
- Thornberry NA (1999) Caspases: A decade of death research. Cell Death and Differentiation 6(11):1023-1027 doi:DOI 10.1038/sj.cdd.4400607
- Tiwari M, Kakkar P (2009) Plant derived antioxidants Geraniol and camphene protect rat alveolar macrophages against t-BHP induced oxidative stress. Toxicol In Vitro 23(2):295-301 doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2008.12.014
- Todd P, Pecaut MJ, Fleshner M (1999) Combined effects of space flight factors and radiation on humans. Mutation Research-Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 430(2):211-219 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0027-5107(99)00132-3
- Tomita A, Fuchino Y, Otsuka K, et al. (1998) Clinical effects of exogenous/endogenous TNF therapy on metastatic lesions of 34 colorectal cancer patients. Anticancer Research 18(5D):3937-3939
- Trnkova L, Bousova I, Stankova V, Drsata J (2011) Study on the interaction of catechins with human serum albumin using spectroscopic and electrophoretic techniques. Journal of Molecular Structure 985(2-3):243-250 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.molstruc.2010.11.001

- Trouillas P, Marsal P, Siri D, Lazzaroni R, Duroux JL (2006) A DFT study of the reactivity of OH groups in quercetin and taxifolin antioxidants: The specificity of the 3-OH site. Food Chemistry 97(4):679-688 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.05.042
- Troyano A, Sancho P, Fernandez C, de Blas E, Bernardi P, Aller P (2003) The selection between apoptosis and necrosis is differentially regulated in hydrogen peroxide-treated and glutathione-depleted human promonocytic cells. Cell Death Differ 10(8):889-98 doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401249
- Tsuda T, Mino Y, Yamamoto E, et al. (1997) [Causal inference in medicine: a reaction to the report, "incidence of Minamata disease in communities along the Agano River, Niigata, Japan--patterns of the exposure and official diagnosis of patients"]. Nihon Eiseigaku Zasshi 52(2):511-26
- Ui A, Kuriyama S, Kakizaki M, et al. (2009) Green tea consumption and the risk of liver cancer in Japan: the Ohsaki Cohort study. Cancer Causes Control 20(10):1939-45 doi:10.1007/s10552-009-9388-x
- Um HD, Orenstein JM, Wahl SM (1996) Fas mediates apoptosis in human monocytes by a reactive oxygen intermediate dependent pathway. Journal of Immunology 156(9):3469-3477
- Valerio LG, Jr., Kepa JK, Pickwell GV, Quattrochi LC (2001) Induction of human NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) gene expression by the flavonol quercetin. Toxicol Lett 119(1):49-57
- Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M (2006) Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. Chemico-Biological Interactions 160(1):1-40 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.cbi.2005.12.009
- van der Woude H, Boersma MG, Vervoort J, Rietjens IMCM (2004) Identification of 14 quercetin phase II mono- and mixed conjugates and their formation by rat and human phase II in vitro model systems. Chemical Research in Toxicology 17(11):1520-1530 doi:Doi 10.1021/Tx049826v

- van Erk MJ, Roepman P, van der Lende TR, et al. (2005) Integrated assessment by multiple gene expression analysis of quercetin bioactivity on anticancerrelated mechanisms in colon cancer cells in vitro. European Journal of Nutrition 44(3):143-156 doi:DOI 10.1007/s00394-004-0503-1
- Vaux DL, Korsmeyer SJ (1999) Cell death in development. Cell 96(2):245-254 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80564-4
- Verhoeven DTH, Verhagen H, Goldbohm RA, vandenBrandt PA, vanPoppel G (1997) A review of mechanisms underlying anticarcinogenicity by brassica vegetables. Chemico-Biological Interactions 103(2):79-129
- Visioli F, Bellomo G, Galli C (1998) Free radical-scavenging properties of olive oil polyphenols. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 247(1):60-64 doi:DOI 10.1006/bbrc.1998.8735
- Vissers MN, Zock PL, Roodenburg AJC, Leenen R, Katan MB (2002) Olive oil phenols are absorbed in humans. Journal of Nutrition 132(3):409-417
- Wagner C, Fachinetto R, Dalla Corte CL, et al. (2006) Quercitrin, a glycoside form of quercetin, prevents lipid peroxidation in vitro. Brain Res 1107(1):192-8 doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2006.05.084
- Wagner C, Vargas AP, Roos DH, et al. (2010) Comparative study of quercetin and its two glycoside derivatives quercitrin and rutin against methylmercury (MeHg)-induced ROS production in rat brain slices. Arch Toxicol 84(2):89-97 doi:10.1007/s00204-009-0482-3
- Walker NPC, Talanian RV, Brady KD, et al. (1994) Crystal-Structure of the Cysteine
 Protease Interleukin-1-Beta-Converting Enzyme a (P20/P10)(2)
 Homodimer. Cell 78(2):343-352 doi:Doi 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90303-4
- Walker R (1990) Nitrates, Nitrites and N-Nitrosocompounds a Review of the Occurrence in Food and Diet and the Toxicological Implications. Food Additives and Contaminants 7(6):717-768
- Wallin B, Rosengren B, Shertzer HG, Camejo G (1993) Lipoprotein oxidation and measurement of thiobarbituric acid reacting substances formation in a single

microtiter plate: its use for evaluation of antioxidants. Anal Biochem 208(1):10-5 doi:10.1006/abio.1993.1002

- Wang CY, Guttridge DC, Mayo MW, Baldwin AS (1999) NF-kappa B induces expression of the Bcl-2 homologue A1/Bfl-1 to preferentially suppress chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. Molecular and Cellular Biology 19(9):5923-5929
- Watanabe N, Niitsu Y, Sone H, et al. (1986) Therapeutic Effect of Endogenous Tumor-Necrosis-Factor on Ascites Meth-a Sarcoma. Journal of Immunopharmacology 8(2):271-283
- Weidemann Y, Schulze M, Schulze J, Siegers CP (2004) Influence of phytoestrogens on aromatase activity and estrogen-dependent cell growth. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 197(3):232-232
- Weng JR, Tsai CH, Omar HA, et al. (2009) OSU-A9, a potent indole-3-carbinol derivative, suppresses breast tumor growth by targeting the Akt-NF-kappa B pathway and stress response signaling. Carcinogenesis 30(10):1702-1709 doi:DOI 10.1093/carcin/bgp202
- Wiegand H, Boesch-Saadatmandi C, Regos I, Treutter D, Wolffram S, Rimbach G
 (2009) Effects of Quercetin and Catechin on Hepatic Glutathione-S
 Transferase (GST), NAD(P)H Quinone Oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1), and
 Antioxidant Enzyme Activity Levels in Rats. Nutrition and Cancer-an
 International Journal 61(5):717-722 doi:Doi 10.1080/01635580902825621
- Willcox JK, Ash SL, Catignani GL (2004) Antioxidants and prevention of chronic disease. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 44(4):275-295 doi:Doi 10.1080/1008690490468489
- Williams GM, Jeffrey AM (2000) Oxidative DNA damage: Endogenous and chemically induced. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 32(3):283-292 doi:DOI 10.1006/rtph.2000.1433
- Williamson G, Plumb GW, Uda Y, Price KR, Rhodes MJC (1996) Dietary quercetin glycosides: Antioxidant activity and induction of the anticarcinogenic phase

II marker enzyme quinone reductase in Hepalclc7 cells. Carcinogenesis 17(11):2385-2387 doi:DOI 10.1093/carcin/17.11.2385

- Wilson KP, Black JAF, Thomson JA, et al. (1994) Structure and Mechanism of Interleukin-1-Beta Converting-Enzyme. Nature 370(6487):270-275 doi:Doi 10.1038/370270a0
- Wolf BB, Goldstein JC, Stennicke HR, et al. (1999) Calpain functions in a caspaseindependent manner to promote apoptosis-like events during platelet activation. Blood 94(5):1683-1692
- Wright ME, Mayne ST, Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, et al. (2004) Development of a comprehensive dietary antioxidant index and application to lung cancer risk in a cohort of male smokers. American Journal of Epidemiology 160(1):68-76 doi:Doi 10.1093/Aje/Kwh173
- Wyllie AH, Kerr JF, Currie AR (1980) Cell death: the significance of apoptosis. Int Rev Cytol 68:251-306
- Xiao J, Cao H, Wang Y, Zhao J, Wei X (2009) Glycosylation of dietary flavonoids decreases the affinities for plasma protein. J Agric Food Chem 57(15):6642-8 doi:10.1021/jf901456u
- Xiao JB, Kai GY (2012) A Review of Dietary Polyphenol-Plasma Protein Interactions: Characterization, Influence on the Bioactivity, and Structure-Affinity Relationship. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 52(1-3):85-101 doi:Doi 10.1080/10408398.2010.499017
- Xu CJ, Shen GX, Chen C, Gelinas C, Kong ANT (2005) Suppression of NF-kappa B and NF-kappa B-regulated gene expression by sulforaphane and PEITC through I kappa B alpha, IKK pathway in human prostate cancer PC-3 cells. Oncogene 24(28):4486-4495 doi:DOI 10.1038/sj.onc.1208656
- Yagi K (1987) Lipid Peroxides and Human-Diseases. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 45(2-4):337-351 doi:Doi 10.1016/0009-3084(87)90071-5
- Yanaka A, Zhang S, Tauchi M, et al. (2005) Role of the nrf-2 gene in protection and repair of gastric mucosa against oxidative stress. Inflammopharmacology 13(1-3):83-90 doi:10.1163/156856005774423863
- Yeh CT, Yen GC (2005) Effect of sulforaphane on metallothionein expression and induction of apoptosis in human hepatoma HepG2 cells. Carcinogenesis 26(12):2138-48 doi:10.1093/carcin/bgi185
- Yu BP (1994) Cellular Defenses against Damage from Reactive Oxygen Species. Physiological Reviews 74(1):139-162
- Zafra-Stone S, Yasmin T, Bagchi M, Chatterjee A, Vinson JA, Bagchi D (2007) Berry anthocyanins as novel antioxidants in human health and disease prevention.
 Molecular Nutrition & Food Research 51(6):675-683 doi:DOI 10.1002/mnfr.200700002
- Zhang Y, Zhou JQ, Baldwin J, et al. (2009a) Ionizing radiation-induced bystander mutagenesis and adaptation: Quantitative and temporal aspects. Mutation Research-Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 671(1-2):20-25 doi:DOI 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2009.08.006
- Zhang ZL, Wang Y, Zhou W, Hao YJ (2009b) Addison's disease secondary to connective tissue diseases: a report of six cases. Rheumatology International 29(6):647-650 doi:DOI 10.1007/s00296-008-0749-7
- Zhong Z, Froh M, Connor HD, et al. (2002) Prevention of hepatic ischemiareperfusion injury by green tea extract. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 283(4):G957-G964 doi:DOI 10.1152/ajpgi.00216.2001
- Zhu MX, Gong YF, Yang ZH, Ge GX, Han C, Chen JS (1999) Green tea and its major components ameliorate immune dysfunction in mice bearing Lewis lung carcinoma and treated with the carcinogen NNK. Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal 35(1):64-72
- Zimmet P, Alberti KGMM, Shaw J (2001) Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature 414(6865):782-787 doi:Doi 10.1038/414782a

199

Zou H, Henzel WJ, Liu XS, Lutschg A, Wang XD (1997) Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to C-elegans CED-4, participates in cytochrome c-dependent activation of caspase-3. Cell 90(3):405-413 doi:Doi 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80501-2